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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate governance 

within the Group and to putting in place effective self-regulatory corporate practices to protect the interests of its 

shareholders and enhance long-term shareholder value. The Company adopts practices based on the Code of Corporate 

Governance 2012 (the “Code”) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore on 2 May 2012. The Board is pleased to 

report compliance of the Company with the Code except where otherwise stated and are regularly reviewed to ensure 

transparency and accountability.

Principle 1:  The Board’s Conduct of Its Affairs

Apart from its statutory duties and responsibilities, the Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of 

the Group. The Board reviews and advises on the Group’s strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major funding and 

investment proposals, principal risks of the Group’s businesses and ensures the implementation of appropriate systems to 

manage these risks; reviews the fi nancial performances of the Group; evaluates the performances and compensation of 

senior management personnel. 

The Board is generally responsible for the approval of the quarterly, half-yearly and yearly results announcement, annual 

report and accounts, major investments and fundings, material acquisitions and disposals of assets and interested person 

transactions of a material nature.

To facilitate effective management, certain functions have been delegated by the Board to the following Committees:

 Audit Committee

 Nominating Committee

 Remuneration Committee

These committees operate under clearly defi ned terms of references and operating procedures. The Chairman of the 

respective Committees reports the outcome of the Committee meetings to the Board.

The Board meets regularly to oversee the business and affairs of the Group or either conducts Board Meeting by way of 

tele-conference and video conference which the Company’s Articles of Association allow. To assist the Board in fulfi lling its 

responsibilities, the Board will be provided with management reports containing complete, adequate and timely information 

and papers containing relevant background or explanatory information required to support the decision making process.

The number of meetings held and the attendance report of the Board and Board Committees during the fi nancial year 

ended 30 September 2014 are as follows:

Board Meeting Audit Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meetings held 4 5 1 1
No. of meetings attended

Lee Wan Tang 2 – – –

Sean Lee Yun Feng 4 – – –

Liely Lee 4 – – –

Lai Qin Zhi 3 4 1 1

Lim Han Boon 4 5 1 1

Sim Swee Yam Peter 4 5 1 1

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin 4 5 1 1

Principle 2: Composition of Board and Guidance

The Board comprises seven directors, three of whom are independent directors and one non-executive director. The 

independent directors make up more than one-third of the Board thus providing an independent element on the Board 

capable of exercising independent judgment on corporate affairs of the Group and provide management with a diverse 

and objective perspective to enable balanced and well-considered decisions to be made. The concept of independence 

adopted by the Board is in accordance with the defi nition of an independent director in the Code. 
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As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors comprises the following members:

Lee Wan Tang Executive Chairman

Sean Lee Yun Feng Chief Executive Offi cer

Liely Lee Executive Director

Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director

Lim Han Boon Lead Independent Director

Sim Swee Yam Peter Independent Director

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director

The Board consists of high calibre members with a wealth of experience and knowledge in business. They contribute 

valuable direction and insight, drawing from their vast experience in matter relating to accounting, fi nance, legal, business 

and general corporate matters. The current Board composition represents a well balanced mix of expertise and experience 

among the directors.

The Board is aware of the recommendation of the Code that in the event of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief 

Executive Offi cer (CEO) are immediate family members, the independent directors should made up at least half of the 

Board. Nonetheless, the Board is of the view that its current size, consisting of seven directors is appropriate, taking into 

account the nature and scope of the operations and current fi nancial positions of the Group. The Company had also 

appointed a lead independent director to ensure no one individual represent domination in the Board’s decision making.

Members of the Board are constantly in touch with the Management to provide advice and guidance on strategic issues 

and on matters for which their expertise will be constructive to the Group.

Principle 3:  Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

The Chairman of the Company, Mr Lee Wan Tang is an executive director. Besides giving guidance on the corporate 

direction of the Group, the role of the Executive Chairman includes the scheduling of Board meetings and ensuring 

accurate, adequate and timely fl ow of information between the Board, management and shareholders of the Company. Mr 

Sean Lee Yun Feng, the CEO of the Group since July 2006, is the son of Mr Lee Wan Tang, sets the business strategies 

and directions for the Group and manages the business operations of the Group. He is supported by Ms Liely Lee, an 

executive director, and other management staff. 

In order to ensure good corporate governance practice and that there is no concentration of power and authority vested 

in one individual, the Company has appointed Mr Lim Han Boon as the Lead Independent Director. Mr Lim Han Boon acts 

as principal liaison between the independent directors and Chairman on sensitive issues. Lead by the Lead Independent 

Director, the independent directors meet periodically without the presence of the other directors and management. The 

Lead Independent Director would be available to shareholders where they have concerns when contact through the normal 

channel of the Chairman, CEO or the Chief Financial Offi cer (or equivalent) has failed to resolve the issues or for which such 

contact is inappropriate.

Accordingly, the Board believes that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure an appropriate balance of power and 

authority within the spirit of good corporate governance.

Nominating Committee
Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) has been set up since 13 September 2007 comprising the following members. Other 

than Lai Qin Zhi, all the members of the NC are independent of management, not associated with a substantial shareholder 

and free from any business or other relationship, which may interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment:

Sim Swee Yam Peter Chairman, Independent Director

Lim Han Boon Lead Independent Director

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director

Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director
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The principle functions of the NC include:

 Recommending to the Board all Board appointments and assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and 

the contribution of each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

 Evaluating the independence of the directors.

 Reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and composition of the Board.

Board renewal is an ongoing process to ensure good governance and to maintain relevance to the changing needs of the 

Group. In other words, no director stays in offi ce for more than three years without being re-elected by shareholders.

The Board’s performance is a function of the experience and expertise that each of the directors bring with them. Factors 

taken into consideration for the assessment of each director include attendance at meetings, adequacy of preparation, 

participation, industry knowledge and functional expertise.  Factors for assessment of the Board as a whole include the 

board structure, conduct of meetings, corporate strategy, risk management and internal controls, business and fi nancial 

performance, compensation, fi nancial reporting and communication with shareholders.

Each director performs a self-assessment and the results of the assessments will be used by the NC to discuss 

improvements to the Board and to provide feedback to the individual directors. 

The NC has recommended Ms Lai Qin Zhi and Mr Sim Swee Yam Peter, who are retiring at the forthcoming Annual General 

Meeting, to be re-elected. Both directors are retiring under Article 103 of the Company’s Articles of Association and they 

had offered themselves for re-election. The Board has accepted the recommendations of the NC.

The dates of initial appointment and last re-election of each Director are set out below:

Directors Appointment
Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of Last 
Re-election

Lee Wan Tang Executive Chairman     13 Sep 2007    24 Jan 2013

Sean Lee Yun Feng Chief Executive Offi cer     13 Sep 2007    30 Jan 2012

Liely Lee Executive Director     13 Sep 2007    27 Jan 2014

Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director     13 Sep 2007    21 Jan 2011

Lim Han Boon Lead Independent Director     13 Sep 2007    27 Jan 2014

Sim Swee Yam Peter Independent Director     13 Sep 2007    30 Jan 2012

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director      3 July 2009    24 Jan 2013

The key information regarding Directors is set out on page 19 to 20 of the Annual Report.

The NC has reviewed the contribution by each Director taking into account their listed company board representations 

and other principal commitments, The NC and the Board are of the view that, setting a maximum number of listed 

company board representations a Director may hold is not meaningful, as long as Directors are able to devote suffi cient 

time and attention to the affairs of the Company. As such, the Board does not propose to set the maximum number of 

listed company board representations which Directors may hold until such need arises. Notwithstanding the number of 

listed company board representations and other principal commitments which some of the Directors are holding, the NC 

considered the conduct of meeting, the decision-making process, attendance and participation of each board member to 

be satisfactory.

Principle 6: Access to Information

Management provides Board members with quarterly management accounts and other fi nancial statements to enable 

the Board to fulfi ll its responsibilities. Board members have full and independent access to senior management and the 

company secretary at all times. In addition, the Board or an individual Board member may seek independent professional 

advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.

The Company Secretary attends Board meetings and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are being followed 

and the Company complies with the requirements of the Companies Act Cap. 50, and other SGX-ST rules and regulations, 

which are applicable to the Company.
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Remuneration Committee
Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises the following members. Other than Lai Qin Zhi, all the members are 

independent non-executive directors:

Lim Han Boon Chairman, Lead Independent Director

Sim Swee Yam Peter Independent Director

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director

Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director

The principle functions of the RC include:

 Recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and the key executives of the Group, 

covering all aspects of remuneration such as directors’ fee, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefi t-in-

kind;

 Proposing to the Board, appropriate and meaningful measures for assessing the executive directors’ performance;

 Determining the specifi c remuneration package for each executive director;

 To ensure that the remuneration policies and systems of the Group supports the Group’s long term objectives and 

strategies; 

 Considering and recommending to the Board the disclosure of details of the Company’s remuneration policy, level 

and mix of remuneration and procedure for setting remuneration and details of the specifi c remuneration packages 

of the directors and key executives of the Group to those required by law or by the Code; and

 To administer the Company’s Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“MPM ESOS”).

In performing its function, the Committee endeavours to establish an appropriate remuneration policy to attract, retain and 

motivate senior executives and executive directors, while at the same time ensure that the reward in each case takes into 

account individual performance as well as the Group’s performance. 

In carrying out the above, the RC may obtain independent external legal and other professional advice as it deem 

necessary. The expense of such advice will be borne by the Company.

The non-executive directors receive directors’ fees in accordance with their level of contributions, taking into account 

factors such as responsibilities, effort and time spent for serving on the Board and Board Committees. The director’s 

fees are recommended by the Board for approval at the AGM.  For the year under review, the RC has recommended 

directors’ fees of $240,000 which the Board would table at the forthcoming AGM for shareholders’ approval. The Company 

encourages independent directors to invest in the Company and has taken steps in the past to ensure that this happened. 

The shareholdings of the individual directors of the Company are set out on the page 30 of the Annual Report. 

The details of the Company’s Employees’ Share Option Scheme (Marco Polo Marine Ltd Share Option Scheme 2012) are 

set out on pages 31 and 32 of this Annual Report.

The Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Offi cer, Mr Lee Wan Tang and Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng respectively 

have entered into separate services agreements with the Company for an initial period of three years with effect from 5 

November 2007 and subsequently automatically renewed annually, unless either party to the service agreement concerned 

gives notice of its intention to terminate in the manner set out in the said service agreement.

The Board discloses the remuneration in band for Directors and Key Executives instead of full detail disclosure as 

recommended by the Code. The Board believes that such disclosure presentation provides suffi cient overview of the 

remuneration of the Directors and Key Executives, considering the confi dentiality of remuneration matters. The Board is of 

the opinion that the information disclosed would be suffi cient to the shareholders for their understanding of the Company’s 

compensation policies as remuneration matters are commercially sensitive information and thus may be prejudice to the 

Group’s interest. 
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The number of directors of the Company with remuneration from the Company and its subsidiary companies is set out 

below:

Number of directors
Remuneration bands 2014 2013

Above $500,000 2 2

$250,000 to below $500,000 1 1

Below $250,000 4 4

Total 7 7

The following table shows a breakdown of the annual remuneration (in percentage terms) paid or payable to the directors 

and top fi ve key executives of the Group for the fi nancial years ended 30 September 2014.

Directors’ Fee Fixed^ Variable^ Total^
% % % %

Directors
$500,000 to below $750,000

Lee Wang Tang – 63 37 100

Sean Lee Yun Feng – 53 47 100

$250,000 to below $500,000

Liely Lee – 58 42 100

Below $250,000

Lai Qin Zhi 100 – – 100

Lim Han Boon 100 – – 100

Sim Swee Yam Peter 100 – – 100

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin 100 – – 100

Key Executives
$500,000 to below $750,000

Cheam Yeow Cheng – 60 40 100

$250,000 to below $500,000

Loo Hin Loy – 75 25 100

Below $250,000

Simon Karuntu – 84 16 100

Hsu Chong Pin – 77 23 100

Ho Kian Teck – 77 23 100

^ Inclusive of Employer’s Central Provident Fund Contributions

The Group adopts a remuneration policy for staff comprising a fi xed component and a variable component. The fi xed 

component is in the form of a base salary and allowances. The variable component is in the form of a variable bonus that is 

linked to the Group and each individual’s performance.
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Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a director or the chief executive 
offi cer

For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014, saved as disclosed in the following table which show the breakdown of 

the remuneration (in percentage terms) in $50,000 band, the Company and its subsidiary companies do not have any other 

employee who is an immediate family member of a director or the chief executive offi cer and whose remuneration exceeds 

$50,000.

“Immediate family member” means the spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister and parent.

Relationship with Executive Chairman Fixed^ Variable^ Total^
% % %

Name of employee
$100,000 to below $150,000

Loa Siong Bun Brother-in-law 77% 23% 100

Welly  Handoko Brother 76% 24% 100

Below $50,000

Irryanto Brother-in-law 100% – 100

^ Inclusive of Employer’s Central Provident Fund Contributions

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board keeps the shareholders updated on the business of the Group through releases of the Group’s results, 

publication of the Company’s Annual Report and timely release of relevant information through the SGXNET and our 

corporate website.

In line with the requirements of SGX-ST, negative assurance confi rmations on interim fi nancial results were issued by the 

Board confi rming that to the best of its knowledge, nothing had come to the attention of the Board which may render the 

Company’s quarterly results to be false or misleading in any material aspect.

All shareholders of the Company will receive the Annual Report and the notice of Annual General Meeting. The notice is 

also advertised in a local newspaper. The Company encourages shareholders’ participation at AGMs, and all shareholders 

are given the opportunity to voice their views and to direct queries regarding the Group to the directors, including the 

chairperson of each of the Board Committees. The external auditors are also present to assist the directors in addressing 

any relevant queries from the shareholders.

Management currently provides all members of the Board with appropriately detailed management accounts of the Group’s 

performance, position and prospects on quarterly basis and such management accounts are provided to Executive 

Directors on a monthly basis.

Principle 11: Risk Management and Internal Controls
Principle 12: Audit Committee
Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises the following members. Other than Lai Qin Zhi, all the members are independent 

directors:

Lim Han Boon Chairman, Lead Independent Director

Sim Swee Yam Peter Independent Director

Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin Independent Director

Lai Qin Zhi Non-Executive Director
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The AC reviews with the external auditors, Mazars LLP, the fi ndings on the audit of the fi nancial statement. It also reviews 

the internal auditor report as well as the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, including fi nancial, operational and 

compliance controls and risk management.  It undertakes the following principal functions:

 Review with the internal and external auditors the audit plan, their evaluation of the system of internal controls, their 

audit report, their management letter and our management’s response;

 Review the fi nancial statements before submission to our Board for approval, focusing, in particular, on changes 

in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, signifi cant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going 

concern statement, compliance with accounting standards as well as compliance with any stock exchange and 

statutory/regulatory requirements;

 Review the internal control procedures and the assistance given by our management to the auditors, and discuss 

problems and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and fi nal audits, and any matters which the auditors may 

wish to discuss (in the absence of our management where necessary);

 Review and discuss with the internal and external auditors any suspected fraud and irregularity, or suspected 

infringement of any relevant laws, rules and regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on our 

Group’s operating results or fi nancial position, and our management’s response;

 

 Consider the appointment and re-appointment of the internal and external auditors and matters relating to the 

resignation or dismissal of the external auditors;

• Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, including 

fi nancial, operational and compliance and information technology controls annually;

 Review transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 and Chapter 10 of the Listing Manual; and

 Review the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and the procedures to manage its foreign currency risks.

The AC shall also undertake:

 Such other reviews and projects as may be requested by our Board and report to our Board its fi ndings from time to 

time on matters arising and requiring the attention of our Audit Committee; and

 Such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Manual, and by such amendments 

made thereto from time to time.

To effectively discharge its responsibility, the AC has full access to, and the co-operation of, the management and has full 

discretion to invite any directors and executive offi cers to attend its meetings. Full resources are made available to the AC 

to enable it to discharge its function properly.

The Group recognizes the need for a robust and effective system of internal controls. Hence the Group has appointed PKF-

CAP Risk Consulting Pte. Ltd as its internal auditors to carry out the internal audit function. The internal auditors conduct 

independent reviews, assessment and follow-up procedures on the Group’s fi nancial, operational and compliance controls, 

and report the remediation status to our AC. Our AC shall assess the adequacy of the internal audit function and the scope 

of work of the internal auditors on an annual basis.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external 

auditors, and reviews performed by management, various Board Committees and the Board, the Board, after making 

reasonable enquiries and to the best of its knowledge and belief, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the 

internal controls of the Group were adequate to address the fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology 

risks as at the date of this Annual Report.

The Board recognized that the system of internal controls is designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of 

failure to achieve business objectives and that no system of internal controls can provide adequate assurance against the 

occurrence of errors, poor judgment in decision making, losses, frauds or other irregularities. It can only provide reasonable 

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement of loss or that the Group will not be adversely affected by any 

event that can be reasonably foreseen.
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The AC has adopted a Whistle Blowing Policy (the “policy”) for the Group, which provides a channel for employees and 

other parties to report in confi dence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about possible improprieties in fi nancial reporting 

or other matters. The Policy is to assist the AC in managing allegations of fraud or other misconduct; disciplinary and 

civil actions that are initiated following the completion of the investigations are appropriate and fair; and actions are taken 

to correct the weakness in the existing system of internal processes which allowed the perpetration of the fraud and/or 

misconduct and to prevent recurrence.

During the fi nancial year under review, the AC has met with the external auditors twice to review any area of audit concern. 

Ad-hoc AC meetings may be carried out from time to time, as circumstances required. 

The Board has received assurance from the Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer that:

(a) the fi nancial records have been properly maintained and the fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the 

Company’s operations and fi nances;  and

(b) the Company maintains an effective risk management and internal control system.

Principle 14: Shareholder Rights
Principle 15: Communication with Shareholders

The Board endeavours to maintain regular, timely and effective communication with shareholders and investors. Quarterly, 

half-yearly and full year results, including disclosure of information on material matters required by the Listing Manual, will 

be promptly disseminated to shareholders through announcements made via theSGXNET followed by a news release, 

which will also be available on the Company’s website. Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a select group, the 

Company will ensure the same disclosures made publicly available to all others as promptly as possible. 

The Board welcomes the view of shareholders on matters affecting the Group, whether at shareholders’ meeting or on an 

ad-hoc basis. Shareholders are informed of meetings through notices published in the newspapers and reports or circulars 

sent to all shareholders.  

At general meetings, shareholders are well informed of the rules, including voting procedures that govern general meetings 

of shareholders as well as given the opportunity to pose any questions to the directors or management relating to the 

Group’s business or performances. Shareholders can vote in person or appoint not more than two proxies to attend and 

vote on their behalf at the general meeting of shareholders. There is no provision in the Company’s Articles that limits the 

number of proxies for nominee companies.

Principle 16: Conduct of Shareholder Meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company is a principal forum for dialogue and interaction with all shareholders. 

The Board encourages shareholders to attend the Company’s general meetings to ensure greater level of shareholder 

participation and to meet with the Board, so as to stay informed on the Group’s developments. Shareholders are invited at 

such meetings to put forth any questions they may have on the motions to be debated and decided upon.

Information on general meetings is disseminated through notices in the annual report or circulars sent to all shareholders. 

Notices of general meetings are also released via SGXNET and posted on the Company’s website.

The Directors, including the Chairman of the Board and each Board Committees are present to address shareholders’ 

questions at the annual general meeting. The external auditor is also present to assist the Directors to address 

shareholders’ queries, if necessary.

The Company Secretary prepares minutes of the general meetings, which incorporate substantial comments or queries 

from shareholders and responses from the Board and the management. These minutes would be made available to 

shareholders upon request.

The company maintains separate resolutions at the general meetings on each substantially separate issue. Each item of 

special business included in the notice of meetings will be accompanied by the relevant explanatory notes. This is to enable 

the shareholders to understand the nature and effect of the proposed resolutions.

Resolutions are put to vote by poll and the detailed results of the number of votes cast for and against each resolution and 

the respective percentages are announced for each resolution.
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Interested Person Transactions

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a timely 

manner to the AC and that the transactions are carried out on an arm’s length basis. There were no interested person 

transactions (of more than $100,000) entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries for the fi nancial year under 

review.

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any director or controlling 

shareholder subsisting as at the end of the fi nancial year under review or entered into since the end of the previous fi nancial 

year.

Securities Transactions

All directors and offi cers of the Company and the Group are not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares whilst in 

possession of unpublished price sensitive information. 

In the course of doing business for the Group and the Company or in discussions with customers, vendors, or partners, 

directors and offi cers of the Group and the Company may become aware of material non-public information about that 

organisation. Information is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider 

it important in making a decision to trade in the public securities of the Company. The discussion of this information is on 

a limited, “need to know” basis internally, and is not shared with anyone outside the Group or the Company. Directors and 

offi cers are not allowed to buy or sell the public securities of the affected organisations, including the Company, on the 

basis of such information, nor can this information be shared with others.

Dealing in the Company’s shares is also prohibited during the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of 

the Group’s results for each of the fi rst three quarters of the fi nancial year and during the period commencing one month 

before the announcement of the Group’s annual results, and ending on the date of the relevant announcement.

Risk Management Policies and Processes

The Company does not have a Risk Management Committee. The executive directors and senior management assumes 

the responsibilities of the risk management function. They regularly assess and review the Group’s business and operational 

environment in order to identify areas of signifi cant business and fi nancial risks, such as credit risks, foreign exchange risks, 

liquidity risks and interest rates risks, as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited fi nancial statements of Marco Polo Marine Ltd. 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 and the statement of 

fi nancial position of the Company as at 30 September 2014.

1. Directors

 The directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are as follows:

 Mr Lee Wan Tang

 Mdm Lai Qin Zhi

 Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng

 Ms Liely Lee

 Mr Lim Han Boon 

 Mr Sim Swee Yam Peter

 Mr Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin

2. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares 
and debentures

 Except as disclosed under “share options” below in this report, neither at the end of nor at any time during the 

fi nancial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the 

Company to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 

body corporate.

3. Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

 According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the 

Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), none of the directors holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year 

had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Direct interest Deemed interest
At

1 October
2013

At
30 September

2014

At
21 October

2014

At
1 October

2013

At
30 September

2014

At
21 October

2014

The Company
- Marco Polo Marine Ltd.
(No. of ordinary shares)

Lee Wan Tang 5,465,000 – – 197,346,374 203,311,374 203,311,374

Lim Han Boon 364,101 364,101 364,101 –     –     –

Sim Swee Yam Peter 150,000 150,000 150,000 –     –     –

Immediate and Ultimate Holding Company
- Nautical International Holdings Ltd
(No. of ordinary shares)

Lee Wan Tang 660,003 660,003 660,003 –     – –     

Lai Qin Zhi 158,401 158,401 158,401 –     – –     

Sean Lee Yun Feng 237,600 237,600 237,600 –     – –     

Liely Lee 132,001 132,001 132,001 –     – –     

 By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Lee Wan Tang, Lai Qin Zhi, Sean Lee Yun Feng and Liely Lee are deemed to have 

interests in the entire capital of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company at the beginning and at the end of 

the fi nancial year.



  | MARCO POLO MARINE LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2014

32

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014

4. Directors’ contractual benefi ts

 Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t by 

reason of a contract made by the Company, or a related corporation with the director or with a fi rm of which 

the director is a member, or with a Company in which the director has a substantial fi nancial interest except as 

disclosed in the fi nancial statements. Certain directors received remuneration from related corporations in their 

capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

5. Share options

 Marco Polo Marine Ltd Share Option Scheme 2012 

 At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 9 July 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption 

of three incentive schemes meant for the staff and certain directors of the Group. These three schemes are the 

Marco Polo Marine Ltd Restricted Share Scheme (“MPM RSS”), the Marco Polo Marine Ltd Performance Share 

Scheme (“MPM PSS”) and the Marco Polo Marine Ltd Employee Share Option Scheme (“MPM ESOS”). The MPM 

ESOS allows options to be granted to participants at a discount of up to 20% to the prevailing market share price of 

the Company. 

 The above schemes are administered by the remuneration committee of the Company authorised and appointed 

by the board of directors and are available to all employees and non-executive directors of the Group as well as Mr 

Sean Lee Yun Feng and Ms Liely Lee. 

 On 24 April 2013, 4,910,000 shares options were granted to eligible participants pursuant to the MPM ESOS as 

follows: 

Scheme under which
options were granted Date granted Exercise period

Exercise price 
(per option) 

$

Aggregate options 
outstanding 

as at 30.9.2014

MPM ESOS 24.04.2013 24.04.2014 to 23.04.2023 0.415 4,910,000

 The details of the options granted pursuant to the MPM ESOS are as follows:

Name

Options granted 
during the fi nancial 

year

Aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
scheme to end of 

fi nancial year 

Aggregate options 
outstanding as at end 

of fi nancial year

Directors of the Company 
Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng*^ – 350,000 350,000

Ms Liely Lee*^ – 350,000 350,000

Mr Lim Han Boon – 100,000 100,000

Mr Peter Sim Swee Yam – 50,000 50,000

Mr Kelvin Lee Kiam Hwee – 50,000 50,000

– 900,000 900,000

Employees
Mr Cheam Yeow Cheng* – 420,000 420,000

Mr Chan Kean Seng* – 320,000 320,000

Mr Chandra Mohan* – 320,000 320,000

Mr Hsu Chong Pin* – 320,000 320,000

Mr Ho Kian Teck* – 320,000 320,000

Other employees – 2,310,000 2,310,000

– 4,910,000 4,910,000

 * Directors and employees who are granted with 5.00% or more of the total options available under the MPM ESOS. 

 ^ Share options granted to the associates of the controlling shareholders of the Company. 
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5. Share options (Continued)

 Save as disclosed, no other director or employee of the Group has received 5.00% or more of the total options 

available under the MPM ESOS. 

 Save as disclosed, the Company has no other outstanding securities, which are capable of being converted into 

shares of the Company, nor has it awarded any shares pursuant to the MPM RSS or MPM PSS as at the date of 

this report. 

6. Audit committee

 The members of the audit committee at the end of the fi nancial year are as follows:

 Mr Lim Han Boon (Lead Independent Director)

 Mr Sim Swee Yam Peter (Independent Director)

 Mdm Lai Qin Zhi (Non-executive Director)

 Mr Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin (Independent Director)

 The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B (5) of the Act, the Listing Manual of 

the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Code of Corporate Governance.

 In performing those functions, the Audit Committee reviewed:

 – the scope and the results of internal audit procedures with the internal auditor;

 – the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and any recommendations on internal accounting 

controls arising from the statutory audit;

 – the assistance given by the Company’s management to the independent auditor;

 – the periodic results announcements prior to their submission to the Board for approval;

 – the statement of fi nancial position of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group 

for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 prior to their submission to the board of directors, as well as 

the independent auditors’ report on the statement of fi nancial position of the Company and the consolidated 

fi nancial statements of the Group; and

 – interested person transactions (as defi ned in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 

Securities Trading Limited).

 The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its 

functions. It has full authority and discretion to invite any director or executive offi cer to attend its meetings.

 The Audit Committee convened fi ve meetings during the year with attendance from majority of members and has 

also met with the internal and independent auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least 

once a year.

 The Audit Committee has recommended to the board of directors that the independent auditors, Mazars LLP, be 

nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee 

has conducted an annual review of non-audit services provided by the auditors to satisfy itself that the nature and 

extent of such services will not affect the independence and objectivity of the external auditors before confi rming 

their re-nomination. The Audit Committee has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.
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7. Auditors

 The auditors, Mazars LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

SEAN LEE YUN FENG LIELY LEE
Director Director

9 December 2014
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position of the Company are drawn up so as to 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 September 2014, and of 

the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group for the fi nancial year then ended; and 

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

SEAN LEE YUN FENG LIELY LEE
Director Director

9 December 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MARCO POLO MARINE LTD.

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Marco Polo Marine Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(the “Group”) which comprise the statements of fi nancial position of the Group and of the Company as at 30 September 

2014, and the statements of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group 

for the fi nancial year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set 

out on pages 37 to 105.

Mana gement’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 

devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 

are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and that transactions are properly authorised and that 

they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profi t and loss accounts and the statement of 

fi nancial position and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 

consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position of the Company 

are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 September 2014, and the results, 

changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group for the fi nancial year ended on that date.

Other Matter

The fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2013 were audited by 

another fi rm of auditors who expressed an unmodifi ed opinion on those fi nancial statements on 16 December 2013.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 

incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act.

MAZARS LLP
Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

9 December 2014
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

Group
2014 2013

Note $’000 $’000

Revenue 4 113,109 93,539

Cost of sales (78,834) (58,749)

Gross profi t 34,275 34,790

Other operating income 5 1,325 2,331

Administrative expenses (10,375) (8,744)

Other operating expenses (6,658) (4,442)

Profi t from operations 18,567 23,935

Finance costs 7 (6,095) (5,006)

Share of profi ts in an associate – 1,150

Share of profi ts in jointly controlled entities 1,213 2,333

Gain on equity interest – 5,890

Profi t before income tax 8 13,685 28,302

Income tax expenses 9 (3,327) (3,102)

Profi t for the fi nancial year 10,358 25,200

Other comprehensive income:
Item that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss
Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations 1,881 2,498

Total comprehensive income for the fi nancial year 12,239 27,698

Profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 10,146 22,339

Non-controlling interests 212 2,861

10,358 25,200

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 10,331 23,793

Non-controlling interests 1,908 3,905

12,239 27,698

Earnings per share (cents per share) 10

Basic 3.0 6.6

Diluted 3.0 6.6
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 September 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Group Company
Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to 
 equity holders of the Company
Share capital 11 59,239 59,239 59,239 59,239

Treasure shares 12 (104) –    –    –    

Capital reserve 13 634 634 –    –    

Employee share option reserve 85 28 –    –    

Foreign currency translation reserve 743 558 –    –    

Retained earnings 14 107,798 102,423 492 4,353

168,395 162,882 59,731 63,592

Non-controlling interests 52,126 50,324 –    –    

TOTAL EQUITY 220,521 213,206 59,731 63,592

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 343,334 291,502 –    –    

Investment in subsidiaries 16 –    –    4,320 4,320

Goodwill 19 5,250 5,250 –    –    

Interest in jointly controlled entities 20 34,714 28,135 6,450 3,965

Finance lease receivables 21 718 1,259 –    –    

384,016 326,146 10,770 8,285

Current assets
Inventories 22 14,786 11,081 –    –    

Trade receivables 23 15,467 16,826 –    –    

Gross amounts due from customers for

 construction contracts 24 23,419 8,564 –    –    

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 25 19,310 13,798 642 204

Finance lease receivables 21 541 654 –    –    

Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 26 –    –    94,326 54,008

Fixed deposits 27 1,286 2,264 –    –    

Cash and bank balances 27 24,486 7,628 5,789 1,410

99,295 60,815 100,757 55,622

TOTAL ASSETS 483,311 386,961 111,527 63,907
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 September 2014

(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Group Company
Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 27 786 1,897 –    –    

Trade payables 28 14,922 19,158 –    –    

Other payables and accruals 29 11,495 10,266 1,781 298

Gross amounts due to customers for

 construction contracts 24 3,718 –    –    –    

Borrowings – interest bearing 30 115,735 52,078 –    –    

Derivative fi nancial instruments 34 451 5 –    –    

Income tax payable 7,359 5,795 15 17

154,466 89,199 1,796 315

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings – interest bearing 30 107,388 83,646 50,000 –    

Deferred tax liabilities 35 936 910 –    –    

108,324 84,556 50,000 –    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 262,790 173,755 51,796 315

NET ASSETS 220,521 213,206 59,731 63,592
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total 
equity

Share 
capital

Treasure 
shares

Capital 
reserve

Employee 
share 
option 
reserve

Foreign 
currency

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 October 2013 59,239 – 634 28 558 102,423 162,882 50,324 213,206

Profi t for the fi nancial year – – – – – 10,146 10,146 212 10,358

Other comprehensive income,

 net of tax – – – – 185 – 185 1,696 1,881

Total comprehensive income for

 the fi nancial year – – – – 185 10,146 10,331 1,908 12,239

Grant of employee share option – – – 57 – – 57 – 57

Purchase of treasury shares – (104) – – – – (104) (106) (210)

Dividend paid (Note 36) – – – – – (4,771) (4,771) – (4,771)

Balance as at 

 30 September 2014 59,239 (104) 634 85 743 107,798 168,395 52,126 220,521

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total
equity

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Employee 
share 
option 
reserve

Foreign 
currency

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 October 2012 59,239 – – (896) 82,810 141,153 – 141,153

Profi t for the fi nancial year – – – – 22,339 22,339 2,861 25,200

Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – – 1,454 – 1,454 1,044 2,498

Total comprehensive income for the

 fi nancial year – – – 1,454 22,339 23,793 3,905 27,698

Non-controlling interests at acquisition

 date – – – – – – 21,869 21,869

Capital contribution by non-controlling

 interests – – – – – – 24,550 24,550

Dilution of interest – 634 – – – 634 – 634

Grant of employee share option – – 28 – – 28 – 28

Dividend paid (Note 36) – – – – (2,726) (2,726) – (2,726)

Balance as at 30 September 2013 59,239 634 28 558 102,423 162,882 50,324 213,206
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014

(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

2014 2013
Note $’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profi t before income tax 13,685 28,302

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 21,015 16,773

Allowance for impairment of trade receivable 1,254 1,148

Property, plant and equipment written-off – 67

Interest expense 6,095 5,006

Fair value adjustment of derivative fi nancial instruments 446 5

Interest income (140) (382)

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment-net 63 (317)

Share of profi ts in jointly controlled entities (1,213) (2,333)

Share of profi ts in an associate – (1,150)

Gain on equity interest – (5,890)

Share based payment expense 57 28

Unrealised exchange gain on loan – (561)

Foreign exchange difference (945) 97

Operating cash fl ows before working capital changes 40,317 40,793

Movements in working capital

Inventories 406 (7,803)

Trade and other receivables (5,407) 9,860

Due from customers for construction contracts (11,137) (7,705)

Trade and other payables (3,007) (16,227)

Cash generated from operations 21,172 18,918

Interest paid (18) (53)

Income tax paid (1,737) (3,325)

Net cash generated from operating activities 19,417 15,540

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (74,810) (43,909)

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment (Note A) 595 6,234

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 16 – 4,073

Advances to jointly controlled entities (2,486) –

Acquisition of investment in jointly controlled entities (2,489) –

Receipt of minimum lease payment 654 210

Net cash used in investing activities (78,536) (33,392)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these fi nancial statements.

2014 2013
Note $’000 $’000

Financing activities
Capital contributions by non-controlling interests – 24,550

Purchase of treasury shares (210) –

Proceeds from term loans 206,225 61,121

Repayment of term loans (118,720) (66,770)

Repayment of fi nance lease payables, net (396) (156)

Interest paid on fi nance lease payables (26) (15)

Interest paid on term loans (6,051) (4,896)

Dividend paid (4,771) (2,726)

(Placement)/Withdrawal of fi xed deposits and bank balances pledged with

 licensed bank (504) 1,370

Interest received 140 342

Net cash generated from fi nancing activities 75,687 12,820

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16,568 (5,032)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of fi nancial year 7,350 12,299

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (81) 83

Cash and cash equivalents at end of fi nancial year 27 23,837 7,350

Note A

During the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014, the Group disposed of property, plant and equipment for a total 

consideration of approximately $595,000 (2013: $8,317,000) of which $Nil (2013: $2,083,000) have arranged fi nance lease 

(Note 31). Cash receipts of $595,000 (2013: $6,234,000) were received arising from the sale of these property, plant and 

equipment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014

(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

 These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying fi nancial statements.

1. General information

 Marco Polo Marine Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore 

and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).  The address of the Company’s 

registered offi ce and principal place of business is 66 Kallang Pudding Road, #05-01 Hor Kew Business Centre, 

Singapore 349324.

 The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Nautical International Holdings Ltd, a company 

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and ultimately controlled by the executive chairman, Mr. Lee Wan Tang.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in 

Note 16 to the fi nancial statements.

 The fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 were authorised for issue in accordance 

with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 9 December 2014.

2. Signifi cant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position of the Company have been drawn up 

in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards (“FRS”) including related Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) and are prepared on the historical 

cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 The individual fi nancial statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated fi nancial statements 

of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position of the Company are presented in Singapore dollar (“$”) which 

is also the functional currency of the Company, and all values presented are rounded to the nearest thousand 

(“$’000”), unless otherwise indicated.

 The Group has adopted all the new and revised FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to its operations and effective 

for the current fi nancial year in the current fi nancial year. The adoption of these new/revised FRS and INT FRS does 

not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the 

current or prior years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

 FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet effective

 At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to the 

Group were issued but not yet effective.

Effective date 
(annual periods 
beginning on or 

after)

FRS 19 Amendment to FRS 19: Defi ned benefi t plans: employee contributions 1 July 2014

FRS 27 Separate fi nancial statements 1 January 2014

FRS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2014

FRS 32 Amendments to FRS 32 – Offsetting of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities 1 January 2014

FRS 36 Amendments to FRS 36: Recoverable amount disclosures for non-fi nancial assets 1 January 2014

FRS 39 Amendments to FRS 39: Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting 1 January 2014

FRS 110 Consolidated fi nancial statements 1 January 2014

FRS 110, 

  FRS 111, FRS 112, 

FRS 27 & FRS 28

Amendments to FRS 110, FRS 111, FRS 112, FRS 27 (2011) and FRS 28 (2011): 

Mandatory effective date

1 January 2014

FRS 110, FRS 111 

 & FRS 112

Amendments to FRS 110, FRS 111 and FRS 112: Transition guidance 1 January 2014

FRS 111 Joint arrangements 1 January 2014

FRS 110, FRS 112

 and FRS 27

Amendments to FRS 110, FRS 112 and FRS 27: Investment entities 1 January 2014

FRS 112 Disclosure of interests in other entities 1 January 2014

INT FRS 121 Levies 1 January 2014

Various Improvements to FRSs (January 2014) Various

Various Improvements to FRSs (February 2014) Various

 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards.

 The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS and INT FRS in future periods will not have a 

material impact on the fi nancial statements, and in particular, to the fi nancial position and fi nancial performance, of 

the Group and the Company in the period of their initial adoption except as disclosed below:

 FRS 112 Disclosure of interests in other entities

 FRS 112 is a new standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in entities, including joint 

arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off-balance sheet vehicles. Under FRS 112, the 

Group is required to disclose information to enable the users of its fi nancial statements to better evaluate the nature 

and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of such interests on its fi nancial statements. 

The adoption of FRS 112 will not have any impact to the fi nancial position and fi nancial performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014

(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

 The fi nancial statements of the Group comprise the fi nancial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purposes entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the 

fi nancial and operating policies, generally accompanied by a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.

 Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up to the effective date on 

which control ceases, as appropriate.

 Intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

 The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the fi nancial statements are prepared for 

the same reporting date as that of the Company. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 

changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 Non-controlling interests are identifi ed separately from the Group’s equity therein. On an acquisition-by-acquisition 

basis, non-controlling interests may be initially measured either at fair value or at their proportionate share of the 

fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling 

interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent 

changes in equity. Losses in the subsidiary are attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a defi cit balance.

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions. Any differences between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted to refl ect 

the changes in the relative interests in the subsidiary and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 

recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

 When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the profi t or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest 

and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-

controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary 

are accounted for (i.e. reclassifi ed to profi t or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner 

as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investments retained 

in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 

subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the 

cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity. 

 Investments in subsidiaries, joint controlled entities and associates are carried at cost less any impairment loss that 

has been recognised in profi t or loss.

2.3 Business combinations

 Business combinations from 1 October 2010

 The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is 

measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 

assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related 

costs are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred. 

 The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 

FRS 103 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal 

groups) that are classifi ed as held-for-sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at the lower of cost and fair value less costs to sell.

 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity 

are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or 

loss, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 

that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss, where such 

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

 Business combinations from 1 October 2010 (Continued)

 The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 

FRS 103 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

  deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefi t arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefi ts 

respectively;

  liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based 

payment awards are measured in accordance with FRS 102 Share-based Payment; and

  assets (or disposal groups) that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.  

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities 

are recognised, to refl ect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 

date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 

information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of 

one year.

 Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset at the acquisition date and is initially measured at cost, 

being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 

acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net acquisition-date 

fair value amounts of the identifi able assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

 If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets exceeds the 

sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of 

the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profi t or 

loss as a bargain purchase gain.

 Business combinations before 1 October 2010

 In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:

 Business combinations were accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly known as minority 

interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets.

 Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as step acquisitions. Adjustments to those fair values 

relating to previously held interests were treated as a revaluation and recognised in equity.

 When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree were 

not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that 

signifi cantly modifi ed the cash fl ows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

 Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic outfl ow 

was probable and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent measurements to the contingent consideration 

affected goodwill.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.4 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group and the 

revenue can be reliably measured regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 

the consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duty. The Group assesses 

its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting 

as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. The following specifi c recognition criteria must also be met before 

revenue is recognised:

 For charter hire income, voyage charter is recognised based on the loading date/discharging date; and time charter 

is recognised based on a time apportionment basis. 

 Revenue from ship repair is recognised when the services are rendered to and accepted by the customers.

 Revenue from ship building is recognised by reference to both contract costs incurred to date as a percentage of 

total estimated contract costs for each contract; and the survey of work performed at the reporting date. Stage of 

completion for tug and barges is determined by reference to contract costs incurred to date as a percentage of total 

estimated contract costs for each contract. Stage of completion for offshore vessels is determined by reference to 

the survey of work performed at the reporting date. When the outcome of contract cannot be estimated reliably, 

revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable.

 Interest income

 Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal amounts outstanding and 

the effective interest rates applicable.

 Rental income

 Rental income arising from commercial property sub-leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 

terms. The aggregate cost of incentives provided to lessees is recognised as a reduction of rental income over the 

lease term on a straight-line basis.

2.5 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 

cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Borrowing 

costs on general borrowings are capitalised by applying a capitalisation rate to construction or development 

expenditures that are fi nanced by general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 

specifi c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 

capitalisation.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.6 Employees’ benefi ts

 (i) Retirement benefi ts

  The Group participates in the national schemes as defi ned by the laws of the countries in which it has 

operations.

  Singapore

 

  The Company and its subsidiaries make contribution to the Central Provident Fund (CPF) Scheme in 

Singapore, a defi ned contribution pension scheme.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.6 Employees’ benefi ts (Continued)

 (i) Retirement benefi ts (Continued)

  Indonesia

  The subsidiaries, incorporated and operating in Indonesia, are required to provide certain retirement plan 

contribution to their employees under existing Indonesia regulations. Contributions are provided at rates 

stipulated by Indonesia regulations and are managed by government agencies, which are responsible for 

administering these amounts for the subsidiary’s employees.

  Obligations for contributions to defi ned contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in the 

period in which the related service is performed.

 (ii) Employee leave entitlement

  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 

for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to the statement of fi nancial 

position date.

 (iii) Share based payment

  Employees of the Group received remuneration in the form of share options as consideration for services 

rendered.

  Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value of the equity instruments (excluding the 

effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant 

date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 

based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that will eventually vest and adjusted 

for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions. At the end of each fi nancial year, the Group revises 

the estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original 

estimates, if any, is recognised over the remaining vesting period with a corresponding adjustment to the 

equity-settled employee benefi ts reserve.

  The transfer of the balance in the share option reserve to share capital or treasury shares upon exercise of 

the option and the transfer of the balance in the share option reserve to retained profi ts upon expiry of the 

option are not mandatory and may be kept as a separate reserve upon expiry or exercise of the option.

2.7 Income tax

 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the fi nancial year. Taxable profi t differs from profi t as reported 

profi t or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 

further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 

tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and 

subsidiaries operate by the end of the fi nancial year.

 Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the fi nancial 

statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profi t, and are accounted for 

using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 

deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be available against which 

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 

difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 

and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.7 Income tax (Continued)

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 

associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each fi nancial year and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or 

the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

end of the fi nancial year and based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group 

expects, at the end of the fi nancial year, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities except 

for the investment properties where investment properties measured at fair value are presented to be recovered 

entirely through sale. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profi t or loss, except when it relates to items charged or 

credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 

Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profi t or loss, except when they relate to items 

credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where they arise 

from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken 

into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the 

acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

2.8 Government grants

 Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 

received and all terms and conditions relating to the grants have been complied with. Where the grant relates to an 

asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the reporting and is amortised to profi t or loss over 

the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

2.9 Dividends

 Interim dividends are recorded in the fi nancial year in which they are declared payable.  Final dividends are recorded 

in the fi nancial year in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

2.10 Foreign currency transactions and translation

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the individual entities’ respective functional currencies at 

the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each fi nancial year, monetary items 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing as of the end of the fi nancial year. Non-

monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 

on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 

a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 

included in profi t or loss for the year. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried 

at fair value are included in profi t or loss for the year except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-

monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, 

any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.10 Foreign currency transactions and translation (Continued)

 Exchange differences relating to assets under construction for future productive use, are included in the cost of 

those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings.

 For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of 

the fi nancial year. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates 

for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuated signifi cantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at 

the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classifi ed as equity and transferred 

to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which 

the foreign operation is disposed of.

 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including 

monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other 

currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the foreign currency translation 

reserve.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

 

2.11 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant 

and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing 

the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management. Cost also includes borrowing costs (see the accounting policy for borrowing costs). The cost of an 

item of property, plant and equipment including subsequent expenditure is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is 

probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the Group and the cost of the item can 

be measured reliably. When signifi cant parts of property, plant and equipment is required to be replaced in intervals, 

the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specifi c lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, 

when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as 

a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfi ed.  All other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in 

profi t or loss when incurred.

 After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment loss.

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method to write-off the cost of the assets less 

estimated residual value over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and residual values have been 

stated as follows:

Useful lives
(Years)

Leasehold land 23

Freehold offi ce building 50

Offi ce equipment, furniture & fi ttings 3 – 5

Renovation 5

Vessels 15 – 20

Machinery and equipment 4 – 8

Leasehold improvements over the remaining life of leasehold land

Motor vehicles 4
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.11 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

 Vessels-in-construction comprises direct cost of construction and installation during the period of construction for 

vessels, borrowing costs for qualifying assets capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Vessels-

in-construction is transferred to vessels when it is completed and ready for its intended use. No depreciation is 

provided on vessels-in-construction until the vessels are completed and is ready for its intended use.

 Dry docking expenses, when incurred, will be deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period to the 

next dry docking date.

 Capital projects in progress comprising development and construction costs incurred during the period of 

construction for qualifying assets and borrowing costs for qualifying assets capitalised in accordance with the 

Group’s accounting policy. Capital projects in progress are transferred to the appropriate category of assets when 

it is completed and ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided on these assets until they are ready for 

their intended use.

 The residual value, estimated useful life and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at 

each reporting date to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected 

pattern of economic benefi ts from items of property, plant and equipment.  Fully depreciated assets are retained in 

the fi nancial statements until they are no longer in use.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefi ts 

are expected from its use or disposal.  The gain or loss on retirement or disposal is determined as the difference 

between any sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in the profi t or loss within 

“Other operating income (expenses)”.

2.12 Intangible assets

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the net fair value of the Group’s interest in the 

identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity carried at the date of 

acquisition. Goodwill is at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected 

to benefi t from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 

tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit (including the goodwill), 

the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 

the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment 

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

 The attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of gain or loss on disposal of the subsidiary or 

jointly controlled entity.

                

 Goodwill on associates is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part 

of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 

the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

2.13 Associates

 Associates are entities over which the Group exercises signifi cant infl uence, but not control, over the fi nancial and 

operating policy decision, generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above 

but not exceeding 50%.  Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated fi nancial statements using 

the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.13 Associates (Continued)

 Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost.  The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value 

of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on associates represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the 

associate over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifi able net assets of the associate and is included in the 

carrying amount of the investments.

 In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profi ts or losses 

are recognised in profi t or loss and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other 

comprehensive income. These post-acquisition movements and distributions received from the associates are 

adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associates equals or 

exceeds its interest in the associates, including any other unsecured non-current receivables, the Group does not 

recognise further losses, unless it has obligations or has made payments on behalf of the associates. 

 Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 

interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred.  The accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

 Investments in associates are derecognised when the Group loses signifi cant infl uence. Any retained interest in the 

entity is re-measured at its fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the retained investment at the 

date when signifi cant infl uence is lost and its fair value is recognised in profi t or loss.

 

 Gains and losses arising from partial disposals or dilutions in investments in associates in which signifi cant infl uence 

are retained are recognised in profi t or loss.

2.14 Joint ventures

 A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the two or more parties undertake an economic activity that 

is subject to joint control, where the strategic fi nancial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the 

unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Investment in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in the 

consolidated fi nancial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment loss, if any.

 When the Group sells assets to a joint venture, the Group recognises only the portion of gains or losses on the sale 

of assets that is attributable to the interest of the other venturers. The Group recognises the full amount of any loss 

when the sale provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss. 

When the Group purchases assets from a joint venture, it does not recognise its share of the profi ts of the joint 

ventures arising from the Group’s purchase of assets until it resells the assets to an independent party. However, a 

loss on the transaction is recognised immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable 

value of current assets or an impairment loss.

 Adjustments are made in the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements to eliminate the Group’s share of intragroup 

balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its jointly 

controlled entity. The fi nancial statements of the joint venture are prepared as of the same reporting date as the 

Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

 Upon loss of joint control, the Group measures any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the 

carrying amount of the former joint venture entity upon loss of joint venture control and the aggregate of the fair 

value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profi t or loss.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.15 Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes an 

estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and 

its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash infl ows that 

are largely dependent on those from other assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 

exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to 

their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money 

and the risks specifi c to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken 

into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identifi ed, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 

calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair value indicators.

 Impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss in those expense categories consistent with the function of 

the impaired asset, except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other 

comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the 

amount of any previous revaluation.

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the Group estimates the 

asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if 

there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset since the last 

impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 

amount. This increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 

had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the profi t and loss unless the 

asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

 Goodwill on acquisition

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the net fair value of the Group’s interest in the 

identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity carried at the date of 

acquisition. Goodwill is at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected 

to benefi t from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 

tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit {including the goodwill), 

the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 

the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment 

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

 The attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of gain or loss on disposal of the subsidiary or 

jointly controlled entity.

 On acquisition of an investment in an associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of investment over the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities of the associate or joint venture is 

recognised as goodwill, which is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share 

of net fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities of the associate or joint venture over the cost of investment, 

after reassessment , is recognised immediately in profi t or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.16 Financial instruments

 Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial instrument and allocating 

the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 

of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

fi nancial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the fi nancial instrument. 

Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those fi nancial 

instruments at fair value through profi t or loss.

 Financial assets

 All fi nancial assets are recognised on a trade date - the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the 

asset. They are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those fi nancial assets classifi ed as 

at fair value through profi t or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

 Financial assets are classifi ed into the following specifi ed categories: fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or 

loss and loans and receivables. The classifi cation depends on the nature and purpose for which these fi nancial 

assets were acquired and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

 Financial asset at fair value through profi t or loss (FVTPL) 

 A fi nancial asset is classifi ed as FVTPL if the fi nancial asset is either held for trading or is designated as such upon 

initial recognition.

 A fi nancial asset is classifi ed as held-for-trading if it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the 

short term; or if it is part of an identifi ed portfolio of fi nancial instruments with a recent actual pattern of short-term 

profi t-taking and which is managed by the Group; or if it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 

hedging instrument or a fi nancial guarantee contract.

 A fi nancial asset which is not classifi ed as held-for-trading may be designated as FVTPL upon initial recognition if the 

fi nancial asset is managed as part of a group of fi nancial instruments, with its performance being evaluated on a fair 

value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information 

about the grouping is provided internally on that basis.

 Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised in profi t or loss. The net gain or loss 

incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the fi nancial asset.

 Loans and receivables

 The Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, amounts due from customers for 

construction contracts, cash and bank balances and fi xed deposits.

 Such loans and receivables are non-derivatives with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. They are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is 

recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest 

would be immaterial.

 Impairment of fi nancial assets

 Financial assets, other than FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each fi nancial year. 

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 

after the initial recognition of the fi nancial asset, the estimated future cash fl ows of the investment have been 

impacted.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.16 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Impairment of fi nancial assets (Continued)

 For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest 

rate.

 The carrying amounts of all fi nancial assets are reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception of trade 

receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying 

amount of the allowance account are recognised in profi t or loss.

 Derecognition of fi nancial assets

 The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the asset expire, 

or it transfers the fi nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 

entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the fi nancial 

asset and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and 

an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of a transferred fi nancial asset, the Group continues to recognise the fi nancial asset and also recognises 

a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds receivables.

 Classifi cation as debt or equity

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by Group are classifi ed according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial liability and an equity instrument are as 

follows:

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all 

of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 When shares recognised as equity are reacquired, the amount of consideration paid is recognised directly in equity. 

Reacquired shares are classifi ed as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total equity. No gain or loss 

is recognised in profi t or loss on the purchase, sale issue or cancellation of treasury shares. 

 When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the share capital 

account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained earnings of the Company 

if the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company.

 When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to the employee share option scheme, the cost 

of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of 

any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised in the capital reserve of 

the Company.

 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are classifi ed as either fi nancial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss or other fi nancial 

liabilities.

 Financial liabilities are classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss if the fi nancial liability is either held for trading or 

it is designated as such upon initial recognition.



  | MARCO POLO MARINE LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2014

56

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.16 Financial instruments (Continued)

 Other fi nancial liabilities

 Trade and other payables 

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, where applicable, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised 

on an effective yield basis.

 Borrowings

 Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 

and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with 

the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

 Financial guarantee contracts

 The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for bank borrowings of its subsidiaries. These guarantees 

are fi nancial guarantee contracts as they require the Company to reimburse the banks if the subsidiaries fail to make 

principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms of their borrowings.

 Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised as a liability at their fair values, plus transaction costs directly 

attributable to the issuance of the guarantees in the Company’s balance sheet. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

fi nancial guarantee contracts are recognised as income in profi t or loss over the period of the guarantee. If 

it is probable that the liabilities will be higher than the amount initially recognised less amortisation, the liability is 

recorded at the higher amount with the difference charged to profi t or loss.

 Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

 The Group derecognises fi nancial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or they expire.

 Derivative fi nancial instruments

 The Group enters into derivative fi nancial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange 

rate risk, comprising foreign exchange forward contracts. 

 Derivatives are initially recognised at their fair values at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently re-measured to their fair values at the end of each fi nancial year. The method of recognising the 

resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, and if 

so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

 Fair value changes on derivatives that are not designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in 

profi t or loss when the changes arise. 

2.17 Inventories

 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Raw materials comprise purchase cost 

accounted for on a weighted average basis.

 Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value 

of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 

completion and estimated costs necessary to be incurred for selling and distribution.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.18 Construction contract work-in-progress

 When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs 

associated with the construction contract are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the 

stage of completion of the contract activity at the reporting date (the percentage of completion method).

 The outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably when: (i) total contract revenue can be measured 

reliably; (ii) it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the contract will fl ow to the entity; (iii) the 

costs to complete the contract and the stage of completion can be measured reliably; and (iv) the contract costs 

attributable to the contract can be clearly identifi ed and measured reliably so that actual contract costs incurred can 

be compared with prior estimates.

 When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably (principally during early stages of a contract), contract 

revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that is probable to be recoverable and contract 

costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. An expected loss on the construction 

contract should be recognised as an expense immediately when it is probable that total contract costs will exceed 

total contract revenue.

 Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and any variations in the contract 

work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and they can be 

measured reliably. A variation or a claim is recognised as contract revenue when is probable that the customer will 

approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is probable that the customer will 

accept the claim.

 The stage of completion of ship building is recognised by reference to the survey of work performed at the reporting 

date and the stage of completion of tug and barges is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred to date 

to the estimated total costs for the contract (as defi ned below under revenue recognition policy). Contract costs 

include costs that relate directly to the specifi c contract and costs that are attributable to contract activity in general 

and can be allocated to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a specifi c contract comprise: site labour costs 

(including site supervision); costs of materials used in construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract; 

costs of design, and technical assistance that is directly related to the contract. Contract costs incurred during the 

fi nancial year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when 

determining the stage of completion of a contract. Such costs are shown as construction contract work-in-progress 

on the balance sheet unless it is not probable that such contract costs are recoverable from the customers, in which 

case, such costs are recognised as an expense immediately.

 The aggregate of costs incurred and the profi t/loss recognised on each contract is compared against the progress 

billings up to the fi nancial year end. Where costs incurred and recognised profi t (less recognised losses) exceed 

progress billings, the balance is shown as amount due from customers for contract work. Where progress billings 

exceeds costs incurred and recognised profi t (less recognised losses), the excess is shown as amount due to 

customers for contract work.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, 

deposits with fi nancial institution and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts 

of cash and subjected to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an 

integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.20 Leases

 a) As lessee

  Finance leases

  Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classifi ed as operating 
leases.

  Assets held under fi nance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is recognised as a fi nance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between fi nance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profi t or loss, unless they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction of production of qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance 
with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy for borrowing cost). 

  Operating leases

  Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

  In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 
as a liability. The aggregate benefi t of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed.

 b) As lessor

  Finance leases

  Amounts due from lessees under fi nance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group’s 
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to refl ect a 
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

  Operating leases
 
  Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease 

unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which user benefi t derived from 
the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease 
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

2.21 Provisions

 A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted to refl ect the current best estimate.  If it is no longer probable that an outfl ow of economic resources 
will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.  Where the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that refl ects, where appropriate, the risks specifi c to 
the liability.  When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
fi nance cost.
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2. Signifi cant accounting policies (Continued)

2.22 Contingencies

 A contingent liability is:

 (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confi rmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group; or

 (b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

  (i) it is not probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be required to settle 

the obligation; or

  (ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with suffi cient reliability.

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confi rmed only by 

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

 Contingencies are not recognised on the statement of fi nancial position of the Group, except for contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair value can be reliably determined.

2.23 Segment reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the executive 

committee whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 

segments.

3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

 The Group made judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 

were not readily apparent from other sources in the application of the Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and 

judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 

to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from the estimates.

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

 The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 

defi nition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are 

discussed below.

 (a) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 

  At the end of the fi nancial year, an assessment is made on whether there is objective evidence that the 

Company’s investments in subsidiaries are impaired. At the reporting date, the net equity of all the 

subsidiaries is in positive position and hence the management perceived no impairment indication 

on investment in subsidiaries. The Company’s carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries as at 

30 September 2014 is approximately $4,320,000 (2013: $4,320,000). 

 (b) Useful lives and residual value of vessels

  The cost of vessels is depreciated using the straight-line basis to write-off the cost of the vessels less 

estimated residual value over their estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these 

vessels to be 15  to 20 years with an estimated residual value. These are common life expectancies 

applied in the shipping industry. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments 

could impact on the economic useful life of these vessels. Therefore future depreciation charges could be 

revised. The carrying amount of the vessels as at 30 September 2014 is approximately $237,098,000 (2013: 

$252,459,000).
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (Continued)

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

 (c) Income tax

  The Group is subject to income taxes in Singapore, Australia and Indonesia. Signifi cant judgement is required 

in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which 

the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises 

liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the fi nal 

tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 

impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

  The Group’s ship chartering operations were awarded the Approved International Shipping Enterprise (“AIS”) 

status by the Maritime and Port Authority of Singapore subject to certain terms and conditions, which will 

exempt qualifying shipping income of certain subsidiaries of the Group from tax with effect from 1 April 2010 

(Year of Assessment 2011). The tax computation of those subsidiaries has applied this tax exemption in the 

computation of the corporate income tax, as disclosed in Note 9.

 (d) Construction contracts

  The Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the survey of work performed and stage of 

completion of the contract activity at the reporting date, when the outcome of a construction contract can be 

estimated reliably. The stage of completion of ship building on tug and barges is measured by reference to 

contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total costs; and the stage of completion of ship building on 

offshore vessels is measured by reference to the survey of work performed as at reporting date. Signifi cant 

assumptions are required to derive the survey of work done and estimate the total contract costs and the 

recoverable variation works that will affect the stage of completion and the contract revenue respectively. 

In making these estimates, management relied on past experiences and the work specialists. The carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities arising from construction contracts at the reporting date are disclosed in 

Note 24 to the fi nancial statements.

 (e) Impairment of loan and receivables

  Management reviews its loans and receivables for objective evidence of impairment at least quarterly. 

Signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and 

default or signifi cant delay in payments are considered objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. In 

determining this, management makes judgement as to whether there is observable data indicating that there 

has been a signifi cant change in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been signifi cant 

changes with adverse effect in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the debtor 

operates in.

  Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgements as to whether an 

impairment loss should be recorded as an expense. In determining this, management uses estimates 

based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The methodology and 

assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash fl ows are reviewed regularly to 

reduce any differences between the estimated loss and actual loss experience. As at 30 September 2014, 

the total allowances for impairment loss was approximately $3,319,000 (2013: $2,050,000).
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (Continued)

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

 (f) Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

  Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is indication that the goodwill may be 

impaired. Property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are tested for 

impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired. An 

impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable 

amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amounts of 

the cash-generating units containing goodwill have been determined based on value in use. The value in use 

calculation is based on a discounted cash fl ow model. The cash fl ows are derived from the budget for the 

next fi ve years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or signifi cant 

future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The 

recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used and the projected revenue for the discounted 

cash fl ow model. The carrying amount of goodwill and further details of the key assumptions applied in the 

impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in Note 19 to the fi nancial statements.  

3.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

 The management is in the opinion that any instances of judgements (other than those arising from the estimates 

described above) are not expected to have signifi cant effect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

4. Revenue

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Ship chartering services 64,717 56,950

Shipbuilding and repair services 48,392 36,589

113,109 93,539

5. Other operating income

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 317

Interest income on bank balances and fi xed deposits 140 382

Rental income 100 99

Foreign exchange gain 221 715

Sundry income 864 818

1,325 2,331
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6. Personnel expenses

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 6,576 5,527

Contributions to defi ned contribution plan 404 293

Directors’ fee of the Company 240 218

Directors’ remuneration

- directors of the Company 2,049 1,802

- directors of the subsidiaries 243 451

Other staff costs 14 12

Share based payment expense 57 28

9,583 8,331

 Personnel expenses include the amounts shown as directors’ remuneration in Note 37 to the fi nancial statements.

 Employee share option scheme

 At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 9 July 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption 

of three incentive schemes meant for the staff and certain directors of the Group. These three schemes are the 

Marco Polo Marine Ltd Restricted Share Scheme (“MPM RSS”), the Marco Polo Marine Ltd Performance Share 

Scheme (“MPM PSS”) and the Marco Polo Marine Ltd Employee Share Option Scheme (“MPM ESOS”). The MPM 

ESOS allows options to be granted to participants at a discount of up to 20% to the prevailing market share price of 

the Company. 

 On 24 April 2013, 4,910,000 non-transferrable share options were granted to directors, key management personnel 

and employees under the MPM ESOS, which are capable of being exercised into the same equivalent number of 

shares of the Company. The options will be expired within 10 years from the date the ESOS were granted, on 23 

April 2023. 

 The exercise price of the options is $0.415 per share, determined at the average of the closing prices of the 

Company’s ordinary shares as quoted on the Singapore Exchange for fi ve market days immediately preceding 

the date of the grant. The vesting of the options is conditional on the directors, key management personnel and 

employees remain in service with the Group during the vesting period. 

 The options vest in various tranches over 4 years. 30% of the options granted shall be exercisable from the 1st 

anniversary of date of grant, 15% each of the options granted from 2nd and 3rd anniversary of date of grant and the 

fi nal 40% of the options shall be exercisable from 4th anniversary of date of grant onwards. 

 Movements in the number of option and their weighted average exercise price are as follows: 

2014 2013

No.

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
prices No.

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
prices

$ $

Outstanding at 1 October 4,910,000 0.415 – –

- granted – – 4,910,000 0.415

- exercised – – – –

- expired – – – –

Outstanding at 30 September 4,910,000 0.415 4,910,000 0.415

Exercisable at 30 September 1,473,000 0.415 – –
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6. Personnel expenses (Continued)

 There has been no modifi cation or cancellation of options granted during the fi nancial year. 

 Fair value of share options granted

 The fair value of the share options granted is estimated at the grant date using a binominal model – Hull-White 

Enhanced, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the share options were granted.  

 The following table lists the inputs and the options model: 

Share price at grant date $0.405

Expected volatility 42.843%

Risk-free interest rate (per annum) 0.4833%

Vesting period 1 to 4 years

Exit rate 5% to 52%

Exercise multiple 1.5

 The expected volatility refl ects the assumption that the historical volatility of the Company’s share price, which may 

not necessarily be the actual outcome. The employee exit rate is based on historical data and is not necessarily 

indicative of patterns that may occur. The exercise multiple refl ects the grantees’ early exercise behaviour, which 

assumes that early exercise happens when the stock price is a certain multiple of the exercise price. 

7. Finance costs

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Interest (income)/expenses on:

- term loans 4,444 4,896

- bills payables (17) 42

- bank overdraft 35 53

- fi nance lease obligations 26 15

- medium-term notes 1,607 –

6,095 5,006
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8. Profi t before income tax

 This is determined after charging / (crediting) the following:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 1,254 1,148

Bank charges 495 385

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 21,015 16,773

Directors’ fee of the Company 240 218

Remuneration paid to auditors of the Company

Audit fees 158 158

Non-audit fees – 32

Medium-term note expenses 346 –

Fair value loss on derivative fi nancial instruments 446 5

Foreign exchange gain – net (221) (715)

Legal and professional fee 502 326

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment-net 63 (317)

Operating lease expenses 482 295

Personnel expenses* 9,583 8,331

Property, plant and equipment written-off – 67

 * This includes the amount shown as directors’ remuneration. For details refer to Note 6.

9. Income tax expenses

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Current income tax

- current fi nancial year 4,135 3,085

- over provision in prior fi nancial years (834) (72)

Deferred income tax (Note 35)

- current fi nancial year 26 89

3,327 3,102
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9. Income tax expenses (Continued)

 Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Profi t before income tax 13,685 28,302

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 17% (2013: 17%) 2,326 4,811

Different tax rates in other countries 889 403

Tax exemption (484) (807)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,696 97

Income not subject to tax (523) (792)

Deferred tax assets not recognised 176 18

Over provision of current tax in respect of prior years (834) (72)

Share of profi t in an associate – (195)

Share of profi t in jointly controlled entities (206) (397)

Others 287 36

3,327 3,102

 The Group’s ship chartering operations were awarded the Approved International Shipping Enterprise (“AIS”) status 

by the Maritime and Port Authority of Singapore. Pursuant to the AIS status, certain subsidiaries of the Group will 

enjoy tax exemption with effect from 1 April 2010 (Year of Assessment 2011) on qualifying shipping income and gain 

on disposal of vessels, including incomes derived from foreign-fl agged ships which were taxed previously.

 A subsidiary in Indonesia has obtained status of national shipping company under Ministry of Finance Decree No: 

416/KMK.04/1996. The subsidiary is subject to a fi nal income tax rate of 1.2% (2013: 1.2%) of revenue. 

10. Earnings per share

 The calculations of earnings per share are based on the profi ts and numbers of shares shown below.

Basic Diluted
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to 

 the equity holder of the Company 10,146 22,339 10,146 22,339

 Weighted average number of shares

Number of shares
2014 2013

For basic earnings per share 340,750,000 340,750,000

For diluted earnings per share 340,750,000 340,750,000

 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profi t for the fi nancial year attributable to the equity holders of 

the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year.

 Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profi t for the fi nancial year from continuing operations, 

net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the fi nancial period plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the 

conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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10. Earnings per share (Continued)

 There is no dilutive effect arising from share options for current fi nancial year as the exercise price of the share 

options was higher than the Company’s average share price during the current fi nancial year.

11. Share capital

Group and Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Number of shares $’000 $’000

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of the end of fi nancial year 340,750,000 340,750,000 59,239 59,239

 The holders of ordinary shares of the Company are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 

Company. All ordinary shares of the Company carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary shares have 

no par value.

 During the fi nancial year, there were nil (2013: 4,910,000) shares options issued pursuant to the ESOS Scheme, 

which are capable of being exercised into the same equivalent number of shares of the Company save for the 

options issued under ESOS scheme.

12. Treasure shares

Group and Company
2014 2013

Number of 
shares $’000

Number of 
shares $’000

At beginning of the fi nancial year – – – –

Acquired during the fi nancial year 14,760,300 104 – –

At the end of the fi nancial year 14,760,300 104 – –

 One of the subsidiaries acquired 14,760,300 of its own shares through purchase on Indonesia Stock Exchange 

during the fi nancial year. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was US$166,000 (equivalent approximately to 

$210,000) and has been deducted from the subsidiary’s equity.

13. Capital reserve

 Capital reserve was arose from the changes of equity interest of the Group and non-controlling interests in a 

subsidiary in fi nancial year 2013. 

14. Retained earnings

Company
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

At beginning of the fi nancial year 4,353 6,821

Profi t for the fi nancial year 910 258

Dividends paid (Note 36) (4,771) (2,726)

At end of the fi nancial year 492 4,353
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15. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

 Property, plant and equipment with net carrying amount of approximately $228,415,000 (2013: $241,005,000) are 

pledged as security for term loans (Note 30).

 Machinery and equipment with net carrying amount of approximately $25,000 (2013: $375,000) were acquired 

under fi nance leases.

 Motor vehicles with net carrying amount of approximately $723,000 (2013: $192,000) were acquired under fi nance 

leases.

 The depreciation amounting to approximately $20,154,000 (2013: $15,975,000) and $861,000 (2013: $798,000) 

has been recognised in the cost of sales and other operating expenses respectively.

 The Group’s property, plant and equipment include borrowing costs arising from bank loans borrowed specifi cally for 

the purpose of the construction of the vessels. The borrowing costs capitalised as cost of vessels-in-construction 

during the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 amounted to approximately $876,000 (2013: $151,000). The 

average rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 5.75% (2013: 3.0%) 

per annum, which is the effective interest rate of the specifi c borrowings.

 During the fi nancial year, the Group made the following cash payments to purchase property, plant and equipment:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 75,100 43,937

Financed by fi nance lease agreements (290) (28)

Cash payments on purchase of property, plant and equipment 74,810 43,909

16.  Investment in subsidiaries

Company
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 4,320 4,320
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16. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of companies Principal activities

Place of 
incorporation/

Place of 
business

Effective interest
held by the Group
2014 2013

% %

Held by the Company

Marco Polo Shipping Co. Pte Ltd (1) Ship chartering Singapore 100 100

Marco Polo Shipyard Pte Ltd (formerly 

known as Bina Marine Pte. Ltd.) (1)

Provision of contract services 

and trading activities

Singapore 100 100

MP Marine Pte. Ltd. (1) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

MP Ventures Pte. Ltd. (1) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

Marco Polo Drilling Pte. Ltd. (1) (3) Investment holding Singapore 100 –

Held by subsidiaries:

PT. Marcopolo Shipyard (2) Shipbuilding and ship repair Indonesia 100 100

MP Shipping Pte. Ltd. (1) Ship chartering Singapore 100 100

Marcopolo Shipping (Hong Kong) 

Limited (4)

Investment holding Hong Kong 100 100

Marco Polo Offshore Pte Ltd (1) Ship chartering, leasing and 

management

Singapore 100 100

MP Offshore Pte Ltd (1) Ship chartering Singapore 100 100

Marco Polo Offshore (II) Pte Ltd (1) Ship chartering Singapore 100 100

Marco Polo Offshore (III) Pte Ltd (1) Ship chartering Singapore 100 100

Marco Polo Drilling (I) Pte Ltd (1) (3) Oil rig chartering Singapore 100 –

PT Marco Polo Indonesia (2) Management consultancy 

and marketing

Indonesia 100 100

PT Pelayaran Nasional Bina Buana 

Raya Tbk (“BBR”) (2) (5) (6)

Ship chartering Indonesia 49.8 49.6

BBR Shipping Pte Ltd (2) (6) Management consultancy 

and marketing

Singapore 49.8 49.6

 (1) Audited by Mazars LLP, Singapore.

 (2) Audited by Mazars LLP, Singapore for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (3) Incorporated during the fi nancial year.

 (4) Reviewed by Mazars LLP, Singapore for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (5) Audited by Hertanto, Sidik & Indra (Member of TIAG), a fi rm of Certifi ed Public Accountants in Indonesia for local statutory 

reporting.

 (6) At the reporting date, the Group’s actual interest in BBR is 49.6% and the actual interest differs from effective interest held 

by the Group due to the treasury shares held by a subsidiary of the Group (Note 12).
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16. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

 Acquisition of PT Pelayaran Nasional Bina Buana Raya Tbk (“BBR”)

 On 21 December 2012 (“Acquisition Date”), the Group obtained control of its 49%-owned associate, BBR by virtue 

of the lapse of veto (equal) voting right contained in the previous shareholder agreements. Such rights have been 

superseded by the new Articles of Association for a Public Company which came into effect for BBR on the even 

date. Even though the Group does not own more than majority of the voting rights as at the Acquisition Date and 

as at 30 September 2013, the Group has de facto control over BBR’s operations through majority of seats on the 

Board of Directors of BBR and being the single largest shareholder. 

 In connection with the obtaining of control over BBR on the Acquisition Date, the Group recorded a gain on equity 

interest of approximately $5,890,000 in profi t or loss by re-measuring its previously held interest in BBR to the fair 

value as at the acquisition date in the fi nancial year 2013. Goodwill arising from the acquisition amounted to United 

States dollars (“US$”)4,291,000, equivalent to $5,250,000 (Note 19). 

 Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as follows:

Group
2013
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 4,073

Trade and other receivables 12,123

Inventories 140

Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 161,197

Trade and other payables (22,982)

Income tax payable (412)

Borrowings (111,259)

Total identifi able net assets at fair value A 42,880

Fair value of previously held equity interest 26,261

Purchase consideration transferred (1) –

Non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the identifi able net assets 21,869

B 48,130

Goodwill (Note 19) B - A 5,250

Effect of the acquisition of BBR on cash fl ows

Cash and cash equivalents of BBR 4,073

Purchase consideration transferred (1) –

Net cash infl ow on acquisition 4,073

 (1) The Group obtained de facto control over BBR following removal of veto (equal) voting right, accordingly, no consideration 

was transferred for the acquisition. 

 The results of BBR’s operations have been included in the Group’s consolidated fi nancial statements under ship 

chartering services segment from 21 December 2012 onwards. The revenue and profi t for the fi nancial year of BBR 

included in the consolidated statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income for the fi nancial year 2013 

since the Acquisition Date amounting to approximately $33,825,000 and $5,349,000 respectively. Had BBR been 

consolidated from 1 October 2012, consolidated revenue and consolidated profi t for the fi nancial year 2013 of the 

Group would have been $105,066,000 and $26,941,000 respectively. 
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16. Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

 Post-acquisition changes in ownership interest in BBR without a loss of control

 Subsequent to the Acquisition Date, there were issuance of new shares by BBR resulting in the following changes in 

equity interest in BBR: 

 (i) BBR successfully concluded its initial public offering (“IPO”) with listing on the Indonesia Stock Exchange on 

9 January 2013. As a result of the IPO share issue of 600,000,000 ordinary shares, the equity interest of the 

Group diluted from 49.0% to 37.1%.

 (ii)  On 21 January 2013, BBR issued a total of 346,083,339 new ordinary shares to third parties as a result of 

the Conversion of Convertible Bonds  (nominal value of US$11,000,000) and Redeemable Exchangeable 

Preference Shares (nominal value of US$6,000,000) in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 

respective Subscription Agreements entered into in October 2011. Consequently, the equity interest of the 

Group diluted from 37.1% to 32.5%. 

 (iii)  On 26 February 2013, BBR further issued 952,121,739 new ordinary shares to the Group as a result of 

the Conversion of Convertible Bonds (nominal value of US$20,000,000) in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of the Subscription Agreement entered into in June 2011. 

 Throughout the changes of equity interest, the Group has maintained the de facto control as it remained as the 

single largest shareholder and continued to have majority of seats on the Board of Directors of BBR. Consequently, 

the above changes represent equity transactions between owners and gave rise to capital reserve amounting to 

$634,000 as at 30 September 2013. 

 Consequently, the equity interest of the Group in BBR increased from 32.5% to 49.6%. 

 On 29 September 2014, the Company announced that it has signed a binding Head of Agreement with Nam 

Cheong Limited (“Nam Cheong”), and together with its subsidiaries (the “NCL Group”) whereby Nam Cheong  has 

agreed to invest up to approximately US$30.7 million (equivalent $39.1 million) for a shareholding stake of up to 

30% on an enlarged basis in BBR. The investment will be undertaken via a proposed rights issue of new shares 

in BBR which are expected to be priced at IDR230 per share. The Group will announce its rights entitlements to 

subscribe for BBR shares in favour of Nam Cheong or its nominees, in order for the NCL Group to subscribe for the 

BBR shares to attain up to the 30% shareholding stake in BBR on an enlarged basis.

 Currently, the management of both parties are still undergoing discussion and the plan is pending approval from the 

shareholders.

17. Investment in an associate

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost – 15,558

Share of post-acquisition reserves – 4,813

Balance as at Acquisition Date – 20,371

Gain on equity interest – 5,890

Transfer to investment in subsidiaries – (26,261)

– –

 With effect from 21 December 2012, a former associated company became a subsidiary of the Group, a date when 

the Group gained a de facto control over BBR’s operations.
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18. Convertible bond / derivative on convertible bond

Convertible bond in an associate Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Convertible bond in an associate – 21,550

Add: 

Foreign exchange gain – 288

Transfer to investment in subsidiaries upon conversion to ordinary shares – (21,838)

Carrying amount of convertible bond in an associate – –

 The movement in the amortisation of fair value adjustment on convertible bond in an associate is as follows:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

At beginning of the fi nancial year – 589

Transfer to investment in subsidiaries – (589)

At end of the fi nancial year – –

 Derivative on convertible bond

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

At the beginning of the fi nancial year – 3,616

Transfer to investments in subsidiaries upon conversion to ordinary shares – (3,616)

At the end of the fi nancial year – –

 On 30 June 2012, the Group, through its subsidiary, Marco Polo Shipping Co. Pte Ltd (“Subsidiary”) subscribed 

for 20,000,000 1.5-year convertible bonds at US$1 each totalling US$20,000,000 (equivalent to $24,513,000) 

issued by an associate, PT Pelayaran Nasional Bina Buana Raya Tbk (“BBR”), by converting partially the outstanding 

amount of other receivables owing from BBR. The convertible bond will mature on 31 December 2013 subject to 

two extensions of 3 months each as provided for in the subscription agreement.  

 Under the terms of the subscription agreement, the convertible bonds are to be fully converted into new shares of 

BBR at a premium of 1.155 times upon the successful process of Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of BBR in Indonesia 

Stock Exchange, provided it takes place on or prior to the maturity date (i.e. 31 December 2013), or within the 

allowed extensions.  In addition, the shares converted will be issued at a 20% discount of the IPO issue price in the 

event that the IPO issue price represents a Price Earnings Ratio exceeding 9 times based on the consolidated net 

profi ts of BBR for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013.

 In the event that the IPO does not take place by the maturity date on 31 December 2013, and BBR has made the 

IPO submission by then, but the IPO and the conversion of the shares will not likely take place by 31 March 2014, 

BBR is entitled to request an extension to 31 March 2014; and subsequently and similarly to request a further 

extension to 30 June 2014, at an interest rate of 10% per annum, failing which the outstanding bond and the 

interest shall be redeemed immediately in cash and in US$.

 51% of the redemption amount of the convertible bond (i.e. US$10,200,000) is guaranteed by certain directors of 

the Company being their proportionate interest in BBR.
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18. Convertible bond / derivative on convertible bond (Continued)

 In accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the Group has assessed 

and classifi ed the equity conversion feature in the convertible loan as an embedded derivative as the economic 

characteristic and risks are not closely related to the bond. Accordingly, the Group has engaged an independent 

professional valuer to determine the fair value of the derivative, taking into consideration certain parameters such 

as the issuer’s probability and timing of listing and the expected return based on the issuer’s estimated credit 

rating. Based on this valuation, the total subscribed amount of the convertible bond of US$20,000,000 (equivalent 

to $24,513,000), were segregated into convertible bond (debt host) and derivative fi nancial instrument (equity 

conversion embedded derivative) of US$17,101,611 (equivalent to $20,961,000) and US$2,898,389 (equivalent to 

$3,552,000) respectively.

 The Group has re-measured the fair value of the derivative as at 30 September 2012 and recognised a fair value 

gain amounting to $64,000.

 The fair value adjustments arising from convertible bond in an associate will be amortised over the period from 

inception until maturity date at an effective interest rate of 11% per annum.

 On 27 September 2012, BBR has submitted the IPO registration to the Indonesia Capital Market and Financial 

Institutions Supervisory Agency (“Bapepam”), the key authority in Indonesia in charge of reviewing IPO registrations. 

 On 5 December 2012, BBR has obtained the pre-effective letter of BBR’s IPO registration statement from Bapepam 

which instructed BBR to publish its abridged prospectus and do the book building in relation with the BBR’s IPO.

 On 26 February 2013, following the successful IPO of BBR in January 2013, the Group has converted the 

20,000,000 1.5-year convertible bonds of US$1.00 each totalling US$20,000,000 issued by BBR into 952,121,739 

ordinary shares of BBR at IDR230 each based on a pre-determined formula agreed between the parties concerned. 

As a result of the IPO and conversion of all convertible instruments of BBR, the equity interest of the Group in BBR 

has increased from 49.0% as at 30 September 2012 to 49.6% as at 30 September 2013, as disclosed in Note 16. 

19. Goodwill

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year 5,250 –

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 16) – 5,250

Balance at end of fi nancial year 5,250 5,250

 The goodwill of US$4,291,000 or equivalent to $5,250,000 arising from the acquisition is attributable to the access 

granted to the Group into the fast growing Indonesia market under the Indonesian Cabotage Principle. 

 Impairment testing for goodwill

 Goodwill on acquisition is allocated to the Indonesia ship chartering business which is the cash-generating unit 

(“CGU”) included in the Group’s ship chartering service segment. 

 The carrying amount of the CGU was determined to be lower than its recoverable amount and hence no impairment 

loss is recognised during the fi nancial year. 
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19. Goodwill (Continued)

 Impairment testing for goodwill (Continued)

 The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on its value-in-use. Value-in-use was determined 

by discounting the future cash fl ows generated from the continuing use of the unit, based on fi nancial budgets 

approved by management covering a fi ve-year period. The key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation 

are as follows: 

 – A pre-tax discount rate of 9.5% (2013: 9.42%) was applied in determining the recoverable amount of the 

units. The discount rate was determined based on the weighted average cost of capital. 

 – Budgeted revenue is based on the current occupancy rate and chartering fee of the existing fl eet of vessels. 

 – A terminal value was estimated based on the average budgeted and projected cash fl ows at a 0% (2013: 

0%) growth rate and a pre-tax discount rate of 9.5% (2013: 9.42%). 

 The values assigned to the key assumption represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and 

are based on both external sources and internal resources. 

 The above estimates does not result in an impairment loss assuming a 1% (2013: 1%) increase in the discount rate, 

or a 5% (2013: 5%) decrease in budgeted revenue. 

20.  Interest in jointly controlled entities

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 1,446 1,446 1,090 1,090

Acquisition of investment 2,489 –    – –    

Share of post-acquisition profi ts 12,908 11,695 – –    

Share of translation reserves 970 611 – –    

17,813 13,752 1,090 1,090

Due from jointly controlled entities (1) 16,901 14,383 5,360 2,875

34,714 28,135 6,450 3,965

 The investment in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method. The investment is initially 

recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to include the Company’s share of post-acquisition distributable and non-

distributable reserves of the jointly controlled entities after eliminating unrealised profi t of the transactions between 

the Group and the jointly controlled entities to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities.
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20. Interest in jointly controlled entities (Continued)

 Details of the jointly controlled entities are as follows:

Name of companies Principal activities

Place of 
incorporation/

Place of business

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
held by the Group
2014 2013

% %

MPST Marine Pte. Ltd. (2) Ship chartering services Singapore 50 50

Rig Tenders Offshore Pte Ltd (3) Ship chartering services Singapore 30 30

MPMT Pte Ltd (2) Investment holding Singapore 50 50

Marco Polo Offshore (IV) Pte Ltd (3)(5) Ship chartering services Labuan, Malaysia 50 –

Held by jointly controlled entities

Alpine Marine Limited (4) Ship chartering services British Virgin Island 50 50

MPMT 1 Tankers Pte Ltd (2) Ship chartering services Singapore 50 50

 (1) These non-trade balances are unsecured, interest free and are not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months and are 

in substance, a part of the Group’s net investments in the jointly controlled entities. The timing of the future cash fl ows in 

relation to the loan cannot be estimated reliably. Consequently, it is not practicable to determine with suffi cient reliability the 

fair value of the loan.

 (2) Audited by Mazars LLP, Singapore.

 (3) Reviewed by Mazars LLP, Singapore for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (4) Not required to be audited in the country of incorporation. However, they were reviewed by Mazars LLP, Singapore for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (5) During the fi nancial year, Marco Polo Offshore (IV) Pte Ltd was formed by the Group and a subsidiary of Nam Cheong 

Limited as joint venture company. 

 The Group’s share of the jointly controlled entities’ results, assets, and liabilities are as follows:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 53,778 32,407

Current assets 6,041 6,341

Current liabilities (11,380) (8,707)

Non-current liabilities (30,626) (16,289)

Net assets 17,813 13,752

Results
Revenue 3,819 4,703

Expenses (2,440) (2,285)

Profi t before income tax 1,379 2,418

Income tax expenses (166) (85)

Profi t for the fi nancial year 1,213 2,333
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21. Finance lease receivables

Gross receivable 
due

Unearned 
interest

Net investment in 
fi nancial lease

$’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Within one year 555 (14) 541

More than one year but not later than fi ve years 785 (67) 718

1,340 (81) 1,259

Gross receivable 
due

Unearned 
interest

Net investment in 
fi nancial lease

$’000 $’000 $’000

2013
Within one year 783 (129) 654

More than one year but not later than fi ve years 1,352 (93) 1,259

2,135 (222) 1,913

 During fi nancial year 2013, the Group entered into a Bareboat Charter Agreement with a third party charterer to 

charter a vessel for a 3-year period. As part of the Bareboat Chater Agreement, the charterer irrevocably and 

unconditionally agreed to purchase the vessel at any time after the 12th month of the charter period. The charterer 

shall provide 3 months notice for the purchase of the vessel, if no notice is received by the Group before expiry date 

of the charter period, the charterer shall be deemed to have purchased the vessel on the expiry date of the charter 

at no consideration. 

 The Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the vessel to the charterer at 

the inception of the lease and the charter is classifi ed as fi nancial lease receivable. 

 Interest is payable at effective rate of 8.00% (2013: 8.00%) per annum. 

22. Inventories

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Raw materials 4,032 3,851

Work-in-progress vessels 5,825 6,423

Spare parts and consumables 4,929 807

14,786 11,081

 Raw materials mainly consist of steel plates and equipment which are used in the Group’s shipbuilding activities. 

 The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately 

$60,805,000 (2013: $20,948,000).
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23. Trade receivables

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Third parties 18,718 18,826

Amount due from jointly controlled entities 68 50

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (third parties) (3,319) (2,050)

15,467 16,826

 Trade receivables from jointly controlled entities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. At the end of 

the fi nancial year, trade receivable of a subsidiary is pledged as collateral to secure a loan amounted to $Nil (2013 : 

$3.3 million).

24.  Gross amounts due from/(to) customers for construction contracts

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profi ts to date 61,802 13,764

Less: Progress billings (42,101) (5,200)

19,701 8,564

Presented as:

Due from customers for construction contracts 23,419 8,564

Due to customers for construction contracts (3,718) –

19,701 8,564

25. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deposits paid for construction costs of vessels 13,147 6,115 – – 

Insurance claimed receivable 499 5,944 – –

Other deposits 257 186 – – 

Prepayments 1,558 874 – 26

Accrued revenue 2,191 63 – – 

Deferred revenue 1,022 272 610 –

Staff loans 106 44 – 178

Other receivables 530 300 32 –

19,310 13,798 642 204

 During the fi nancial year, the Company claimed a loss to the insurance company for damages to the vessels. The 

carrying amount of $499,000 (2013: $5,944,000), including other expenses, will be covered by insurance claim from 

a third party underwriter.
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 26.  Due from subsidiaries (non-trade)

 These balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and denominated in Singapore dollar.

27. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed deposits 1,286 2,264 – –

Cash and bank balances 24,486 7,628 5,789 1,410

Bank overdraft (786) (1,897) – –

24,986 7,995 5,789 1,410

Less: Pledged fi xed deposits and bank 

 balances (1,149) (645) – –

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in 

the statement of cash fl ows 23,837 7,350 5,789 1,410

 Fixed deposits and bank balances of $1,149,000 (2013: $645,000) are pledged for bank overdraft facilities with 

banks. The fi xed deposits will mature within 12 months from the reporting date. Interest rates range from 2.14% to 

7.25% (2013: 1.60% to 7.25%) per annum.

 Bank overdraft is denominated in Singapore dollars, bears effective interest rates at 4.25% (2013: 4.25%) per 

annum. The bank overdraft facilities are secured by fi xed deposits.

28. Trade payables

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Third parties 14,434 14,693 – –

Amount due to jointly controlled entities 272 268 – –

Amount due to related parties 37 284 – –

Bill payables (unsecured) 179 3,913 – –

14,922 19,158 – –

 Trade payables to third parties are interest-free and are generally settled within 30 to 90 days (2013:  30  to 90 

days). Trade payables to jointly controlled entities and related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 

demand. 

 Interest on bills payables was charged at the rate of 1.9% (2013: 0.75%) per annum.
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29. Other payables and accruals

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deposits received for chartering income 460 773 – –  

Accruals 8,109 7,462 340 298

Interest payable 1,441 – 1,441 –  

Deferred income 1,359 1,684 – –  

Owing to a director of a subsidiary – 157 – –  

Other payables 126 190 – –  

11,495 10,266 1,781 298

 Deferred income represents ship chartering revenue received in advance and is non-refundable.

30. Borrowings – interest bearing

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current liabilities
Financial lease obligations (Note 31) 89 83 – –  

Term loans (Note 32) 115,646 45,591 – –  

Convertible bond (Note 33) – 6,404 – –

115,735 52,078 – –  

Non-current liabilities
Financial lease obligations (Note 31) 238 60 – –  

Term loans (Note 32) 107,150 83,586 50,000 –  

107,388 83,646 50,000 –  

Total borrowings
Financial lease obligations (Note 31) 327 143 – –  

Term loans (Note 32) 222,796 129,177 – –  

Convertible bond (Note 33) – 6,404 – –

223,123 135,724 50,000 –  

31. Finance lease obligations

Group
Minimum lease 

payments Interest
Present value
of payments

$’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Within one year 102 (13) 89

More than one year but not later than fi ve years 261 (23) 238

363 (36) 327
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31. Finance lease obligations (Continued)

Group
Minimum lease 

payments Interest
Present value
of payments

$’000 $’000 $’000

2013
Within one year 89 (6) 83

More than one year but not later than fi ve years 65 (5) 60

154 (11) 143

 Interest is payable at effective rate of 3.3% to 7.0% (2013: 1.88% to 6.00%) per annum.

32. Term loans 

Bank loans Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Floating rate

#1 621 663 – –

#2 – 359 – –

#3 – 225 – –

#4 – 8,100 – –

#5 674 1,409 – –

#6 1,500 2,400 – –

#7 – 500 – –

#8 – 5,162 – –

#9 – 1,040 – –

#10 406 780 – –

#11 2,000 2,000 – –

#12 1,783 2,574 – –

#13 2,062 2,830 – –

#14 – 11,450 – –

#15 – 5,552 – –

#16 8,522 10,855 – –

#17 14,403 16,661 – –

#18 997 3,930 – –

#19 1,864 2,505 – –

#20 12,506 14,037 – –

#21 – 3,312 – –

#22 – 5,795 – –

#23 – 2,661 – –

#24 – 241 – –

#25 – 24,791 – –

#26 12,000 – – –

#27 24,738 – – –

#28 29,163 – – –

#29 16,300 – – –

#30 25,467 – – –

#31 15,610 – – –

#32 3,200 – – –

Unamortised fi nancing charges (1,020) (655) – –

Total term – secured 172,796 129,177 – –
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32. Term loans (Continued)

Bank loans (Continued) Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed rate

#33-unsecured 50,000 – 50,000 –

Total term loan 222,796 129,177 50,000 –

Amount repayable:

Within one year 115,646 45,591 – –  

More than one year but not later than fi ve years 107,150 83,586 50,000 –  

222,796 129,177 50,000 –  

 The fl oating rate loans bear interest at rates ranging from 2.0% to 3.4% (2013: 2.6% to 5.5%) per annum.

 Loan #1

 The loan amounting to $0.92 million is secured by a fi rst legal mortgage over freehold offi ce building of the Group 

and corporate guarantee provided by the Company. Interest is charged at a fi xed rate of 2.70% per annum with 

monthly rest with effect from 16 June 2010, 1.77% per annum below prevailing Commercial Property Rate (“CPR”) 

with monthly rest for the second year and 1.17% per annum below CPR with monthly rest thereafter. The loan is 

repayable over 20 years commencing from June 2006.

 In the event that the total amount outstanding under the facility exceeds 88% of the average external and internal 

of the market value of the freehold offi ce building, the said bank is entitled to reduce the credit limit and require 

repayment of such amount and additional security to be furnished.

 Loan #2

 The Group was granted loans amounting to $2.873 million from a bank to fi nance 65% of the purchase of four 

vessels. Interest charged is at 3.00% per annum above the bank’s Cost of Fund on monthly rest and is secured by 

fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts and earnings, and a 

corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #3

 The Group was granted loans amounting to $3.172 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of four 

vessels. Interest charged is at 3.00% per annum above the 6 or 12 month SIBOR on monthly rest and is secured 

by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts and earnings, and a 

corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #4

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $18 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of 

two units of offshore support vessels which were fully drawdown in 2010. Interest charged is at 2.25% per annum 

above the bank’s Cost of Fund on monthly rest and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment 

of insurance policies and charter contracts and earnings, charge over the earnings account, and a corporate 

guarantee provided by the Company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.
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32. Term loans (Continued)

 Loan #5

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $2.996 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of 

four vessels which was drawdown in 2011 and 2012. Interest charged is at 2.25% per annum above the bank’s 

cost of Funds on monthly rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage 

over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts and earnings, and the existing continuing 

corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 Loan #6

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $4.5 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of one 

unit of utility vessel. Interest charged is at 2.25% per annum above 3-month SIBOR on monthly rest, is repayable 

over 60 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessel, assignment of insurance policies 

and charter contracts and earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 Loan #7

 The Group was granted a Revolving Credit Facility of $0.5 million from a bank for working capital requirements. 

Interest charged is at 2.00% per annum above the bank’s cost of Funds on monthly rest, is subject to periodic 

review at the discretion of the bank and repayable on demand. It is secured by a corporate guarantee provided by 

the Company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #8

 The Group was granted a credit facilities amounting to $9.92 million from a bank to fi nance the construction of 

the third dry dock located at the shipyard and for working capital requirements, which is repayable by 60 and 

36 monthly instalments respectively. Interest charged is at 4.250% per annum on monthly rest. It is secured by 

mortgage over the land and building at the Batam shipyard, a Fiduciary Transfer of Ownership (“FTO”) over the 

equipment mounted at the third dry docks, FTO of insurances in respect of the Land and building and equipment 

mortgaged in favour of the Bank, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #9

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $1.560 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase 

of two vessels. Interest charged is at 2.25% per annum above the bank’s cost of Funds on monthly rest and is 

secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies, charter contracts and earnings, 

charge over the earning account and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #10

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $1.498 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of 

two vessels. Interest charged is at the prevailing 6 or 12 months SIBOR plus 2.25% per annum on monthly rest, 

is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of 

insurance policies, charter contracts and earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The Group shall maintain a net worth of not less than $55 million, while the subsidiary (“borrower”) shall maintain a 

net worth of not less than $20 million. Net worth is defi ned as the sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves, retained 

earnings and loans from directors and shareholders. The Group shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 

70% at all times.
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32. Term loans (Continued)

 Loan #11

 The Group was granted a Revolving Credit Facility of $2 million from a bank for working capital requirements. 

Interest charged is at 2.00% per annum above the bank’s cost of Funds on monthly rest, is subject to periodic 

review at the discretion of the bank and repayable on demand. It is secured by a corporate guarantee provided by 

the Company.

 The Group shall maintain a consolidated leverage ratio (defi ned as Total Liabilities divided by Total Equity) of not 

more than 1.75 times and a consolidated gearing ratio (defi ned as Total Banks Borrowings divided by Total Equity) of 

not more than 1.5 times.

 Loan #12

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $3.161 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of 

four vessels which was fully drawn down in 2013. Interest charged is at the bank’s prevailing COF plus 2.25% per 

annum on monthly rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the 

vessels, assignment of insurance policies, charter contracts and earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by 

the Company.

 The Group shall maintain a net worth of not less than $55 million, while the subsidiary (“borrower”) shall maintain a 

net worth of not less than $20 million. Net worth is defi ned as the sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves, retained 

earnings and loans from directors and shareholders. The Group shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 

70% at all times.

 Loan #13

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $2.971 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of 

four vessels. Interest charged is at the Bank’s prevailing COF plus 2.30% per annum on monthly rest, is repayable 

over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance 

policies, charter contracts and earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The subsidiary (“borrower”) shall maintain the Adjusted Tangible Net worth of no less than $18 million, and Adjusted 

Leverage ratio of not more than 2.0 times. Adjusted Tangible Net worth is defi ned as book net worth minus 

Goodwill minus intangibles minus loans due from directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade) plus loans 

due to directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade). Adjusted Leverage is defi ned as (Total liabilities minus 

directors/shareholders/related companies’ debts (non-trade)) divided by Adjusted Tangible net worth. The Group 

shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.

 Loan #14

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $12.5 million from a bank to fi nance 75% of the purchase 

of one unit of 5,400 bhp AHTS which was fully drawdown. Interest charged is at 2.25% per annum above the 

bank’s Cost of Fund or SGD SIBOR, whichever is higher, on monthly rest, instalments and is secured by fi rst legal 

mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts and earnings, charge over the 

earnings account, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #15

 The Group was granted a loan amounting $20 million from a bank to fi nance the construction of one AHTS. Interest 

charged is at 2.00% per annum over the bank’s COF or the applicable SOR, whichever is the higher, on monthly 

rest and is secured by fi rst priority legal assignment of the shipbuilding contracts and sales proceeds, assignment of 

the insurance and pledge over the work-in-progress and equipment in respect of the vessel, a corporate guarantee 

provided by the Company. 

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.
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32. Term loans (Continued)

 Loan #16

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to US$9.8 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of 

one unit of 5,400 bhp AHTS which was fully drawdown. Interest charged is at 2.65% per annum above the bank’s 

Cost of Fund or USD SIBOR, whichever is higher, on monthly rest, is repayable over 60 monthly instalments and 

is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts and 

earnings, charge over the earnings account, and a proportionated corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The Group shall maintain a consolidated tangible net worth (defi ned as the sum of paid up capital, revenue reserves/

accumulated profi t/retained earnings and shareholders’ funds) of at least $70 million, and maximum gearing ratio 

(defi ned as total bank borrowings/total tangible net worth) of not more than 2 times, while the subsidiary (borrower) 

shall maintain Debt Service Cover ratio (DSCR) > 1, DSCR is defi ned as charter earnings less operating expense 

over the sum of interest expense and current portion of long term debt. The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum 

loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.

 Loan #17

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to US$13.76 million from a bank to fi nance 80% of the purchase of 

one unit of 9,000 bhp AHTS which was fully drawdown. Interest charged is at 2.50% per annum over USD SIBOR 

on monthly rest, is repayable over 60 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, 

assignment of insurance policies and charter contracts and earnings, charge over the earnings account.

 The subsidiary (borrower) shall maintain an adjusted tangible net worth of at least US$25 million, and a Debt Service 

Cover ratio (DSCR) > 1, DSCR is defi ned as charter earnings less opex divided by the sum of principle and interest 

payments calculated on an annual basis. The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at 

all times.

 Loan #18

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to US$9.2 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase 

of eight vessels. Interest charged is at the Bank’s prevailing SIBOR plus 2.50% per annum on monthly rest, 

is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of 

insurance policies, charter contracts and earnings,  and a proportionated corporate guarantee provided by the 

Company and personal guarantee provided by the Company’s ultimate shareholders.

 The subsidiary (borrower) shall maintain the Adjusted Tangible Net worth of no less than $5 million, and Adjusted 

Leverage ratio of not more than 2 times. Adjusted Tangible Net worth is defi ned as book net worth minus Goodwill 

minus intangibles minus loans due from directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade) plus loans due to 

directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade) plus fair market value of third party securities. Adjusted 

Leverage is defi ned as Total liabilities minus directors/shareholders/related companies debts (non-trade) divided by 

Adjusted Tangible net worth. The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.

 Loan #19

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to US$2.66 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase of 

one unit of self-propelled barge. Interest charged is at the Bank’s prevailing COF plus 2.30% per annum on monthly 

rest, is repayable over 60 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessel, assignment of 

insurance policies, charter contracts and earnings,  a proportionated corporate guarantee provided by the Company 

and personal guarantee provided by the Company’s ultimate shareholders.

 The subsidiary (borrower) shall maintain the Adjusted Tangible Net worth of no less than $30 million, and Adjusted 

Leverage ratio of not more than 2.5 times. Adjusted Tangible Net worth is defi ned as book net worth minus Goodwill 

minus intangibles minus loans due from directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade) plus loans due to 

directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade) plus fair market value of third party securities. Adjusted 

Leverage is defi ned as Total liabilities minus directors/shareholders/related companies debts (non-trade) divided by 

Adjusted Tangible net worth. The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.
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32. Term loans (Continued)

 Loan #20

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to US$24.5 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase 

of 10 sets of tugs and barges. Interest charged is at the Bank’s prevailing COF plus 2.30% per annum on monthly 

rest, is repayable over 48 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessel, assignment of 

insurance policies, charter contracts and earnings, proportionated corporate guarantee provided by the Company 

and personal guarantee provided by the Company’s ultimate shareholders.

 The subsidiary (borrower) shall maintain the Adjusted Tangible Net worth of no less than $30 million, and Adjusted 

Leverage ratio of not more than 2.5 times. Adjusted Tangible Net worth is defi ned as book net worth minus Goodwill 

minus intangibles minus loans due from directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade) plus loans due to 

directors/shareholders/related companies (non-trade) plus fair market value of third party securities. Adjusted 

Leverage is defi ned as Total liabilities minus directors/shareholders/related companies debts (non-trade) divided by 

Adjusted Tangible net worth. The subsidiary shall maintain a maximum loan to security ratio of 70% at all times.

 Loan #21

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to US$4.1 million and $12 million from a bank to fi nance 70-80% 

of the purchase or valuation of eight sets of Tugs and barges which was drawdown in 2010 and 2011. Interest 

charged is at 5% for S$ loan and 5.5% for US$ loan and can be adjusted to market conditions, is repayable for 48 

monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, and account receivable owned by the 

company.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #22

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $14.56 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the purchase or 

valuation of seven sets of Tugs and barges which was drawdown in 2010 and 2011. Interest charged is at 5.5% 

and can be adjusted to market conditions. Repayable for 48 and 60 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst 

legal mortgage over the vessels.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #23

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $4.96 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the valuation 

amount for three sets of Tugs and barges which was drawdown in 2011. Interest charged is at 5% and can be 

adjusted to market conditions, is repayable for 60 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over 

the vessels.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #24

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to $2.89 million from a bank to fi nance 70% of the valuation 

amount for two sets of Tugs and barges which was drawdown in 2010. Interest charged is at 5.5%, is repayable for 

48 monthly instalments and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels.

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.



  | MARCO POLO MARINE LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2014

86

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

32. Term loans (Continued)

 Loan #25

 The Group was granted a vessel loan amounting to US$27.64 million from a fi nancial institution to fi nance 70% of 

the purchase of 2 units of 8,000 bhp AHTS. Interest charged is 4.6% per annum plus 3-month LIBOR on quarterly 

rest and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessel, assignment of insurance policies, charter contracts and 

earnings, and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company .

 The loan has been fully repaid during the fi nancial year.

 Loan #26

 The Group was granted a money market loan amounting to $12 million from a bank to fi nance the working capital 

of a subsidiary. Interest charged is 1.75% per annum over the bank’s cost of fund or 1.75% per annum over the 

applicable SWAP offer rate, whichever is higher and shall have interest period of 1, 3 or 6 months as may be 

mutually agreed with the bank as called maturity date. The loan shall be repayable in full on maturity date unless 

it is rolled over for another interest period and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessel, assignment of 

insurance policies, charter contracts and earnings and a corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

 The Group shall maintain a tangible net worth of at least $70 million and maximum gearing ratio (defi ned as total 

bank borrowing/total tangible net worth) of not more than 2 times, where the tangible net worth is defi ned as the 

sum of paid-up capital, revenue reserves/accumulated profi ts/retained earnings and shareholders’ fund.

 Loan #27

 The Group was granted a vessels loan amounting to $31 million from a bank to refi nance of the vessels. Interest 

charged is 2.5% per annum over SWAP Offer rate and shall remain fi xed for each interest period, is repayable for 

48 months instalment and is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies and 

assignment of earnings.

 The Group shall maintain adjusted earnings before income tax, depreciation and amortisation shall be or shall  not 

exceed 1.2 times borrower debts services. 

 Loan #28

 The Group was granted a loan amounting to US$26 million from a bank to refi nance of the vessels and working 

capital which had drawdown US$24.6 million during the fi nancial year. Interest charged is at the margin and LIBOR 

plus 2.25% per annum, are repayable for 48 months and shall be repaid on the last day of the its interest period and 

are secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies, charter contract and earnings 

and debt service reserve account opened and operated by the bank with minimum sum of US$375,000 all times.

 The subsidiary shall maintain minimum Tangible Net worth of US$55 million, Leverage ratio (total liability/tangible 

net worth) of not more 2.5 times and Minimum Debt Service Coverage ratio of 1.1 times. Tangible Net worth is 

defi ned as sum of paid-up capital plus revenue and capital reserves. Debt Service Coverage ratio is defi ned as 

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation divided by annual debts servicing burden (inclusive of 

hire purchase and fi nance lease obligations).

 Loan #29

 The Group was granted money market loan amounting to $16.3 million from a bank for working capital 

requirements. Interest charged is at 1.75% per annum over the bank’s cost of funds, is repayable on demand and 

is secured by fi rst legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of insurance policies, charter contract and earnings 

and corporate guarantee by the Company.

 The Group shall maintain minimum Tangible Net worth of $70 million at all times and Gearing ratio (total bank 

borrowing/total tangible net worth) of not more than 2 times at all times. The tangible Net worth is defi ned as the 

sum of paid-up capital, revenue reserves/accumulated profi t/retained earnings and shareholders’ funds.
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32. Term loans (Continued)

 Loan #30

 The Group was granted revolving loan amounting to US$34 million from a bank to fi nance up to 75% of the 

construction cost of each shipbuilding contract entered with buyers which had drawdown approximately $25.47 

million during the fi nancial year. Interest charged is at 1.75% per annum over the bank’s prevailing cost of fund, 

is repayable on demand and is secured by assignment of shipbuilding contract with buyer, assignment of the 

procurement contract and corporate guarantee by the Company.

 The subsidiary shall maintain Adjusted Tangible Net worth of not less than $3.2 million and the Group shall maintain 

Adjusted Tangible Net worth of not less than $100 million and Adjusted Leverage ratio of not more than 2 times.

 Loan #31 

 The Group was granted a vessels loan amounting to $38.4 million from a bank to fi nance of three AHTS vessels 

which had drawdown approximately of $15.61 million during the fi nancial year. Interest charged is at 2% per 

annum above the bank’s Swap Offer rate, on monthly rest, is repayable on 31 December 2015 and is secured by 

assignment of shipbuilding contract and sales proceeds, assignment of builder’s insurance, pledge over work-in-

progress and equipment, project account maintained with bank and corporate guarantee by the Company.

 The Group shall maintain a minimum Tangible Net worth of $70 million at all times and Gearing ratio (total bank 

borrowing/total tangible net worth) of not more than 2 at all times. Tangible Net worth is defi ned as the sum of paid-

up capital, revenue reserves/accumulated profi t/retained earnings and shareholder’s funds.

 Loan #32

 The Group was granted money market loan amounting to $4.4 million from a bank for working capital requirements 

which had drawdown of $3.2 million during the fi nancial year. Interest charged is at 1.75% per annum over the 

bank’s cost of funds, on monthly rest, is repayable on demand  and is secured by fi rst legal  mortgage over the 

vessels, assignment of insurance policies, charter contract and earnings and corporate guarantee by the Company.

 The Group shall maintain a minimum Tangible Net worth of $70 million at all times and Gearing ratio (total bank 

borrowing/total tangible net worth) of not more than 2 at all times. Tangible Net worth is defi ned as the sum of paid-

up capital, revenue reserves and capital reserve.

 Loan#33

 During the fi nancial year, the Company established $300 million multicurrency medium term notes programme 

(the “Programme”). Under the Programme, the Company may from time to time issue notes in series or tranches, 

in Singapore dollar or other currency as may be agreed between relevant dealer(s) of the Programme and the 

Company. 

 On 18 October 2013, the Company has issued $50 million fi xed rate notes series 1 notes with fi xed interest rate of 

5.75% per annum, direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations and will mature on 18 October 

2016. The purposes of issuance are refi nancing of borrowings, fi nancing investments and general working capital for 

the Company or the Group.

33. Convertible bond

 On 27 October 2011, BBR entered into Convertible Bond Subscription Agreement with investors to issue convetible 

bonds amounting to US$11 million. On the same date, BBR and its subsidiary, BBR Shipping Pte Ltd, entered 

into Redeemable Exchangeable Preference Shares Subscription Agreement with other investors to issue preference 

shares amounting to US$6 million. 

 Convertible Bond and Redeemable Exchangeable Preference Shares (collectively referred as “CB-1”) amounting to 

US$17 million are intended to fi nance the purchase of vessels and general working capital of the BBR Group. 

 During fi nancial year 2013, 40% of the bond were conveted into the subsidiary’s ordinary share and 30% were 

redeemed in cash with simple interest rate of 32%. The remaining 30% were redeemed in cash in current fi nancial 

year. 
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34. Derivative fi nancial instruments

 The table below sets out the notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward currency contracts of the Group, 

and their corresponding asset or liability at the reporting date:

Derivative
Notional principal Asset / (Liability)

2014 2013 2014 2013
Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Forward currency contracts 5,238 1,462 (451) (5)

 Forward currency contracts are used to hedge foreign currency risk arising from the Group’s sales and purchase 

denominated in Euro (2013: USD and Euro) for which the commitments existed at the reporting date.

 As at 30 September 2014, the settlement dates of these contracts ranged from 1 to 6 months (2013: 1 to 6 

months).

 The forward currency contracts were assessed to be ineffective as a hedging instrument and a net recognised loss 

of $446,000 (2013: $5,000) has been recognised in the profi t or loss for the fi nancial year. 

 There is no any derivative fi nancial instruments held by the Company during the fi nancial year.

35. Deferred tax liabilities

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At beginning of the fi nancial year 910 821 – –

Charged to profi t or loss 26 89 – –

At end of the fi nancial year 936 910 – –
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35. Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

 Deferred tax liabilities relate to the following:

Group
Consolidated statement of 

fi nancial position
Consolidated statement of 

profi t or loss
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities

- excess of net book value over the tax  

 written-down value of plant and equipment 692 587 106 (314)

- differences in revenue recognition based on  

 percentage of completion for tax purposes 406 406 – 84

1098 993 106 (230)

Deferred tax assets

- deferred income – – – 402

- unutilised tax losses (162) (83) (79) (83)

936 910 27 89

 The Group has unused tax losses of $1,037,000 (2013: $275,000). The use of these balances is subject to the 

agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the country in which 

an entity in the Group operates. 

 There are no income tax consequences (2013: Nil) attached to the dividends to the shareholders proposed by the 

Company but not recognised as a liability in the fi nancial statements. 

 The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries in Indonesia 

for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately $7,024,000 (2013: $11,111,000). 

No liability has been recognised in respect of these taxable temporary differences associated with undistributed 

earnings of the Indonesian subsidiaries because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

36. Dividends

Company
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Interim exempt (one-tier) paid dividends in respect of current fi nancial year of

 $0.014 per share (2013: $0.008 per share) 4,771 2,726

 The Company did not recommend any fi nal dividend in respect of the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 
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37. Signifi cant related party transactions

 A related party is defi ned as follows:

 (a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that person:

  

  (i) Has control or joint control over the Company;

  (ii) Has signifi cant infl uence over the Company; or

  (iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of the 

Company.

 (b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

  (i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

  (ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

  (iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

  (iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

  (v)  The entity is a post-employment benefi t plan for the benefi t of employees of either the Company is 

itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the Company.

  (vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identifi ed in (a);

  (vii)  A person identifi ed in (a)(i) has signifi cant infl uence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

 Associates are related parties and include those that are associates of the holding and/or related companies.

 Many of the Group’s and Company’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these 

on the basis determined between the parties is refl ected in these fi nancial statements. The balances are unsecured, 

interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated. 
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37. Signifi cant related party transactions (Continued)

 Some of the arrangements with related parties and the effects of these bases determined between the parties are 

refl ected elsewhere in this report. The trade and non-trade balances due from/to related parties are unsecured, 

interest-free and repayable on demand. Transaction between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related 

companies of the Company have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of 

transactions between the Group and other related companies are disclosed below.

 Sales and purchases of goods and services

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Income
Repair income charged to an associate – 497

Retainer fee earned from a jointly controlled entity 201 199

Ship building contract revenue from an associate – 1,103

Cost and expenses
Purchases of concrete mix and spare parts from other related parties * 97 507

Rental expenses and deposits charged by directors of a subsidiary 225 157

 
 * Other related parties are companies in which a director of the Company has a controlling fi nancial interest.

 Compensation of directors and key executives

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefi ts 3,439 3,187

Contribution to defi ned contribution plans 125 98

Share-based payment 22 9

3,586 3,294

Comprised amounts paid to:

- Directors of the Company 2,059 1,806

- Directors of the subsidiaries 243 451

- Other key executives 1,284 1,037

3,586 3,294

 The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 

the performance of individuals and market trends.
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38. Contingencies and commitments

 (i) Legal claim
 

  During the fi nancial year 2012, a shipping customer (“Plaintiff”) commenced a litigation claim against 

a charterer of the Group (1st Defendant) and a subsidiary of the Company, Marco Polo Shipping Co. 

Pte. Ltd. (2nd Defendant as a ship owner) (“MPS”) in relation to the 1st Defendant failing to adhere to 

stipulated contract terms with the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff has claimed the sum of US$201,455 (equivalent to 

approximately $253,000), consequential damages to be assessed, interest and costs, against MPS. 

  On 12 August 2013, the Assistant Registrar awarded the Plaintiff US$63,000 in damages vis-a-vis the 2nd 

Defendant with interest of 5.33% running from the date of the fi ling of the writ until the judgement sum is 

satisfi ed. The date of the fi ling of the writ was 15 December 2011. 

  Subsequently on 6 September 2013, the solicitors of the Plaintiff proposed to the solicitors engaged by 

the Group that the costs of assessment be fi xed at $25,000 plus reasonable disbursements in the sum of 

$3,000. 

  However on 11 November 2013, the Plaintiff has fi led an appeal against the decision of the Assistant 

Registrar. The hearing took place on 22 July 2014 and the Judge has allowed the appeal and increased 

the amount due to plaintiff from US$63,000 to US$141,226 as quantum of damages with interest thereon 

computed at the rate of 5.33% per annum from the date of the Writ of Summon to the date of payment.

  Accordingly, an appeal has been fi led by the Company to the Court of Appeal. The Company is still waiting 

for the grounds of the decision to be issued by the Judge. In prior year, the full provision of the legal claim 

amounting of US$201,455 has been charged to profi t or loss.

 (ii) Corporate guarantees

  The Company has given the following corporate guarantees in respect of banking facilities of subsidiaries, 

associate and jointly controlled entities as at reporting date:

Company
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Subsidiaries

Term loans-secured 155,512 90,308

Finance lease obligations – 47

Jointly controlled entities

Share of term loans-secured 20,119 5,861

175,631 96,216

  The Company also provided guarantee to a customer of a ship building contract of a subsidiary amounting 

to $Nil (2013: $5,200,000).

  The directors have assessed the fair value of the fi nancial guarantees issued to external banks which have 

no material fi nancial impact on the results and the accumulated profi ts of the Company and therefore not 

recognised as at reporting date.
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38. Contingencies and commitments (Continued)

 (iii) (iii) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

  The Group has entered into operating lease agreement for equipment which contains renewable options. 

Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional debt or 

further leasing.

  The future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the reporting period 

is as follows:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

- not later than one year 332 461

- one year through fi ve years 138 469

470 930

  The Group sub-leases out its freehold building to a tenant under operating lease. The lease is for a period of 

2 years. Lease payments are revised at renewal of lease contract to refl ect market rental. The lease does not 

include contingent rental. The future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases at 

the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

- not later than one year 41 100

- one year through fi ve years – 41

41 141

 (iv) Capital commitments

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment

contracted for but not provided 42,247 13,646

39. Segment information

 The Group has identifi ed the operating segments as described below, which are the Group’s Strategic business 

units.

 (i) Ship chartering services – Relates to charter hire activities

 (ii) Ship building and repair services – Relates to ship building and ship repair activities

 Transfer price between operating segments are on arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with related 

parties.
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39. Segment information (Continued)

 Business segments

Ship chartering
services

Shipbuilding
and repair 
services

Total
operations

$’000 $’000 $‘000

2014
External revenue 64,717 48,392 113,109

Reportable segment results from operating activities 11,672 9,875 21,547

Share of profi ts in jointly controlled entities 1,213 – 1,213

Finance income 134 6 140

Finance costs (4,685) (268) (4,953)

Unallocated net fi nance cost (1,142)

Unallocated administrative expenses (3,120)

Profi t before income tax 13,685

Income tax expenses (3,327)

Profi t for the fi nancial year 10,358

Reportable segment assets 310,909 126,000 436,909

Interest in jointly controlled entities 34,714 – 34,714

Goodwill 5,250 – 5,250

Unallocated assets 6,438

Total assets 483,311

Reportable segment liabilities 135,782 75,205 210,987

Unallocated liabilities 51,803

Total liabilities 262,790

Capital expenditure * 73,619 1,481 75,100

Other material non-cash items:

Depreciation 17,608 3,407 21,015

Allowance for impairment of trade receivable

- made during the year 1,254 – 1,254

(Loss)/Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (70) 7 (63)

 * The amount includes capital expenditures acquired by fi nance lease obligation amounting to $290,000.
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39. Segment information (Continued)

 Business segments (Continued)

Ship chartering
services

Shipbuilding
and repair 
services

Total
operations

$’000 $’000 $‘000

2013
External revenue 56,950 36,589 93,539

Reportable segment results from operating activities 16,339 10,336 26,675

Share of profi ts in an associate 1,150 –    1,150

Share of profi ts in jointly controlled entities 2,333 –    2,333

Gain on equity interest 5,890 –    5,890

Finance income 374 8 382

Finance costs (4,716) (287) (5,003)

Unallocated net fi nance cost (3)

Unallocated administrative expenses (3,122)

Profi t before income tax 28,302

Income tax expenses (3,102)

Profi t for the fi nancial year 25,200

Reportable segment assets 287,220 64,741 351,961

Interest in jointly controlled entities 28,135 –    28,135

Goodwill 5,250 –    5,250

Unallocated assets 1,615

Total assets 386,961

Reportable segment liabilities 133,124 40,308 173,432

Unallocated liabilities 323

Total liabilities 173,755

Capital expenditure * 41,177 2,760 43,937

Other material non-cash items:

Depreciation 13,367 3,406 16,773

Allowance for impairment of trade receivable

made during the fi nancial year 1,148 – 1,148

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 309 8 317

 * The amount includes capital expenditures acquired by lease obligation amounting to $28,000.
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39. Segment information (Continued)

 G eographical information

 The Group operates mainly in Singapore, Indonesia and Southeast Australia, with Singapore, Indonesia and Australia 

(as well as to a lesser extent other regional countries in South East Asia) being its major markets for ship chartering 

activities. Indonesia (principally the shipyard at Batam) is its major market for shipbuilding and repair activities.

 Revenue from an associate and a third party major customer amounted to $Nil (2013: $1,103,000) and 

$35,061,000 (2013: $13,666,000) respectively, which is generated by the shipbuilding and repair services segment.

 Revenue from the external customers of the Group were derived based on the country of origin of the customers 

and not the destination for the delivery of the Group’s chartering services or built vessels.

 Non-current assets (other than fi nancial instruments and deferred tax assets) of the Group were spread across 

Singapore (being the Company’s country of domicile), Indonesia, Australia and Thailand as at the reporting date, 

which were derived based on the fl ag of the vessels and the location for the other assets. 

The Group Singapore Indonesia Australia Thailand Malaysia Others* Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Revenue 47,943 50,522 3,048 4,028 6,428 1,140 113,109

Non - current assets 97,665 241,718 9,893 5,273 29,467 – 384,016

2013
Revenue 38,401 40,096 3,337 6,481 2,490 2,734 93,539

Non - current assets 77,737 215,710 10,423 22,276 – – 326,146

 * Others comprise of Hong Kong, New Zealand and United Kingdom 

40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks

 The Group has documented fi nancial risk management policies. These policies set out the Group’s overall business 

strategies and its risk management philosophy. The Group’s overall fi nancial risk management programme seeks 

to minimise potential adverse effects of fi nancial performance of the Group. The board of directors provides written 

principles for overall fi nancial risk management and written policies covering specifi c areas, such as market risk 

(including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. Such written policies are reviewed 

annually by the board of directors and periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that the Group’s policy guidelines 

are complied with. Risk management is carried out by the board of directors.

 It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivative contracts.



MARCO POLO MARINE LTD |
ANNUAL REPORT 2014

97

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014

(Amounts in thousands of Singapore dollars unless otherwise stated)

40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risk

 Foreign exchange risk

 Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group also sells its products/services in several countries and 

for such overseas sales, it transacts mainly in United States dollars (“USD”), Australia dollars (“AUD”) and Indonesia 

Rupiah (“IDR”). As a result, movements in USD, AUD and IDR exchange rates are the main foreign exchange risks 

which the Group is exposed to. Transaction risk is calculated in each foreign currency and includes foreign currency 

denominated assets and liabilities and probable purchases and sales commitments. The Group has not entered into 

any derivative instruments for trading purposes.

Group
Singapore

dollars

United 
States 
dollars

Australia 
dollars

Indonesia 
Rupiah Others* Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Financial assets
Trade receivables 6,347 6,467 183 2,470 – 15,467

Gross amounts due from 

 customers for construction

 contracts 19,562 – – 139 – 19,701

Other receivables and deposits 283 1,108 1 – – 1,392

Finance lease receivable 1,259 – – – – 1,259

Due from jointly controlled entities 14,730 2,171 – – – 16,901

Fixed deposits – – 1,222 64 – 1,286

Cash and bank balances 4,014 20,108 223 141 – 24,486

46,195 29,854 1,629 2,814 – 80,492

Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft 786 – – – – 786

Trade payables 10,534 429 – 1,201 2,758 14,922

Borrowings – interest bearing 160,847 62,276 – – – 223,123

Other payables and accruals 8,574 531 162 869 – 10,136

Derivative fi nancial instruments 451 – – – – 451

181,192 63,236 162 2,070 2,758 249,418

Net fi nancial assets / (liabilities) (134,997) (33,382) 1,467 744 (2,758) (168,926)

Less: Net fi nancial liabilities

 denominated in their respective

 functional currencies 126,752 51,685 – – – 178,437

Net foreign currency exposure (8,245) 18,303 1,467 744 (2,758) 9,511
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40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risk (Continued)

 Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Group
Singapore

dollars

United 
States 
dollars

Australia 
dollars

Indonesia 
Rupiah Others* Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Financial assets
Trade receivables 6,871 6,903 – 3,052 – 16,826

Gross amounts due from 

 customers for construction

 contracts 8,564 – – – – 8,564

Other receivables and deposits 6,020 128 – 326 6,474

Finance lease receivables 1,913 – – – – 1,913

Due from jointly controlled entities 12,244 2,139 – – – 14,383

Fixed deposits – – 1,788 476 – 2,264

Cash and bank balances 3,456 3,610 438 124 – 7,628

39,068 12,780 2,226 3,978 – 58,052

Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft 1,897 – – – – 1,897

Trade payables 9,506 352 – 2,649 6,651 19,158

Borrowings – interest bearing 56,546 79,178 – – – 135,724

Other payables and accruals 4,372 771 24 3,416 – 8,583

Derivative fi nancial instrument 5 – – – – 5

72,326 80,301 24 6,065 6,651 165,367

Net fi nancial (liabilities)/assets (33,258) (67,521) 2,202 (2,087) (6,651) (107,315)

Less: Forward currency contracts – 1,217 – – (149) 1,068

Less: Net fi nancial liabilities

 denominated in their respective

 functional currencies 21,353 81,111 – – – 102,464

Net foreign currency exposure (11,905) 14,807 2,202 (2,087) (6,800) (3,783)

 * Others comprise of Euro, Malaysia Ringgit and Thai Baht.
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40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risk (Continued) 

 Foreign exchange risk (Continued) 

Company
Singapore

dollars
United States 

dollars Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Financial assets
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 94,326 – 94,326

Cash and bank balances 216 5,573 5,789

Due from jointly controlled entities 2,486 – 2,486

97,028 5,573 102,601

Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals 1,781 – 1,781

1,781 – 1,781

Net fi nancial assets 95,247 5,573 100,820

Less: Net fi nancial assets denominated in the 

 Company’s functional currency (95,247) – (95,247)

Net foreign currency exposure – 5,573 5,573

2013

Financial assets
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 54,008 – 54,008

Due from jointly controlled entities 2,875 – 2,875

Cash and bank balances 1,305 105 1,410

58,188 105 58,293

Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals 298 – 298

298 – 298

Net fi nancial assets 57,890 105 57,995

Less: Net fi nancial assets denominated in the 

 Company’s functional currency (57,890) – (57,890)

Net foreign currency exposure – 105 105
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40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risk (Continued) 

 Foreign exchange risk (Continued) 

 Foreign exchange risk sensitivity

 The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Singapore dollars against the 

relevant foreign currencies.  10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 

management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange 

rates.  The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and 

adjustment their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.  The sensitivity analysis 

includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is 

in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower.

 A 10% strengthening of Singapore dollars against the relevant foreign currencies at the reporting date would 

increase/(decrease) profi t or loss by the amounts shown below.

Singapore 
dollars

United 
States 
dollars

Australia
dollars

Indonesia
Rupiah Others

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Group
Profi t for the fi nancial year (1,684) 1,517 122 62 (229)

Company
Profi t for the fi nancial year – (463) – – –

2013

Group
Profi t for the fi nancial year (988) 1,229 183 (173) (564)

Company
Profi t for the fi nancial year – (9) – – –

 A 10% weakening of Singapore dollars against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite effect 

on the above currencies to the amounts shown above.
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40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Market risk (Continued) 

 Interest rate risk

 The Group obtains additional fi nancing through bank borrowings and fi nancial institutions.

 The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available without increasing its foreign currency 

exposure. The Group constantly monitors its interest rate risk and does not utilise forward contracts or other 

arrangements for trading or speculative purposes. As at the reporting date, there were no such arrangements, 

interest rate swap contracts or other derivative instruments outstanding.

 The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s fi nancial instruments, that are exposed 

to interest rate risk:

Group 2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Within one year – fi xed rates

Finance lease receivables 541 654

Finance lease obligations (89) (83)

Convertible bond – (6,404)

Within one year – fl oating rates

Term loans – secured (115,646) (45,591)

Bank overdraft – secured (786) (1,897)

More than one year – fi xed rates

Finance lease receivables 718 1,259

Finance lease obligations (238) (60)

Fixed interest notes (50,000) –

More than one year – fl oating rates

Term loans - secured (57,150) (83,586)

 Interest in fi nancial instruments subject to fl oating interest rates is re-priced regularly. Interests on fi nancial 

instruments at fi xed rates are fi xed until the maturity of the instruments. The other fi nancial instruments of the Group 

that are not included in the above table are subject to minimum interest rate risks.

 Interest risk sensitivity

 The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for active instruments 

at the statement of fi nancial position date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the fi nancial 

year and held constant throughout the reporting periods in the case of instruments that have fl oating rates. A 100 

basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel 

and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

 If the interest rates had been 1% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profi t for the 

current fi nancial year would decrease/increase by $1,441,000 (2013: $1,088,000). This is mainly attributable to the 

Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rates borrowings.
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40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Liquidity risk

 The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed adequate by 

management to fi nance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fl uctuations in cash fl ows. Typically the 

Group ensures that it has suffi cient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses including the servicing 

of fi nancial obligations.

 The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative fi nancial liabilities. The tables have 

been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash fl ows of fi nancial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 

Group and Company can be required to pay.

Group

On demand 
or within 

1 year
Within

2 to 5 years
After

5 years Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Trade payables 14,922 – – 14,922

Borrowings – interest bearing 120,125 122,097 – 242,222

Bank overdraft 786 – – 786

Other payables and accruals 10,136 – – 10,136

145,969 122,097 – 268,066

2013
Trade payables 19,158 – – 19,158

Borrowings – interest bearing 56,284 89,346 – 145,630

Bank overdraft 1,897 – – 1,897

Other payables and accruals 8,582 – – 8,582

85,921 89,346 – 175,267

Company

2014
Bank borrowings – interest bearing – 55,869 – 55,869

Other payables and accruals 1,781 – – 1,781

1,781 55,869 – 57,650

2013
Other payables and accruals 298 –    –   298

 Credit risk

 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in fi nancial loss 

to the Group. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers of appropriate 

credit history, and obtaining suffi cient security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The concentration of credit 

risk with respect to the shipbuilding-related trade receivables is limited as the Group adopts the policy of obtaining 

advances generally amounting to at least 10% of contract value, and by withholding ownership and possession of 

the vessels under construction until full payment. For other fi nancial assets (including convertible bond), the Group 

adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties. The counterparty’s payment profi le and 

credit exposure are continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management and at the Group level 

by the Group Financial Controller. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk beyond 

the amount of allowance for impairment made is inherent in the Group’s trade receivables. 
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40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Credit risk (Continued)

 At the reporting date, approximately 40% of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 5 major customers who 

operate in Singapore, Indonesia and Malaysia. In prior year, approximately 36% of the Group’s trade receivables 

were due from 5 major customers who operate in Singapore, Indonesia and Malaysia. 

 As the Group and Company does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of 

fi nancial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of fi nancial instruments presented on the statement of 

fi nancial position, except as follows: 

Company
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Corporate guarantees provided to banks and fi nancial institutions on jointly

 controlled entities’ borrowings 20,119 5,861

Corporate guarantees provided to banks and fi nancial institutions on 

 subsidiaries’ borrowings 155,512 90,308

 The Group’s major classes of fi nancial assets are bank deposits and trade receivables. The credit risk for trade 

receivables, including trade amounts due from related parties and a jointly controlled entity, based on the information 

provided to key management is as follows:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

By geographical areas

- Singapore 5,127 5,542

- Indonesia 7,533 9,269

- Other countries 2,807 2,015

15,467 16,826

By types of customers

- Related parties 68 50

- Third parties 15,399 16,776

15,467 16,826

 The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, including amount due from related 

parties and jointly controlled entities, represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to fi nancial 

assets. 

 Cash and bank balances are placed with reputable local fi nancial institutions.

 The Group’s trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days (2013: 30 days) term. They are 

recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. Credit risk arises 

mainly from the inability of its customers to make payments when due. The amounts presented in the statement 

of fi nancial position are net of allowances for impairment of receivables, estimated by management based on prior 

experience and the current economic environment.
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40. Financial instruments and fi nancial risks (Continued)

 Credit risk (Continued)

 The age analysis of trade receivables, excluding trade amounts due from related parties and jointly controlled entities  

is as follows:

Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Not past due and not impaired 6,658 6,204

Past due but not impaired

- past due 0 to 3 months 4,778 8,832

- past due over 3 months 3,963 1,740

15,399 16,776

Past due and impaired trade receivables 3,319 2,050

Less: Allowance for impairment loss (3,319) (2,050)

15,399 16,776

 The movement in allowance for impairment loss is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year 2,050 841

Translation difference 15 4

Allowance made during the fi nancial year 1,254 1,148

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 57

Balance at end of the fi nancial year 3,319 2,050

 Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with total carrying amount of approximately $8,741,000 

(2013: $10,572,000) which are past due but not impaired as there has not been a signifi cant change in credit quality 

and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

 Based on the Group’s monitoring of customer credit risk, the Group believes that, apart from the above, no 

impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due or past due by up to 3 months. As 

other receivables are not signifi cant, no detailed age analysis has been set out as above. 

41. Capital risk management policies and objectives

 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

 The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes borrowings disclosed in Note 32, cash and bank 

balances and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital and retained earnings as 

disclosed in Notes 11 and 14.

 The board of directors reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, the management 

considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the 

management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues 

and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

 The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2013.
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42. Fair values of assets and liabilities

 Fair value of fi nancial instruments by classes that are carried at fair value

 Fair value hierarchy

 The Group classifi es fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that refl ects the signifi cance of the inputs 

used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

  Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

  Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), and

  Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

 The following table shows an analysis of fi nancial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy as at 

reporting date:

Group
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Financial liabilities
Derivatives fi nancial instruments 

Foreign currency contracts (Note 34) – (451) – (451)

At 30 September 2014 – (451) – (451)

2013
Financial liabilities
Derivatives fi nancial instruments 

Foreign currency contracts (Note 34) – (5) – (5)

At 30 September 2013 – (5) – (5)

 The Company had no other fi nancial assets or liabilities carried at fair value in fi nancial year 2014 and 2013.

 Determination of fair value

 Derivative forward currency contracts are valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs. The 

most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing models, using present value calculations. The 

models incorporate various observable inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot 

and forward rates.

 Fair value of fi nancial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 

reasonable approximation of fair value

 The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, fi xed deposits with bank, trade and other receivables and 

payables, due from subsidiaries, current borrowings and non-current borrowings at fl oating rates and fi xed rate are 

reasonable approximation of fair values either due to their short-term nature or that they are fl oating market interest 

rate instruments on or near the reporting date.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 19 December 2014

Total Number of Ordinary Shares in Issue : 340,750,000      

Number of Ordinary Shares in Issue with Voting Rights : 337,379,000     

Voting Rights 1 vote per share       

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF

SHAREHOLDERS %
 

NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 999 2 0.08 1,012 0.00

1,000 - 10,000 1,264 47.25 7,502,513 2.22

10,001 - 1,000,000 1,387 51.85 72,302,101 21.43

1,000,001 AND ABOVE 22 0.82 257,573,374 76.35

TOTAL : 2,675 100.00 337,379,000 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1. NAUTICAL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD       130,057,374 50.92

2. DMG & PARTNERS SECURITIES PTE LTD 42,239,000 16.54

3. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD    15,989,000 6.26

4. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  9,769,000 3.82

5. HO LEE GROUP PTE LTD          9,000,000 3.52

6. UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 8,718,000 3.41

7. HL BANK NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD  7,607,000 2.98

8. DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  5,829,000 2.28

9. MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD  3,850,000 1.51

10. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 3,332,000 1.30

11. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD   3,178,000 1.24

12. RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD    2,509,000 0.98

13. DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD          2,371,000 0.93

14. CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD     2,334,000 0.91

15. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 2,062,000 0.81

16. LOI WIN YEN                   1,700,000 0.67

17. BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE LTD   1,439,000 0.56

18. SBS NOMINEES PTE LTD          1,245,000 0.49

19. SOH HUOY TYNG JANNET          1,098,000 0.44

20. CITIBANK CONSUMER NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,089,000 0.43

 TOTAL : 255,415,374 100.00
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Name  No of Shares       % No of Shares       %

Nautical International Holdings Ltd                   130,057,374(1) 38.55 62,842,000(1)  18.63

Lee Wan Tang                                                                     –  – 203,396,374(2)  60.29

Notes:

(1) Including 14,628,000 Shares held by Philip Securities Pte Ltd., 6,214,000 Shares held by Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd and 

42,000,000 shares held by DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd, of which Nautical International Holdings Ltd is the benefi cial owner.

(2) Mr Lee Wan Tang is deemed interested in the ordinary shares held by Nautical International Holdings Ltd, 447,000 shares held by 

Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd, 1,800,000 shares held by Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd, 5,465,000 shares held by 

UOB Kay Hian Private Limited and 2,785,000 shares held by HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd of which Mr Lee Wan Tang is the 

benefi cial owner.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 723 OF THE SGX-ST LISTING MANUAL

Based on information available and to the best knowledge of the Company, as at 19 December 2014, approximately 

39.56% of the ordinary shares of the Company are held by the public. The Company is therefore in compliance with Rule 

723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

TREASURY SHARES AS AT 19 DECEMBER 2014

As at 19 December 2014, 3,371,000 ordinary shares are held as treasury shares, representing 0.99% of the total number 

of issued shares excluding treasury shares. 
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 APPENDIX DATED 13 JANUARY 2015

THIS APPENDIX IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take, you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, 
solicitor, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in the capital of Marco Polo Marine Ltd. (the “Company”) held through 

The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), you need not forward this appendix to the purchaser or transferee as 

arrangements will be made by CDP for a separate appendix to be sent to the purchaser or transferee. If you have sold 

or transferred all your shares represented by physical share certifi cate(s), you should at once hand this appendix to the 

purchaser or transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or agent through whom you effected the sale or transfer, for onward 

transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

 

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements 

made, reports contained or opinions expressed in this appendix.

MARCO POLO MARINE LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration No. 200610073Z)

APPENDIX

in relation to

(1) THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE;

(2) THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE;

(3) THE PROPOSED GRANT OF OPTIONS TO MR. SEAN LEE YUN FENG PURSUANT TO THE MARCO POLO 
MARINE LTD. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME; AND

(4) THE PROPOSED GRANT OF OPTIONS TO MS. LIELY LEE PURSUANT TO THE MARCO POLO MARINE 
LTD. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME.
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DEFINITIONS

In this Appendix, the following defi nitions apply throughout unless otherwise stated:

“AGM” : The annual general meeting of the Company to be convened and held at 10:30 am 

29 January 2015 at Emerald Suite - Level II, Orchid Country Club, 1 Orchid Club Road, 

Singapore 769162, notice of which is attached to the Annual Report

“Appendix” : This Appendix to Shareholders dated 13 January 2015

“Articles” : Articles of association of the Company

“Associates “ : (a) In relation to any director, chief executive offi cer, substantial shareholder or controlling 

shareholder (being an individual) means:

 (i) his immediate family; 

 (ii) the trustees of any trust of which he or his immediate family is a benefi ciary 

or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object; and

 (iii) any company in which he and his immediate family together (directly or 

indirectly) have an interest of thirty per cent (30%) or more

(b) In relation to a substantial shareholder or a controlling shareholder (being a company) 

means any other company which is its subsidiary or holding company or is a 

subsidiary of such holding company or one in the equity of which it and/or such 

other company or companies taken together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 

thirty per cent (30%) or more

“Associated Company” : A company in which at least twenty per cent (20%) but not more than fi fty per cent (50%) of 

its shares are held by the Company or the Group

“Audit Committee” : The Audit Committee of the Company as at the date of this Appendix, comprising the Audit 

Committee Chairman Mr. Lim Han Boon, Mr. Sim Swee Yam Peter, Mr. Lee Kiam Hwee 

Kelvin and Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi

“Award” : A contingent award of Shares granted pursuant to the rules of the MPM Restricted Share 

Scheme and/or the MPM Performance Share Scheme, as the case may be

“BBR” PT. Pelayaran Nasional Bina Buana Raya Tbk

“BBR Group” PT. Pelayaran Nasional Bina Buana Raya Tbk and its associates

“Board” : The Board of Directors of the Company for the time being

“BRJ” : As defi ned in paragraph 3.1(a) of the Annex A to this Appendix

“CDP” : The Central Depository (Pte) Limited

“Committee” : A committee comprising Directors as may be duly authorised and appointed by the Board 

to administer, inter alia, the MPM ESOS

“Companies Act” : The Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore, as amended, modifi ed or supplemented 

from time to time

“Company” or “MPM” : Marco Polo Marine Ltd.
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“Controlling 
Shareholder”

: A person who:-

(a) holds directly or indirectly fi fteen per cent (15%) or more of the total number of 

issued shares excluding treasury shares in the company. The SGX-ST may determine 

that a person who satisfi es this paragraph is not a controlling shareholder; or

(b) in fact exercises control over a company

“Date of Grant” : The date on which an Option is granted to a Participant pursuant to the rules of the MPM 

ESOS

“Directors” : The directors of the Company as at the date of this Appendix

“EAR Group” : The Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies (including joint ventures)

“EPS” : Earnings per Share

“Exercise Price” The price at which a Participant shall subscribe for each Share upon the exercise of an 

Option, as determined in accordance with the rules of the MPM ESOS

“FY” : The fi nancial year ended or ending 30 September

“Group” : The Company and its subsidiaries

“Group Employee” : Any confi rmed employee of the Group (including any Group Executive Director) selected 

by the Committee to participate in the MPM Restricted Share Scheme, MPM Performance 

Share Scheme and/or MPM ESOS in accordance with the rules thereof

“Group Executive 
Director”

: A director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries, as the case may be, who performs an 

executive function

“Group Non-Executive 
Director”

: A director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries, as the case may be, other than a Group 

Executive Director

“IDX” : Indonesia Stock Exchange

“Independent 
Directors”

: Directors who are regarded as independent for the purpose of the Listing Manual, the IPT 

General Mandate and the proposed grant of Options to the Proposed Grantees, namely, any 

of Mr. Lim Han Boon, Mr. Sim Swee Yam Peter, and Mr. Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin

“Interested Person 
Transactions”

: The categories of transactions set out in paragraph 4 of the Annex A to this Appendix with 

the Interested Persons

“Interested Persons” : The categories of the Company’s interested persons set out in Section 3.1 of the Annex A 

to this Appendix

“IPT General Mandate” : A general mandate given by Shareholders pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual to 

authorise the EAR Group which are considered to be “entities at risk” within the meaning 

of Rule 904(2) of the Listing Manual, in their ordinary course of businesses, to enter into 

categories of transactions with specifi ed classes of the Company’s interested persons, 

provided that such transactions are entered into on an arm’s length basis and on  normal 

commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority 

shareholders

“IPT General Mandate 
Circular”

: The Company’s circular to Shareholders dated 10 January 2014 setting out, inter alia, the 

details of the IPT General Mandate

“January 2010 EGM” : The extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 28 January 2010

“January 2012 EGM” : The extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30 January 2012
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“January 2014 AGM” : The extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27 January 2014

“July 2012 EGM” : The extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 9 July 2012

“Latest Practicable 
Date”

: 30 December 2014, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this Appendix

“Lee Family” : Mr. Lee Wan Tang (our Executive Chairman), Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi (our Non-executive Director 

and the wife of Mr. Lee Wan Tang), Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng (our CEO and the son of Mr. Lee 

Wan Tang and Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi), Ms. Liely Lee (our Executive Director and the daughter of 

Mr. Lee Wan Tang and Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi) and Ms. Lina Lee (the daughter of Mr. Lee Wan 

Tang and Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi)

“Listing Manual” or 

“Listing Rules”

: The listing manual of the SGX-ST, or the rules contained therein, as amended, modifi ed or 

supplemented from time to time

“Market Day” : A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities

“Market Price” : The price equal to the average of the last dealt prices for a Share, as determined by 

reference to the daily offi cial list or other publication published by the SGX-ST for fi ve 

consecutive Market Days immediately preceding the relevant Offer Date, provided always 

that in the case of a Market Day on which the Shares are not traded on the SGX-ST, the last 

dealt price for Shares on such Market Day shall be deemed to be the last dealt price of the 

Shares which were traded, rounded up to the nearest whole cent in the event of fractional 

prices

“Market Purchase” : Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.3 of this Appendix

“Maximum Price” : Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.4 of this Appendix

“Memorandum” : Memorandum of association of the Company

“MPM ESOS” : The Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company.

“MPM Performance 
Share Scheme”

: The Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Performance Share Scheme adopted by the Company

“MPM Restricted 
Share Scheme”

: The Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Restricted Share Scheme adopted by the Company

“NAV” : Net asset value

“Notice of AGM” : The notice of the AGM as attached to the Annual Report

“NTA” : Net tangible assets

“Off-Market Purchase” : Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.3 of this Appendix

“Offer Date” : The date on which an offer to grant an Option is made

“Option” : The right to subscribe for Shares granted pursuant to the rules of the MPM ESOS

“Participant” : A Group Employee or Group Non-Executive Director who has been granted an Award/

Option, as the case may be

“Proposals” : Has the meaning ascribed to it in Paragraph 1 of this Appendix

“Proposed Grantees” : Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng and Ms. Liely Lee

“Prospectus” : The prospectus dated 26 October 2007 issued by the Company in connection with its initial 

public offering and listing and quotation of its Shares on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST
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“Relevant Period” : The period commencing from the date on which the AGM is held and expiring on the date 

the next annual general meeting is held or is required by law or the Articles to be held, 

whichever is the earlier, after the date the resolution relating to the Share Buyback Mandate 

is passed

“Schemes” : The MPM Restricted Share Scheme, MPM Performance Share Scheme and MPM ESOS 

collectively

“Schemes Circular” : The Company’s circular to Shareholders dated 22 June 2012 setting out, inter alia, the 

details of the Schemes

“SGX-ST” : Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

“Shareholders” : Registered holders of Shares except that where the registered holder is CDP, the term 

“Shareholders” shall, in relation to such Shares, mean the persons whose direct securities 

accounts maintained with CDP are credited with the Shares

“Share Buyback 
Mandate”

: A general mandate given by Shareholders to authorise the Directors to purchase, on behalf 

of the Company, Shares in accordance with the terms set out in this Appendix as well as 

the rules and regulations set forth in the Companies Act and the Listing Manual

“Shares” : Ordinary shares in the capital of the Company

“SRC” : As defi ned in paragraph 3.1(a) of the Annex A to this Appendix

“Substantial 
Shareholder”

: A Shareholder who has an interest in one or more voting shares in the Company and the 

total votes attached to those shares is not less than 5% of the total votes attached to all the 

voting shares in the Company

“Take-over Code” : The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers, as amended, modifi ed or supplemented 

from time to time

“Treasury Shares” : The Shares held in treasury by the Company

“Vesting Date” : The date on which an Award/Option for Shares is effectuated, as the case may be

“%” : Per centum or percentage

“S$”, “$” and 

“Singapore cents”

: Singapore dollars and Singapore cents respectively

The terms “Depositor”, “Depository Agent” and “Depository Register” shall have the respective meanings ascribed to 

them in Section 130A of the Companies Act.

Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa and words importing the masculine 

gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa. References to persons shall, where 

applicable, include corporations.

Any reference in this Appendix to any enactment is a reference to that enactment as for the time being amended or re-

enacted. Any word defi ned under the Companies Act, the Listing Manual or any modifi cation thereof and used in this 

Appendix shall have the meaning assigned to it under the Companies Act, the Listing Manual or any modifi cation thereof, 

as the case may be.

Any reference to a time of day in this Appendix shall be a reference to Singapore time unless stated otherwise. 

Any discrepancies in the tables included herein between the listed amounts and totals thereof are due to rounding.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

MARCO POLO MARINE LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration No. 200610073Z)

Directors: Registered Offi ce:
Mr. Lee Wan Tang (Executive Chairman) 66 Kallang Pudding Road,
Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng (Chief Executive Offi cer) #05-01 Hor Kew Business Centre
Ms. Liely Lee (Executive Director) Singapore 349324
Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi (Non-Executive Director)
Mr. Lim Han Boon (Lead Independent Director)
Mr. Sim Swee Yam Peter (Independent Director)
Mr. Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin (Independent Director) 

13 January 2015

To:  The Shareholders of the Company

Dear Sir/Madam

(1) THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE;

(2) THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE;

(3) THE PROPOSED GRANT OF OPTIONS TO MR. SEAN LEE YUN FENG PURSUANT TO THE MARCO POLO 
MARINE LTD. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME; AND

(4) THE PROPOSED GRANT OF OPTIONS TO MS. LIELY LEE PURSUANT TO THE MARCO POLO MARINE 
LTD. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME.

1. INTRODUCTION

 The Directors of the Company propose to table, for the Shareholders’ consideration and approval in respect of the 

following matters:

 (a) the renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate;

 (b) the renewal of the IPT General Mandate;

 (c) the grant of Options under the MPM ESOS to to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng, an Associate of a Controlling 

Shareholder of the Company; and

 (d) the grant of Options under the MPM ESOS to Ms. Liely Lee, an Associate of a Controlling Shareholder of the 

Company

 (collectively, the “Proposals”).

 The purpose of this Appendix is to provide Shareholders with information pertaining to the aforesaid Proposals, and 

to seek Shareholders’ approval in respect of the same at the AGM. The notice of AGM is attached to the Annual 

Report.



APPENDIX

MARCO POLO MARINE LTD |
ANNUAL REPORT 2014

115

2. THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE

 The Share Buyback Mandate was fi rst obtained at the January 2010 EGM and was last renewed at the January 

2014 EGM, such mandate being expressed to take effect until the conclusion of the Company’s forthcoming AGM. 

Accordingly, the Directors propose that the Share Buyback Mandate be renewed at the forthcoming AGM to be held 

on 29 January 2015, to take effect until the conclusion of the annual general meeting to be held in 2016 or such 

date as the next annual general meeting is required by law or by the Articles of the Company to be held; unless prior 

thereto, share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated or the Share Buyback Mandate is revoked or 

varied by the Company in a general meeting. 

 The terms of the mandate for share buybacks by the Company in respect of which the Share Buyback Mandate is 

sought to be renewed are set out in this Appendix for the easy reference of the Shareholders.

2.1 Rationale

 The Directors constantly seek to increase Shareholders’ value and to improve, inter alia, the return on equity of the 

Group. A share buyback at the appropriate price level is one of the ways through which the return on equity of the 

Group may be enhanced. 

 Share buybacks provide the Company with a mechanism to facilitate the return of surplus cash over and above its 

ordinary capital requirements in an expedient, effective and cost-effi cient manner. It will also provide the Directors 

with greater fl exibility over the Company’s share capital structure with a view to enhancing the EPS and/or NAV 

value per Share.

 The Directors further believe that share buybacks by the Company will help mitigate short-term market volatility, 

offset the effects of short-term speculation and bolster Shareholder confi dence.

 If and when circumstances permit, the Directors will decide whether to effect the Share purchases via Market 

Purchases or Off-Market Purchases, after taking into account the amount of surplus cash available, the prevailing 

market conditions and the most cost-effective and effi cient approach. As before, the Directors do not propose to 

carry out share buybacks to an extent that would, or in circumstances that might, result in a material adverse effect 

on the liquidity and/or the orderly trading of the Shares and/or the fi nancial position of the Group.

2.2 Mandate

 Approval was sought from Shareholders at the January 2014 AGM for the renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate 

for the purchase or acquisition by the Company of its issued Shares. With the approval, the Share Buyback 

Mandate took effect from the date of the January 2014 AGM and will continue in force until the date of the 

forthcoming AGM, or such date as the next annual general meeting is required by law or by the Articles of the 

Company to be held; unless prior thereto, share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated or the Share 

Buyback Mandate is revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting.

 Approval is being sought from Shareholders at the AGM for the renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate for the 

purchase or acquisition by the Company of its issued Shares. If approved, the Share Buyback Mandate will take 

effect from the date of the AGM and will continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of 

the Company or such date as the next annual general meeting is required by law or by the Articles of the Company 

to be held; unless prior thereto, share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated or the Share Buyback 

Mandate is revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting.
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2.3 The Terms of the Mandate

 The authority for and limitations placed on purchases of Shares by the Company under the Share Buyback Mandate 

are summarized below:

 2.3.1 Maximum number of Shares

  Only Shares which are issued and fully paid-up may be purchased or acquired by the Company. 

  The total number of Shares that may be purchased or acquired by the Company during the Relevant Period 

or within any one fi nancial year of the Company, whichever is the earlier, is limited to that number of Shares 

representing not more than ten per cent (10%) of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 

the date of the AGM at which the Share Buyback Mandate is approved (unless the Company has effected a 

reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies 

Act at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the issued ordinary share capital of the Company 

shall be taken to be the amount of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as altered).

  For illustrative purposes only, based on the existing issued and paid-up share capital of the Company 

as at the Latest Practicable Date, comprising 337,379,000 Shares, and assuming that no further Shares 

are issued on or prior to the AGM, not more than 33,737,900 Shares (representing ten per cent (10%) of 

the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company as at that date) may be purchased or acquired by the 

Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate. 

 2.3.2 Duration of authority

  Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, on and from the date 

of the AGM at which the Share Buyback Mandate is approved, up to the earlier of:

  (a)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which such annual 

general meeting is required to be held;

  (b)  the date on which the share buybacks are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

  (c) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or revoked by the 

Company in a general meeting.

 2.3.3 Manner of purchase of Shares

  Purchases of Shares may be made by way of, inter alia:

  (a)  on-market purchases (“Market Purchase”), transacted on the SGX-ST through the ready market, as 

the case may be, any other stock exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed and 

quoted, through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; 

and/or

  (b)  off-market purchases (“Off-Market Purchase”) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in 

accordance with an equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as 

they may consider fi t, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies 

Act and the Listing Manual.

  Under the Companies Act, an equal access scheme must satisfy all of the following conditions:

  (a)  offers for the purchase or acquisition of issued shares shall be made to every person who holds 

issued shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their issued Shares;

  (b)  all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made; and
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  (c)  the terms of all the offers are the same, except that there shall be disregarded:

   (i)  differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to shares with 

different accrued dividend entitlements;

   (ii)  (if applicable) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers relate to shares 

with different amounts remaining unpaid; and

   (iii)  differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole 

number of shares.

  In addition, the Listing Manual provides that, in making an Off-Market Purchase, the Company must issue an 

offer document to all Shareholders which must contain at least the following information:

  (a)  the terms and conditions of the offer;

  (b)  the period and procedures for acceptances;

  (c)  the reasons for the proposed share buyback;

  (d)  the consequences, if any, of share buybacks by the Company that will arise under the Take-over 

Code or other applicable take-over rules;

  (e)  whether the share buyback, if made, would have any effect on the listing of the Shares on the SGX-

ST; 

  (f)  details of any share buyback made by the Company in the previous 12 months (whether Market 

Purchases or Off-Market Purchases), giving the total number of Shares purchased, the purchase 

price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for the purchases, where relevant, and the total 

consideration paid for the purchases; and

  (g) whether the Shares purchased by the Company will be cancelled or kept as treasury shares.

 2.3.4 Maximum purchase price

  The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related 

expenses) to be paid for the Shares will be determined by the Directors. However, the purchase price to be 

paid for a Share as determined by the Directors must not exceed:

  (a)  in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price (as defi ned hereinafter); and

  (b)  in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Highest 

Last Dealt Price (as defi ned hereinafter), 

  (the “Maximum Price”) in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase.

  For the above purposes:

  “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last fi ve 

Market Days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, 

and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant fi ve-day period;

  “Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the Market Day 

on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the day of the making of the offer pursuant 

to the Off-Market Purchase; and

  “day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to make 

an offer for the purchase of Shares from Shareholders, stating the purchase price (which shall not be more 

than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the 

equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.
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2.4 Status of Purchased Shares under the Share Buyback Mandate

 A Share purchased or acquired by the Company is deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition (and 

all rights and privileges attached to the Share will expire on such cancellation) unless such Share is held by the 

Company as a treasury share. Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number of 

Shares purchased or acquired by the Company and which are not held as treasury shares.

2.5 Treasury Shares

 Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury 

shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act are summarized below:

 2.5.1 Maximum holdings

  The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total number of issued 

Shares.

 2.5.2 Voting and other rights

  The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares. In particular, the Company cannot 

exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of the Companies Act, the Company 

shall be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting rights.

  In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company’s assets may be made, to 

the Company in respect of treasury shares. However, the allotment of shares as fully paid bonus shares in 

respect of treasury shares is allowed. Also, a subdivision or consolidation of any treasury share into treasury 

shares of a smaller amount is allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or 

consolidation is the same as before.

 2.5.3 Disposal and cancellation

  Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time:

  (a)  sell the treasury shares for cash;

  (b)  transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to any relevant employees’ share scheme;

  (c)  transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another 

company or assets of a person;

  (d)  cancel the treasury shares; or

  (e)  sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed by 

the Minister for Finance.

2.6 Source of Funds for Share Buyback

 The Companies Act, subject to the Articles, permits the Company to purchase its own Shares out of capital, as well 

as from its distributable profi ts, provided that:

 (a)  the Company is able to pay its debts in full at the time it purchases the Shares and will be able to pay its 

debts as they fall due in the normal course of business in the 12 months immediately following the purchase; 

and

 (b)  the value of the Company’s assets is not less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities) 

and will not after the purchase of Shares become less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent 

liabilities).
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 Further, for purposes of determining the value of a contingent liability, the Directors or managers of the Company 

may take into account the following:

 

 (a)  the likelihood of the contingency occurring; and

 (b)  any claim the Company is entitled to make and can reasonably expect to be met to reduce or extinguish the 

contingent liability.

 The Company may use internal sources of funds and/or external borrowings to fi nance the Company’s purchase 

or acquisition of the Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate. The Directors will only make purchases or 

acquisitions pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate in circumstances which they believe will not result in any 

material adverse effect to the fi nancial position of the Company or the Group.

2.7 Financial Effects of the Share Buyback Mandate

 The fi nancial effects on the Company and the Group arising from purchase or acquisition of Shares which may 

be made pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate will depend on, inter alia, the number of Shares purchased or 

acquired, whether such purchase or acquisition is made out of capital and/or profi ts, and the price paid for such 

Shares. The fi nancial effects on the Company and the Group, based on the audited fi nancial statements of the 

Company and the Group for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014, are based on the following principal 

assumptions:

 (a)  the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate had taken place on 1 

October 2013 for the purpose of computing the fi nancial effects on the EPS of the Group and the Company;

 (b) the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate had taken place on 30 

September 2014 for the purpose of computing the fi nancial effects on the shareholders’ equity, NAV per 

Share and gearing of the Group and the Company;

 (c) the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate is assumed to be fi nanced by 

internal funds; and

 (d)  transaction costs incurred for the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate 

are assumed to be insignifi cant and have been ignored for the purpose of computing the fi nancial effects.

 2.7.1 Purchase or acquisition out of capital

  Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of 

capital, the amount of distributable profi ts available for cash dividends by the Company will not be reduced.

 2.7.2 Proforma fi nancial effects

  For illustrative purposes only, and on the basis of the assumptions set out below, the proforma fi nancial 

effects of the acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate by way of (i) 

purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled and (ii) by way of purchases made entirely out of capital 

and held as treasury shares, on the audited fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company for the 

fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 (the “Audited Financial Statements”) are set out below.

  (a)  Purchases made entirely out of capital and Shares repurchased are cancelled

   Market Purchases

   For illustrative purposes only, in a market purchase, assuming that the Maximum Price is 

S$0.293, which is fi ve per cent (5%) above the average of the closing market prices of a Share 

over the last fi ve Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately 

preceding the Latest Practicable Date, the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of 

up to 33,737,900 Shares (representing ten per cent (10%) of the total issued share capital of the 

Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, which is the maximum number of Shares the Company is 
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allowed to purchase) under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately 

S$9,885,205. On these assumptions and further assuming the purchase of Shares was fi nanced by 

external borrowings, the effect of the purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share 

Buyback Mandate on the EPS, the shareholders’ equity, NAV per Share and gearing of the Group and 

the Company are as follows:

The Group The Company
Per audited 

fi nancial 
statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback

Per audited 
fi nancial 

statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback
S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

As at 30 September 2014
Share capital 59,239 49,354 59,239 49,354

Translation reserves 743 743 0 0

Other reserves 616 616 0 0

Retained earnings 107,798 107,798 492 492

Non-controlling interests 52,125 52,125 0 0

Total shareholders equity 220,521 210,636 59,731 49,846

Non-current assets 384,016 384,016 10.770 10,770

Current assets 99,295 99,295 100,757 100,757

Current liabilities (154,466) (164,351) (1,796) (11,681)

Non-current liabilities (108,324) (108,324) (50,000) (50,000)

NAV 220,521 210,636 59,731 49,846

Total borrowings 223,909 233,794 50,000 59,885

Cash and bank balance 25,772 25,772 5,789 5,789

Number of shares outstanding as at 

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Weighted average number of shares

 outstanding during the year ended

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Financial Ratios
NAV per share (Singapore cents)(1) 64.7 69.4 17.5 16.4

Gearing(2) 0.90 0.99 0.74 1.09

EPS (Singapore cents)(3) 2.98 3.34 2.98 3.34

   Notes:

   (1)  NAV per Share equals to NAV divided by the number of Shares outstanding as at 30 

September 2014.

   (2)  Gearing equals to total bank and other borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents divided by 

total equity.

   (3)  EPS equals to profi t attributable to Shareholders divided by the weighted average number of 

Shares outstanding during the year ended 30 September 2014.
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   Off-Market Purchase

   For illustrative purposes only, in an off-market purchase, assuming that the Maximum Price is 

S$0.330, which is twenty per cent (20%) above the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded 

on the Market Day on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the Latest 

Practicable Date, the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of up to 33,737,900 

Shares (representing approximately ten per cent (10%) of the total issued share capital of the 

Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, which is the maximum number of Shares the Company is 

allowed to purchase) under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately 

S$11,133,507. On these assumptions and further assuming the purchase of Shares was fi nanced by 

external borrowings and the effect of the purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share 

Buyback Mandate on the EPS, the shareholders’ equity, NAV per Share and gearing of the Group and 

the Company are as follows:

The Group The Company

Per audited 
fi nancial 

statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback

Per audited 
fi nancial 

statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

As at 30 September 2014

Share capital 59,239 48,105 59,239 48,105

Translation reserves 743 743 0 0

Other reserves 616 616 0 0

Retained earnings 107,798 107,798 492 492

Non-controlling interests 52,125 52,125 0 0

Total shareholders equity 220,521 209,387 59,731 48,597

Non-current assets 384,016 384,016 10.770 10,770

Current assets 99,295 99,295 100,757 100,757

Current liabilities (154,466) (165,600) (1,796) (12,930)

Non-current liabilities (108,324) (108,324) (50,000) (50,000)

NAV 220,521 209,387 59,731 48,597

Total borrowings 223,909 235,043 50,000 61,134

Cash and bank balances 25,772 25,772 5,789 5,789

Number of shares outstanding as at 

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Weighted average number of shares

 outstanding during the year ended 

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Financial Ratios

NAV per share (Singapore cents)(1) 64.7 69.0 17.5 16.0

Gearing(2) 0.90 1.00 0.74 1.14

EPS (Singapore cents)(3) 2.98 3.34 2.98 3.34

   Notes:

   (1)  NAV per Share equals to NAV divided by the number of Shares outstanding as at 30 September 2014.

   (2)  Gearing equals to total bank and other borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents divided by total equity.

   (3)  EPS equals to profi t attributable to Shareholders divided by the weighted average number of Shares 

outstanding during the year ended 30 September 2014.
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  (b) Purchases made entirely out of capital and Shares repurchased are held as treasury shares

   Market Purchases

   For illustrative purposes only, in a market purchase, assuming that the Maximum Price is S$0.293, 

which is fi ve per cent (5%) above the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last 

fi ve Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding the Latest 

Practicable Date, the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of up to 33,737,900  

Shares (representing ten per cent (10%) of the total issued share capital of the Company as 

at the Latest Practicable Date, which is the maximum number of Shares the Company is allowed 

to purchase) under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately 

S$9,885,205. On these assumptions and further assuming the purchase of Shares was fi nanced by 

external borrowings and the effect of the purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share 

Buyback Mandate on the EPS, the shareholders’ equity, NAV per Share and gearing of the Group and 

the Company are as follows:

The Group The Company

Per audited 
fi nancial 

statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback

Per audited 
fi nancial 

statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

As at 30 September 2014

Share capital 59,239 59,239 59,239 59,239

Translation reserves 743 743 0 0

Other reserves 616 616 0 0

Retained earnings 107,798 107,798 492 492

Non-controlling interests 52,125 52,125 0 0

Treasury share 0 (9,885) 0 (9,885)

Total shareholders equity 220,521 210,636 59,731 49,846

Non-current assets 384,016 384,016 10.770 10,770

Current assets 99,295 99,295 100,757 100,757

Current liabilities (154,466) (164,351) (1,796) (11,681)

Non-current liabilities (108,324) (108,324) (50,000) (50,000)

NAV 220,521 210,636 59,731 49,846

Total borrowings 223,909 233,794 50,000 59,885

Cash and bank balance 25,772 25,772 5,789 5,789

Number of shares outstanding as at

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Weighted average number of shares

 outstanding during the year ended 

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Financial Ratios

NAV per share (Singapore cents)(1) 64.7 69.4 17.5 16.4

Gearing(2) 0.898 0.99 0.74 1.09

EPS (Singapore cents)(3) 2.98 3.34 2.98 3.34

   Notes:

   (1)  NAV per Share equals to NAV divided by the number of Shares outstanding as at 30 September 2014.

   (2)  Gearing equals to total bank and other borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents divided by total equity.

   (3)  EPS equals to profi t attributable to Shareholders divided by the weighted average number of Shares 

outstanding during the year ended 30 September 2014.
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   Off-Market Purchase

   For illustrative purposes only, in an off-market purchase, assuming that the Maximum Price is 

S$0.330, which is twenty per cent (20%) above the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded 

on the Market Day on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the Latest 

Practicable Date, the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of up to 33,737,900  

Shares (representing approximately ten per cent (10%) of the total issued share capital of the 

Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, which is the maximum number of Shares the Company is 

allowed to purchase) under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately 

S$11,133,507. On these assumptions and further assuming the purchase of Shares was fi nanced by 

external borrowings and the effect of the purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share 

Buyback Mandate on the EPS of the Group, the shareholders’ equity, NAV per Share and gearing of 

the Group and the Company are as follows:

The Group The Company

Per audited 
fi nancial 

statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback

Per audited 
fi nancial 

statements

Proforma
after share 

buyback

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

As at 30 September 2014

Share capital 59,239 59,239 59,239 59,239

Translation reserves 743 743 0 0

Other reserves 616 616 0 0

Retained earnings 107,798 107,798 492 492

Non-controlling interests 52,125 52,125 0 0

Treasury share 0 (11,134) 0 (11,134)

Total shareholders equity 220,521 209,387 59,731 48,597

Non-current assets 384,016 384,016 10.770 10,770

Current assets 99,295 99,295 100,757 100,757

Current liabilities (154,466) (165,600) (1,796) (12,930)

Non-current liabilities (108,324) (108,324) (50,000) (50,000)

NAV 220,521 209,387 59,731 48,597

Total borrowings 223,909 235,043 50,000 61,134

Cash and bank balances 25,772 25,772 5,789 5,789

Number of shares outstanding as at

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Weighted average number of shares

 outstanding during the year ended 

30 September 2014 (’000) 340,750 303,641 340,750 303,641

Financial Ratios

NAV per share (Singapore cents)(1) 64.7 69.0 17.5 16.0

Gearing(2) 0.898 1.00 0.74 1.14

EPS (Singapore cents)(3) 2.98 3.34 2.98 3.34

 
   Notes:

   (1)  NAV per Share equals to NAV divided by the number of Shares outstanding as at 30 September 2014.

   (2)  Gearing equals to total bank and other borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents divided by total equity.

   (3)  EPS equals to profi t attributable to Shareholders divided by the weighted average number of Shares 

outstanding during the year ended 30 September 2014.
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 Shareholders should note that the proforma fi nancial effects set out above are for illustrative purposes 
only. Although the Share Buyback Mandate would authorise the Company to purchase or acquire up 
to ten per cent (10%) of the issued Shares, the Company may not necessarily purchase or acquire 
or be able to purchase or acquire the entire ten per cent (10%) of the issued Shares. In addition, the 
Company may cancel all or part of the Shares repurchased or hold all or part of the Shares repurchased 
in treasury.

2.8 Taxation

 Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax provisions or any tax implications arising from the Share 

Buy Back Mandate or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than Singapore should consult their own 

professional advisers.

2.9 Listing Rules

 The Listing Manual specifi es that a listed company shall report all purchases or acquisitions of its shares to the SGX-

ST not later than 9.00 a.m. (a) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day of purchase 

or acquisition of any of its shares and (b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, 

by 9.00 a.m. on the second Market Day after the close of acceptances of the offer. Such announcement currently 

requires the inclusion of details of the total number of shares purchased, the purchase price per share or the highest 

and lowest prices paid for such shares, as applicable.

 While the Listing Manual does not expressly prohibit any purchase of shares by a listed company during any 

particular time or times, because the listed company would be regarded as an “insider” in relation to any proposed 

purchase or acquisition of its issued shares, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares 

pursuant to the proposed Share Buyback Mandate at any time after a price sensitive development has occurred or 

has been the subject of a decision, until the price sensitive information has been publicly announced. In particular, 

in line with the best practices guide on securities dealings issued by the SGX-ST, the Company would not purchase 

or acquire any Shares through Market Purchases during the period commencing two weeks immediately preceding 

the announcement of the Company’s fi nancial statements for each of the fi rst three quarters of its fi nancial year and 

one month immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s fi nancial statements for its annual (full-year) 

results, and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results. 

 The Listing Manual requires a listed company to ensure that at least ten per cent (10%) of any class of its listed 

securities must be held by public shareholders. As at the Latest Practicable Date, approximately 39.99% of the 

issued Shares were held by public Shareholders. Accordingly, the Company is of the view that there is a suffi cient 

number of the Shares in issue held by public Shareholders which would permit the Company to undertake 

purchases or acquisitions of its Shares through Market Purchases up to the full ten per cent (10%) limit pursuant to 

the Share Buyback Mandate without affecting the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST, and that the number 

of Shares remaining in the hands of the public will not fall to such a level as to cause market illiquidity or to affect 

orderly trading.

2.10 Take-Over Obligations

 Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code contains the Share Buy-Back Guidance Note applicable as at the Latest 

Practicable Date. The take-over implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares 

are set out below:

 Obligation to make a take-over offer

 If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares, a Shareholder’s proportionate interest in 

the voting capital of the Company increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of Rule 

14 of the Take-over Code. If such increase results in a change of effective control, or, as a result of such increase, 

a Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert obtains or consolidates effective control of the Company, 

such Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert could become obliged to make a mandatory take-over 

offer for the Company under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.
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 Persons acting in concert

 Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to an 

agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), cooperate, through the acquisition by any of them of 

shares in a company, to obtain or consolidate effective control of that company.

 Unless the contrary is established, the following persons will, inter alia, be presumed to be acting in concert:

 (a)  A company with its parent company, subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, any associated companies of 

the aforesaid companies, and any company whose associated companies include any of the aforesaid 

companies. For this purpose, a company is an associated company of another company if the second 

company owns or controls at least twenty per cent (20%) but not more than fi fty per cent (50%) of the voting 

rights of the fi rst-mentioned company;

 (b)  A company with any of its directors (together with their close relatives, related trusts as well as companies 

controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and related trusts);

 (c)  A company with any of its pension funds and employee share schemes;

 (d)  A person with any investment company, unit trust or other fund in respect of the investment account which 

such person manages on a discretionary basis;

 (e)  A fi nancial or other professional adviser (including a stockbroker), with its clients in respect of the 

shareholdings of the adviser and the persons controlling, controlled by or under the same control as the 

adviser and all the funds which the adviser manages on a discretionary basis, where the shareholding of 

the adviser and any of those funds in the client total ten per cent (10%) or more of the client’s equity share 

capital;

 (f)  Directors of a company, together with their close relatives, related trusts and companies controlled by any of 

them, which is subject to an offer or where they have reason to believe a bona fi de offer for their company 

may be imminent;

 (g)  Partners; 

 (h)  An individual, his close relatives, his related trusts, and any person who is accustomed to act according to 

his instructions and companies controlled by any of the aforesaid persons; and

 (i)  Any person who has provided fi nancial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of business) to 

any of the above for the purchase of voting rights.

 The circumstances under which Shareholders of the Company (including Directors of the Company) and persons 

acting in concert with them respectively will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 after a 

purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.

 Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code

 In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 is that, unless exempted, Directors of the Company and 

persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make a takeover offer for the Company under Rule 

14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting rights of such Directors and their 

concert parties, being in aggregate less than thirty per cent (30%) before such purchase or acquisition, would 

increase to thirty per cent (30%) or more, or if the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties fall 

between thirty per cent (30%) and fi fty per cent (50%) of the Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of such 

Directors and their concert parties would increase by more than one per cent (1%) in any period of six (6) months.

 Under Appendix 2, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the Directors of the Company will not be required to 

make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting 

rights of such Shareholder in the Company would increase to thirty per cent (30%) or more, or, if such Shareholder 

holds between thirty per cent (30%) and fi fty per cent (50%) of the Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of such 

Shareholder would increase by more than one per cent (1%) in any period of six (6) months. Such Shareholder need 

not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the Share Buyback Mandate.
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2.11 Application of the Singapore Code On Takeovers And Mergers

 Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any fact(s) or factor(s) which suggest or imply that any 

particular person(s) and/or Shareholder(s) are, or may be regarded as, parties acting in concert such that their 

respective interests in voting Shares should or ought to be consolidated, and consequences under the Take-over 

Code would ensue as a result of a purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate.

 Shareholders who are in doubt as to their obligations, if any, to make a mandatory take-over offer under 
the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company should consult 
the SIC and/or their professional advisers at the earliest opportunity.

 Shareholding of the certain parties before and after Share purchases under the Share Buyback Mandate (for 

illustrative purposes only)

 Based on the shareholding interest of the parties listed below as at the Latest Practicable Date and assuming that:

 (a)  the Company undertakes Share purchases under the Share Buyback Mandate up to the maximum of 10% 

of the issued share capital of the Company as permitted by the Share Buyback Mandate;

 (b)  there is no change in the holding of Shares between the Latest Practicable Date and the date of the AGM;

 (c)  no new Shares are issued following approval being received from Shareholders at the AGM for the Share 

Buyback Mandate; and

 (d)  the parties as set out below do not sell or otherwise dispose of their holding of Shares,

 their holding of Shares as at the date of the AGM and after the purchase by the Company of 10% of the issued 

share capital of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate is as follows:

Before Share buyback
(as at the Latest Practicable Date) After Share buyback

Direct Interest Deemed Interest Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Number
of Shares %

Number
of Shares %

Number
of Shares %

Number
of Shares %

Nautical Holdings

International Ltd(1) 130,057,374 38.55 62,842,000 18.63 130,057,374 42.83 62,842,000 20.70

Lee Wan Tang(2) – – 203,421,374 60.29 – – 203,421,374 66.99

 Notes:

 (1)  Nautical International Holdings Ltd is deemed interested in 14,628,000 Shares held by Philip Securities Pte Ltd., 6,214,000 

Shares held by Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd and 42,000,000 Shares held by DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd, of 

which Nautical International Holdings Ltd is the benefi cial owner.

 (2)  Mr. Lee Wan Tang is deemed interested in the Shares held by Nautical International Holdings Ltd, 447,000 Shares held by 

Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd, 1,800,000 Shares held by Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd, 5,465,000 Shares 

held by UOB Kay Hian Private Limited and 2,810,000 by HSBC (Singapore) Nominee Pte Ltd, of which Mr. Lee Wan Tang is 

the benefi cial owner.

2.12 Shares Purchased by the Company

 In the last 12 months preceding the Latest Practicable Date, the Company purchased 3,371,000 Shares by way 

of Market Purchase pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate granted at the January 2014 EGM. The highest and 

lowest price paid was S$0.31 and S$0.275 per Share respectively. The total consideration paid for the purchases 

was S$1,003,204.
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3. THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE IPT GENERAL MANDATE

 As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company had initially obtained an IPT General Mandate from its shareholders at 

an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 September 2007. 

 The IPT General Mandate has been subsequently modifi ed by way of Shareholders’ approval, the latest modifi cation 

being at the January 2014 EGM. The details of the current IPT General Mandate were set out in the IPT General 

Mandate Circular, such mandate being expressed to take effect until the conclusion of the Company’s forthcoming 

AGM. Accordingly, the Directors propose that the IPT General Mandate be renewed at the forthcoming AGM, to 

take effect until the conclusion of the annual general meeting to be held in 2016. 

 The IPT General Mandate Circular contained the terms of the general mandate from Shareholders pursuant to 

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, whereby authority was given to enable the EAR Group, in their ordinary course 

of businesses, to enter into categories of transactions with specifi ed classes of the Company’s interested persons, 

provided that such transactions are entered into on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms. The 

terms of the general mandate for interested person transactions by the EAR Group in respect of which the IPT 

General Mandate is sought to be renewed are set out in the Annex A to this Appendix for the easy reference of the 

Shareholders.

3.1 Details of the IPT General Mandate

 Details of the IPT General Mandate, including the rationale for, and the benefi ts to, the Company, the review 

procedures for determining transaction prices with interested persons and other general information relating to 

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, are set out in the Annex A to this Appendix.

3.2 Audit Committee Statement

 The Audit Committee, save for Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi who is deemed to be interested in the Interested Person 

Transactions, confi rms that:

 (a) the methods and procedures for determining the transaction prices under the IPT General Mandate have not 

changed since the January 2014 EGM; and

 (a) the methods and procedures referred to in paragraph (a) above are suffi cient to ensure that the transactions 

will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company 

and its minority Shareholders.

4. THE PROPOSED GRANT OF OPTIONS TO ASSOCIATES OF A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER 
OF THE COMPANY

4.1 The MPM ESOS

 The MPM ESOS was adopted by the Company at the July 2012 EGM for the purpose of enabling the Company 

to grant Options to eligible Participants as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Company. Under the 

MPM ESOS, the Committee may, at their discretion, invite eligible Participants to take up Options to subscribe for 

Shares.

 A summary of the rules of the MPM ESOS is set out in Annex B to this Appendix. Further details on the Schemes, 

including the MPM ESOS, can be found in the Schemes Circular.

 At the July 2012 EGM, Shareholders also approved the participation of the Proposed Grantees, Mr. Sean Lee 

Yun Feng and Ms. Liely Lee, both of whom are Associates of Mr. Lee Wan Tang, a Controlling Shareholder of the 

Company, in, inter alia, the MPM ESOS.

 Pursuant to Rule 853 of the Listing Manual, specifi c approval of independent Shareholders must be obtained by 

a separate resolution for the grant of Options to each of the Proposed Grantees (including the actual number of 

Options to be granted to them and the specifi c terms thereof).
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4.2 Rationale and Justifi cation for the Participation of Controlling Shareholders and their Associates in the 
MPM ESOS

 As disclosed in the Schemes Circular, it is the intention of the Company that all employees of the Group, including 

those who are Controlling Shareholders and their Associates, should be remunerated for their contribution to the 

Group on the same basis with no differentiation between employees who are Controlling Shareholders and their 

Associates, and employees who are not. The extension of, inter alia, the MPM ESOS to allow the participation 

of Controlling Shareholders and their Associates will ensure that they are equally entitled, with the other Group 

Employees who are not Controlling Shareholders or their Associates, to take part and benefi t from this system of 

remuneration. The Company is of the view that Controlling Shareholders and their Associates should not be unduly 

discriminated against by virtue only for their shareholdings in the Company.

 The Company is also of the view that the extension of, inter alia, the MPM ESOS to Controlling Shareholders and 

their Associates will enhance their long-term commitment to the Group as it will ensure that they will continue to 

have a stake in the Company even if they decrease their shareholdings in the Company in the future.

 The Directors (except for those who are Controlling Shareholders or their Associates) are of the view that the 

participation in, inter alia, the MPM ESOS by the Controlling Shareholders and their Associates: (i) will act as an 

additional incentive for the Controlling Shareholders and their Associates, who are employees and Directors of any 

company within the Group, to improve their performance, as the value of the Options will be best realised when 

the result of their performance correlate directly with higher values of the Shares; and (ii) is in the best interests of 

the Company as such Controlling Shareholders and their Associates are able to help to set the vision and direction 

of the Group, defi ne objectives and roles of management and thus stand in a unique position to contribute to the 

growth and prosperity of the Group.

 As a safeguard against abuse, all members of the Board (and not just members of the Committee) who are neither 

Controlling Shareholders nor their Associates will be involved in deliberations in respect of, inter alia, Options to 

be granted to or held by Controlling Shareholders and their Associates and the terms and conditions, including 

the vesting periods attached to such Options. Furthermore, specifi c approval of the independent Shareholders is 

required for the grant of Options to Controlling Shareholders and their Associates as well as the actual number of 

and terms of such Options.

4.3 Proposed Grant of Options to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng

 4.3.1 Rationale

 

  As the Company’s Chief Executive Offi cer, Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng has been and will continue to be 

responsible for the overall management and day-to-day operations of the Group, as well as the formulation 

of the Group’s business directions, strategies and policies. He has been instrumental in initiating and 

penetrating new markets for both the shipping and shipyard operations of the Group. On the operational 

front, he has also introduced a slew of strategic operational measures which greatly improved the effi ciency 

of the Group’s fl eet of vessels. He continues to spearhead the Group’s shipyard operations.

  By granting Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng the Options, the Company hopes to inculcate in him a stronger and 

more lasting sense of identifi cation with the Group. The Options will also help retain and provide incentives 

to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng to encourage greater dedication and loyalty by giving him recognition for past 

contributions and services as well as motivating him to contribute further towards the Group’s long-term 

prosperity. 

  In addition, the grant of the Options helps to fulfi ll the Company’s primary long-term objective of motivating 

deserving and eligible employees to optimise their performance standards. The Options, which are subject to 

the vesting schedule as set out in the rules of the MPM ESOS, will motivate Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng to strive 

for superior performance and to deliver long-term Shareholder value, as well as serve to enhance the Group’s 

overall compensation packages.
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 4.3.2 Proposed Grant of Options to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng under the MPM ESOS 

  Subject to the approval of independent Shareholders at the EGM, the Company proposes to grant Options 

under the MPM ESOS to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng on the following terms:-

(a) Proposed Date of Grant: No later than three months after Shareholders’ approval is obtained

(b) Proposed Number of 

Shares comprised in the 

proposed Options:

Up to 500,000 Shares (representing approximately 0.15% of the total 

number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable

Date)

(c) Exercise Price Per Share: To be fi xed by the Committee in accordance with Rule 9 of the rules 

of the MPM ESOS, a summary of which is set out in paragraph 4 of 

Annex B to this Appendix

(d) Exercise Period: In accordance with Rule 11 of the rules of the MPM ESOS, Options 

granted:

(i) with the Exercise Price set at the Market Price shall only be 
exercisable, in whole or in part (provided that an Option may 
be exercised in part only in respect of 1,000 Shares or any 
multiple thereof) at any time, by a Participant after the fi rst 
anniversary of the date of grant of that Option; and

(ii) with the Exercise Price set at a discount to the Market Price 
shall only be exercisable, in whole or in part (provided that 
an Option may be exercised in part only in respect of 1,000 
Shares or any multiple thereof) at any time, by a Participant 
after the second anniversary of the date of grant of that 
Option,

provided always that Options granted to Group Employees shall be 

exercised before the 10th anniversary of the relevant date of grant and 

Options granted to Group Non-Executive Directors shall be exercised 

before the fi fth anniversary of the relevant date of grant, or such 

earlier date as may be determined by the Committee, failing which all 

unexercised Options shall immediately lapse and become null and void 

and a Participant shall have no claim against the Company.

4.4 Proposed Grant of Options to Ms. Liely Lee

 4.4.1 Rationale

  As an Executive Director of the Company, Ms. Liely Lee has been instrumental in the Group’s strategic 

planning and management, implementing the Group’s corporate policies and developing the Group’s 

businesses. The Directors believe that Ms. Liely Lee has made and will continue to make invaluable 

contributions to the Group.

  Further, the Group’s success is dependent on its ability to retain key management. Particularly, Ms. Liely 

Lee’s continual leadership and commitment to the Group will be critical as the Group embarks on its next 

phase of growth, and the loss of the services of Ms. Liely Lee without an adequate timely replacement could 

have an adverse impact on its turnover and profi ts. Thus, the proposed grant of the Options to Ms. Liely Lee 

would continue to motivate her to contribute to the long-term objectives and success of the Group and to 

further enhance value for the Company and its Shareholders.

  The number of Options proposed to be granted to Ms. Liely Lee was determined after taking into account 

her responsibilities, length of service, past and present contributions and potential for future development 

and contribution towards the long-term objectives of the Group. The Directors are of the view that Ms. Liely 

Lee’s remuneration package (including the Options which are proposed to be granted) is fair, given the 

contribution she has made to the Group and at the same time, this also serves to strengthen Ms. Liely Lee’s 

deep sense of existing commitment to the Group.
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 4.4.2 Proposed Grant of Options to Ms. Liely Lee under the MPM ESOS 

  Subject to the approval of independent Shareholders at the EGM, the Company proposes to grant Options 

under the MPM ESOS to Ms Liely Lee on the following terms:-

(a) Proposed Date of Grant: No later than three months after Shareholders’ approval is obtained

(b) Proposed Number of Shares 

comprised in the proposed 

Options:

Up to 500,000 Shares (representing approximately 0.15% of the total 

number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date)

(c) Exercise Price Per Share: To be fi xed by the Committee in accordance with Rule 9 of the rules 

of the MPM ESOS, a summary of which is set out in paragraph 4 of 

Annex B to this Appendix

(d) Exercise Period: In accordance with Rule 11 of the rules of the MPM ESOS, Options 

granted:

(i) with the Exercise Price set at the Market Price shall only be 

exercisable, in whole or in part (provided that an Option may be 

exercised in part only in respect of 1,000 Shares or any multiple 

thereof) at any time, by a Participant after the fi rst anniversary of 

the date of grant of that Option; and

(ii) with the Exercise Price set at a discount to the Market Price 

shall only be exercisable, in whole or in part (provided that an 

Option may be exercised in part only in respect of 1,000 Shares 

or any multiple thereof) at any time, by a Participant after the 

second anniversary of the date of grant of that Option,

provided always that Options granted to Group Employees shall be 

exercised before the 10th anniversary of the relevant date of grant and 

Options granted to Group Non-Executive Directors shall be exercised 

before the fi fth anniversary of the relevant date of grant, or such 

earlier date as may be determined by the Committee, failing which all 

unexercised Options shall immediately lapse and become null and void 

and a Participant shall have no claim against the Company.

4.5 Limits on grant of Awards and Options to Controlling Shareholders and their Associates

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, the total number of issued Shares is 337,379,000.

 Under the Listing Manual, the number of Shares issued and/or issuable in respect of:

 (a) all Awards granted under the MPM Restricted Share Scheme;

 (b) all Awards granted under the MPM Performance Share Scheme;

 (c) all Options granted under the MPM ESOS; and

 (d) all Awards/Options granted under any other schemes implemented by the Company (if any),

 shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding Treasury Shares).

 The aggregate number of Shares for which Options may be granted under the MPM ESOS to Controlling 

Shareholders and their Associates shall not exceed 25% of the Shares available under the MPM ESOS.

 The number of Shares for which Options may be granted under the MPM ESOS to each Controlling Shareholder or 

his Associate shall not exceed 10% of the Shares available under the MPM ESOS.
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 Based on the fi gures as set out in Sections 4.3 and 4.4 above on the number of Shares for which Options are 

proposed to be granted under the MPM ESOS, to each of Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng and Ms. Liely Lee, such Options 

are therefore within the aforesaid limits.

 Should the proposed grant of Options to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng and Ms. Liely Lee be approved by Shareholders, 

assuming that the Options are granted to them and subsequent thereto, are fully vested and exercised in full, Mr. 

Sean Lee Yun Feng’s direct interest in the Company will increase to 850,000 Shares and Ms. Liely Lee’s direct 

interests in the Company will increase to 850,000 Shares. Pursuant thereto, Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng’s and Ms. Liely 

Lee’s shareholdings in the Company will amount to 0.25% and 0.25% respectively, on a fully diluted basis.

 Please refer to Section 6 of this Appendix for details on Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng’s and Ms. Liely Lee’s shareholding 

interests in the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.

5. FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE MPM ESOS

5.1  Potential Costs of Options

 As stated in the Schemes Circular, the grant of Options under the MPM ESOS will result in an increase in the 

Company’s share capital to the extent that new Shares are issued to the Participants pursuant to the exercise of the 

Options. This will in turn depend on, inter alia, the number of Shares comprised in Options to be issued. As such, 

there would be no impact on the Company’s number of issued shares if the relevant Options are not exercised.

 Based on the Singapore FRS, no cash outlays would be expended by the Company at the time Options are 

issued by it (as compared with cash bonuses). However, the Company would recognise an expense in the fi nancial 

statements based on the fair value of the Option at the grant date.

 FRS 102 is effective for the fi nancial statements of the Company for the fi nancial year beginning 1 January 2005. 

For MPM ESOS, Participants will receive Shares and not their equivalent cash value or combinations thereof in 

settlement of the Options. In the event that the Participants receive Shares, whether under the MPM ESOS, the 

Options (as the case may be) would be accounted for as equity-settled share-based transactions, as described in 

the following paragraphs.

 The fair value of employee services received in exchange for the grant of the Options would be recognised as a 

charge to the income statement over the vesting period of an Option and a corresponding credit to employee share 

option reserve account.

 For Options, the total amount of the charge over the vesting period is generally measured based on the fair value of 

each Option granted. This is normally estimated by applying the option pricing model at the Date of Grant.

 Before the end of the vesting period, at each accounting year end, the estimate of the number of Options that are 

expected to vest by the Vesting Date is revised, and the impact of the revised estimate is recognised in the income 

statement with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve account. After the Vesting Date, no adjustment to the 

charge to the income statement is made. This accounting treatment has been referred to as the “modifi ed grant 

date method”, because the number of Shares included in the determination of the expense relating to employee 

services is adjusted to refl ect the actual number of Shares that eventually vest but no adjustment is made to 

changes in the fair value of the Shares since the Date of Grant.

 The amount charged to the income statement would be the same whether the Company settles the Options using 

new Shares or existing Shares. For ESOS, if they are not subsequently exercised by the Participants, the Company 

is not allowed to reverse the expense already charged to the income statement.

5.2 Share Capital

 The MPM ESOS will result in an increase in the Company’s issued share capital when new Shares are issued to 

the Participants pursuant to the exercise of Options. This increase will in turn depend on, inter alia, the number of 

Shares comprised in the the Options, and the prevailing market price of the Shares on the SGX-ST. However, there 

will be no change to the Company’s issued share capital where Options (when exercised) are satisfi ed by Treasury 

Shares held by the Company.
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5.3 Earnings per Share

 The MPM ESOS will have a dilutive effect on the Company’s consolidated earnings per Share following the increase 

in the Company’s issued share capital to the extent that new Shares are issued pursuant to the MPM ESOS.

5.4 Net Tangible Assets

 The issue of new Shares upon the exercise of the Options under the MPM ESOS will increase the consolidated net 

tangible assets of the Company by the aggregate Exercise Price of the new Shares. On a per Share basis, the effect 

on the net tangible assets of the Company is accretive if the Exercise Price is above the net tangible assets per 

Share but dilutive otherwise.

6. INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

 The interests of Directors and Substantial Shareholders of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, as 

recorded in the Company’s Register of Directors’ Shareholdings and the Register of Substantial Shareholders, 

respectively, were as follows:

 Directors’ and Controlling Shareholder’s Interests. The interests of the Directors and Controlling Shareholder in the 

Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

Number of Shares 

Director
Direct

Interest %(1)
Deemed
Interest %(1)

Mr. Lee Wan Tang – – 203,421,374(2) 60.29

Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng – – – –

Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi – – – –

Ms Liely Lee – – – –

Mr. Lim Han Boon 364,101 0.11 – –

Mr. Sim Swee Yam Peter 150,000 0.04 – –

Mr. Lee Kiam Hwee Kelvin – – – –

Substantial Shareholder
(Other than Directors)

Nautical International Holdings Ltd(3) 130,057,374 38.55 62,842,000(3) 18.63

 Notes:

 (1)  Percentages are based on the issued capital of the Company of 337,379,000 as at the Latest Practicable Date.

 (2)  Mr. Lee Wan Tang is deemed interested in the Shares held by Nautical International Holdings Ltd, 447,000 Shares held by 

Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd, 1,800,000 Shares held by Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd, 5,465,000 Shares 

held by UOB Kay Hian Private Limited and 2,810,000 Shares held by HSBC (Singapore) Nominee Pte Ltd, of which Mr. Lee 

Wan Tang is the benefi cial owner.

 (3)  Nautical International Holdings Ltd is deemed interested in 14,628,000 Shares held by Philip Securities Pte Ltd., 6,214,000  

Shares held by Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd and 42,000,000 Shares held by DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd, of 

which Nautical International Holdings Ltd is the benefi cial owner.

 Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any direct interest in the share capital of the Company or any of 

its subsidiaries.
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7. DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION

 Proposed Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

 The Directors are of the opinion that the proposed Share Buyback Mandate is in the best interests of the Company, 

and accordingly recommend Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution relating to renewing the Share 

Buyback Mandate at the AGM as set out in the Notice of AGM.

 Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate

 Having fully considered, inter alia, the scope, guidelines and review procedures, the rationale and the benefi ts of the 

IPT General Mandate, the independent Directors are of the opinion that the proposed IPT General Mandate is in the 

best interest of the Company, and accordingly recommend Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary resolutions 

relating to renewing the IPT General Mandate at the AGM as set out in the Notice of AGM.

 Proposed Grant of Options to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng

 Having fully considered, inter alia, the rationale of granting the Options under the MPM ESOS to Mr. Sean Lee Yun 

Feng, the Independent Directors are of the opinion that the proposed grant of the Options under the MPM ESOS to 

Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng is in the best interest of the Company, and accordingly recommend Shareholders to vote in 

favour of the ordinary resolutions relating thereto at the AGM as set out in the Notice of AGM.

 Save for the Independent Directors, the other Directors will also refrain from accepting nomination as proxy 

or otherwise vote at the AGM in respect of the resolutions unless Shareholders appointing them as proxies give 

specifi c instructions in the relevant proxy forms on the manner in which they wish their votes to be cast for the said 

resolutions.

 Proposed Grant of Options to Ms. Liely Lee

 Having fully considered, inter alia, the rationale of granting the Options under the MPM ESOS to Ms. Liely Lee, 

the Independent Directors are of the opinion that the proposed grant of the Options under the MPM ESOS to Ms. 

Liely Lee is in the best interest of the Company, and accordingly recommend Shareholders to vote in favour of the 

ordinary resolutions relating thereto at the AGM as set out in the Notice of AGM.

 Save for the Independent Directors, the other Directors will also refrain from accepting nomination as proxy 

or otherwise vote at the AGM in respect of the resolutions unless Shareholders appointing them as proxies give 

specifi c instructions in the relevant proxy forms on the manner in which they wish their votes to be cast for the said 

resolutions.

8. ABSTENTION FROM VOTING

 In accordance with Rule 919 of the Listing Manual, Interested Persons and their associates shall abstain from voting 

on resolutions approving Interested Person Transactions involving themselves with the EAR Group.

 Further, in accordance with Rule 859 of the Listing Manual, Shareholders who are entitled to participate in the 

MPM ESOS, including eligible Directors who are also Shareholders, shall abstain from voting at the AGM on any 

resolutions relating to the proposed grant of Options to the Proposed Grantees as set out in the Notice of AGM at 

the AGM, and should decline appointment as proxies for voting at the AGM in respect of the aforesaid resolutions, 

unless specifi c instructions have been given in the proxy form on how the votes are to be cast for each of the 

aforesaid resolutions.

9. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

 The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in 

this Appendix and confi rm after making all reasonable enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 

this Appendix constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about the Proposals, the Company and its 

subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would make any statement in this 

Appendix misleading. 
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 Where information in the Appendix has been extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources or 

obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information has 

been accurately and correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in the Appendix in its proper form 

and context.

10. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 The AGM, notice of which is set out in the Annual Report, will be held at 10:30 a.m. on 29 January 2015 at Emerald 

Suite – Level II, Orchid Country Club, 1 Orchid Club Road, Singapore 769162, for the purpose of considering, and if 

thought fi t, passing with or without any modifi cations, the ordinary resolutions set out in the Notice of AGM.

11. ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS

 Shareholders who are unable to attend the AGM and who wish to appoint a proxy to attend and vote at the AGM 

on their behalf should complete, sign and return the proxy form attached to the Notice of AGM in accordance with 

the instructions printed thereon as soon as possible and in any event so as to arrive at the Company’s registered 

offi ce at 66 Kallang Pudding Road, #05-01 Hor Kew Business Centre, Singapore 349324 not less than 48 hours 

before the time fi xed for the AGM. The appointment of a proxy by a Shareholder does not preclude him from 

attending and voting in person at the AGM if he wishes to do so.

 A Depositor shall not be regarded as a Shareholder entitled to attend the AGM and to speak and vote thereat unless 

he is shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register, as certifi ed by the CDP, as at 48 

hours before the AGM.

12. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

 The following documents are available for inspection at the registered offi ce of the Company during normal business 

hours from the date of this Appendix up to and including the date of the AGM:

 (i)  the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company; 

 (ii)  the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014; 

 (iii) the annual report of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014; and

 (iv) the rules of the MPM ESOS.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of

Marco Polo Marine Ltd.

Lee Wan Tang

Executive Chairman
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ANNEX A 

The IPT General Mandate

1. Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual

1.1 Chapter 9 of the listing manual (the “Listing Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-
ST” or the “Exchange”) governs transactions by a listed company, as well as transactions by its subsidiaries and 

associated companies that are considered to be at risk, with the listed company’s interested persons. When this 

Chapter applies to a transaction and the value of that transaction alone or in aggregation with other transactions 

conducted with the interested person during the fi nancial year reaches, or exceeds, certain materiality thresholds, 

the listed company is required to make an immediate announcement, or to make an immediate announcement and 

seek its shareholders’ approval for that transaction.

1.2 Except for certain transactions which, by reason of the nature of such transactions, are not considered to put the 

listed company at risk to its interested person and hence are excluded from the ambit of Chapter 9 of the Listing 

Manual, immediate announcement and shareholders’ approval would be required in respect of transactions with 

interested persons if certain fi nancial thresholds, which are based on the value of the transaction as compared with 

the listed company’s latest audited consolidated net tangible assets (“NTA”) are reached or exceeded. In particular, 

shareholders’ approval is required for an interested person transaction of a value equal to, or which exceeds:

 (a) 5% of the latest audited NTA of the listed company and its subsidiaries; or

 (b) 5% of the latest audited NTA of the listed company and its subsidiaries, when aggregated with other 

transactions entered into with the same interested person (on such term as construed under Chapter 9 of 

the Listing Manual) during the same fi nancial year.

1.3 Based on the latest audited accounts of Marco Polo Marine Ltd (“MPM” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

and associated companies (the “EAR Group” or the “Group”) for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014, 

the NTA of the EAR Group was S$215,271,000. In relation to MPM, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing 

Manual, in the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 and until such time as the audited accounts of the EAR 

Group for the fi nancial year ending 30 September 2014 are published, 5% of the latest audited NTA of the EAR 

Group would be S$10,763,550. 

1.4 Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual permits a listed company, however, to seek a mandate from its shareholders for 

recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading in nature or those necessary for its day-to-day operations such as the 

purchase and sale of supplies and materials (but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or 

businesses) that may be carried out with the listed company’s interested persons.

1.5 Under the Listing Manual:

 (a) a “controlling shareholder” means:

  a person who:

  (i) holds directly or indirectly 15% or more of the nominal amount of all voting shares in the Company. 

The Exchange may determine that a person who satisfi es this paragraph is not a controlling 

shareholder; or

  (ii) in fact exercises control over the company.

 (b) an “entity at risk” means:

  (i) the listed company;

  (ii) a subsidiary of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange; or
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  (iii) an associated company of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved 

exchange, provided that the listed company and/or its subsidiaries (the “listed group”), or the listed 

group and its interested person(s), has control over the associated company;

 (c) an “interested person” means a director, chief executive offi cer or controlling shareholder of the listed 

company or an associate of such director, chief executive offi cer or controlling shareholder;

 (d) an “associate” in relation to an interested person who is a director, chief executive offi cer or controlling 

shareholder includes an immediate family member (that is, the spouse, child, adopted-child, step-child, 

sibling or parent) of such director, chief executive offi cer or controlling shareholder, the trustees of any trust 

of which the director/his immediate family, the chief executive offi cer/his immediate family or controlling 

shareholder/his immediate family is a benefi ciary or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary 

object, and any company in which the director/his immediate family, the chief executive offi cer/his immediate 

family or controlling shareholder/his immediate family has an aggregate interest (directly or indirectly) of 30% 

or more, and, where a controlling shareholder is a corporation, its subsidiary or holding company or fellow 

subsidiary or a company in which it and/or they have (directly or indirectly) an interest of 30% or more;

 (e) an “approved exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the interests of 

shareholders against interested person transactions according to similar principles of Chapter 9 of the Listing 

Manual; and

 (f) an “interested person transaction” means a transaction between an entity at risk and an interested 

person.

2. Scope of the IPT General Mandate

2.1 The IPT General Mandate will cover the categories of transactions (“Interested Person Transactions”) as set out 

in paragraph 4 below with the specifi ed categories of MPM’s interested persons (the “Interested Persons”) set out 

in paragraph 3.1 below.

2.2 As disclosed in the IPT General Mandate Circular, the Company has elected to deem the BBR Group as an 

Interested Person. BBR has been listed on the IDX with effect from 9 January 2013. As at the Latest Practicable 

Date and subsequent to the completion of BBR’s rights issue of up to 1.6 billion new shares in BBR on 30  

December 2014, the Lee Family holds an aggregate of 18.35%% in BBR; and in the event that their shareholding 

in BBR increases (whether by way of open-market purchases on the IDX or otherwise) to 30% or more, the BBR 

Group will be deemed to be an interested person for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual. Thus, to 

ensure compliance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, the Company has elected to deem, as far as a transaction 

involving the BBR Group and any member of the EAR Group is concerned, the BBR Group as an interested person, 

and accordingly has included the BBR Group as an Interested Person in the IPT General Mandate.

 However, in respect of Interested Person Transactions that relate to the BBR Group’s provision of ship chartering 

services to BRJ as set out in paragraph 4(a)(i) below, the BBR Group will be regarded as an entity at risk instead 

of an Interested Person. As mentioned in paragraph 3.1 below, BRJ is an Interested Person of the Company. 

Notwithstanding the inclusion of the BBR Group as an Interested Person in the IPT General Mandate, the Company 

has conservatively deemed the BBR Group as an entity at risk for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual 

by virtue of its status as an associated company of the Company over which the Group and its interested persons 

have control. Accordingly, BRJ will be regarded as an Interested Person, while the BBR Group will be regarded as 

an entity at risk, in the context of Interested Person Transactions between BRJ and the BBR Group.

2.3 The IPT General Mandate will not cover any Interested Person Transaction which has a value of below S$100,000 

as the threshold requirements of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual would not apply to such transactions.

2.4 Transactions with the Interested Persons which do not fall within the ambit of the IPT General Mandate shall be 

subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual.
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3. Categories of Interested Persons

3.1 The IPT General Mandate applies to the Interested Person Transactions (as described in paragraph 4 below) with 

the following Interested Persons, which are controlled by Mr. Lee Wan Tang, Mdm. Lai Qin Zhi, Mr. Sean Lee 

Yun Feng, Ms. Liely Lee and Ms. Lina Lee (the “Lee Family”). Mr Lee Wan Tang (our Executive Chairman) is the 

husband of Mdm Lai Qin Zhi (our Non-executive Director). Mr Sean Lee Yun Feng (our CEO), Ms Liely Lee (our 

Executive Director) and Ms Lina Lee are the children of Mr Lee Wan Tang and Mdm Lai Qin Zhi: 

 (a) PT. Bina Riau Jaya and its associates (“BRJ”);

 (b) Mount Kawi Pte Ltd and its associates;

 (c) PT. Sempurna Readymix Concrete and its associates (“SRC”); and

 (d) the BBR Group (which the Company has elected to deem as an Interested Person for the reasons set out in 

paragraph 2.2 above).

3.2 Transactions with interested persons (inclusive of the BBR Group) which do not fall within the ambit of the IPT 

General Mandate shall be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual.

4. Categories of the Interested Person Transactions

 The Interested Persons Transactions with Interested Persons (as described in paragraph 3.1 above) which will be 

covered by the IPT General Mandate are set out below:

 (a)  Services provided by the EAR Group to Interested Persons

  (i)  Ship chartering services

   The EAR Group has been providing ship chartering services to BRJ to transport mining products 

such as granite mix aggregates and coal since 1991. It is intended that the EAR Group will continue 

to provide such ship chartering services to BRJ in the future. In addition, the EAR Group may provide 

ship chartering services to other Interested Persons (excluding the BBR Group) from time to time.

   For the avoidance of doubt, the BBR Group shall be deemed as an entity of the EAR Group (instead 

of an Interested Person) for the purposes of its provision of ship chartering services to BRJ.

  (ii)  Ship repair and ship maintenance services

   In the event that any Interested Persons acquires any vessels (both newly built and refl agged vessels) 

pursuant to the sale and/or lease back arrangements with the EAR Group, such companies may look 

to the EAR Group to provide ship repair and ship maintenance services.

 (b)  Services provided by Interested Persons to the EAR Group

  (i)  Sale of building materials such as concrete, pre-cast products, asphalt, granite mix aggregates and 

pilings 

   SRC is principally engaged in the processing and trading of ready-mix concrete while BRJ is 

principally engaged in the quarrying of granites. From time to time, the EAR Group purchases from 

SRC and BRJ building materials such as concrete, pilings and granite for the construction of facilities 

at its yard.
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  (ii)  Ship agency services for transhipment services and other functions (including handling various 

shipping administration, immigration, licensing as well as customs and clearance matters in Indonesia) 

   The BBR Group had previously provided the EAR Group with ship agency services in relation to 

the EAR Group’s provision of ship chartering and transhipment services, including assisting the EAR 

Group in handling various shipping administration, immigration, licensing as well as customs and 

clearance matters in Indonesia. It is possible that the EAR Group will continue to utilise such services, 

and vice versa, the EAR Group may provide such services to the BBR Group, in the future.

  (iii)  Sourcing of vessel crew

   The BBR Group had in the past sourced vessel crew for the EAR Group’s vessels. Where such 

transactions are in the interests of the EAR Group, the EAR Group may seek such services from the 

BBR Group, and vice versa, the EAR Group may provide such services to the BBR Group, in the 

future.

 (c)  Other transactions

  (i)  Sale of existing vessels

 

   It is envisaged that in the future, the EAR Group may enter into sale arrangements with the BBR 

Group in respect of existing vessels which have undergone a period of prior utilization by the EAR 

Group.

  (ii)  Sale and/or lease back of newly built vessels

   It is envisaged that in the future, the EAR Group may sell newly built vessels to the BBR Group and/or 

thereafter lease such vessels back from the BBR Group for an agreed period of time.

  (iii)  Provision of corporate guarantees

   When the BBR Group purchases vessels from the EAR Group, the BBR Group may obtain fi nancing 

support to fund such purchases. In consideration of the extension of loans to the BBR Group for 

payment to the EAR Group, the fi nancing banks may require certain entities in the EAR Group, in 

particular, the Company, to provide corporate guarantees.

5. Rationale for and Benefi ts of the IPT General Mandate 

5.1 Rationale 

 It is anticipated that in the ordinary course of business, transactions of a revenue or trading nature between 

companies in the EAR Group and the Interested Persons are likely to occur from time to time. Such transactions 

would include, but are not limited to the provisions of goods and services in the ordinary course of business of the 

EAR Group to MPM’s interested persons or the obtaining of goods and services from them.

 In view of the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, the obtaining of the IPT General Mandate pursuant 

to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual will enable:

 (a)  MPM;

 (b)  Subsidiaries of MPM; and

 (c)  Associated companies of MPM over which the Group, or the Group and interested person(s) of MPM, has or 

have control,

 (together, the “EAR Group”), or any of them, in the ordinary course of their businesses, to enter into the Interested 

Person Transactions set out in paragraph 4 above with the specifi ed categories of Interested Persons set out in 

paragraph 3.1 above, provided such Interested Person Transactions are made on normal commercial terms and are 

not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.
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 The IPT General Mandate (and its subsequent renewal thereafter on an annual basis) will enhance the ability of 

companies in the EAR Group to pursue business opportunities which are time-sensitive in nature, and will eliminate 

the need for MPM to announce, or to announce and convene separate general meetings on each occasion to seek 

Shareholders’ prior approval for the entry by the relevant company in the EAR Group into such transactions. This will 

substantially reduce the expenses associated with the convening of general meetings on an ad hoc basis, improve 

administrative effi cacy considerably, and allow manpower resources and time to be channelled towards attaining 

other corporate objectives.

5.2 Benefi ts

 Our Directors are of the view that it will be benefi cial to the EAR Group to transact with the Interested Persons in 

relation to the aforementioned categories of Interested Person Transactions as modifi ed, for the following reasons:

 (a)  Services provided by the EAR Group to Interested Persons

  (i)  Ship chartering services

   The EAR Group has been chartering vessels to BRJ which requires such vessels to transport mining 

products such as granite mix aggregates and coal. Such chartering services comprise a substantial 

portion of the EAR Group’s ship chartering business. We believe that it is in the best interests of the 

EAR Group to continue to provide such services to BRJ.

  (ii)  Ship repair and ship maintenance services

   In addition to building ships, we carry on the business of ship repair and ship maintenance at our 

established shipyard. In the event that any company controlled by the Lee Family acquires any 

vessels (both newly built and refl agged vessels) pursuant to the sale and/or lease back arrangement 

with the EAR Group, it would be to the benefi t of the EAR Group to provide ship repair and 

maintenance services for such vessels.

 (b)  Services provided by Interested Persons to the EAR Group

  (i)  Sale of building materials such as concrete, pre-cast products, asphalt, granite mix aggregates and 

pilings

   The EAR Group purchases building materials such as concrete, pilings and granite from SRC and 

BRJ for the construction of facilities at our shipyard, which is currently underway. If EAR Group is 

required to obtain such materials from another party, we may not be able to obtain comparable prices 

as those provided by SRC and BRJ without a substantial bulk purchase. Further, sourcing for new 

suppliers may result in delay in the completion of the shipyard.

  (ii)  Ship agency services for transhipment services and other functions (including handling various 

shipping administration, immigration, licensing as well as customs and clearance matters in Indonesia)

   Over the years, we believe that the EAR Group has developed a good relationship with the BBR 

Group, which provides ship agency services to the EAR Group for the purposes of our provision of 

ship chartering and transhipment services. In the event that the EAR Group is required to obtain such 

ship agency services (including procuring another party to enter into transhipment contracts on our 

behalf) from an unrelated third party, we would have to develop a new relationship with such unrelated 

third party and may not be able to obtain comparable rates or quality of service from such unrelated 

third party.

   Conversely, the EAR Group will be able to benefi t from providing its expertise and services to the BBR 

Group in relation to customs and clearance matters outside Indonesia.

  (iii)  Sourcing of vessel crew

   The BBR Group has in the past sourced vessel crew for our vessels. We believe that it is benefi cial 

to the EAR Group to have the option of having the BBR Group source Indonesian vessel crew for our 

vessels. Conversely, the EAR Group will be able to benefi t from providing recruitment services to the 

BBR Group in the event the BBR Group requires help in sourcing for non-Indonesian crew.
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 (c)  Other transactions

  (i)  Sale of existing vessels

   The Indonesian-incorporated companies within the Group are subject to the cabotage principle, 

whereby domestic sea transportation in Indonesian waters is to be conducted only by Indonesian-

fl agged vessels, which in turn may only be owned by Indonesian companies. This has been strictly 

implemented since 2005. While none of the entities in the EAR Group are able to own Indonesian-fl  

agged vessels, the entities in the BBR Group are able to. The EAR Group, through BBR, will thus be 

able to leverage upon the BBR Group’s Indonesian contacts in, inter alia, the sale and ownership of 

the EAR Group’s vessels and in various other transactions/projects in Indonesia. The sale of vessels 

from the EAR Group to the BBR Group will enable both parties to be competitive in tendering for 

transactions/projects in the respective regions in which the parties operate. Consequently, the EAR 

Group will be able to enjoy the fi nancial rewards of securing such transactions/projects, regardless as 

to whether such transactions/projects are secured by the EAR Group or the BBR Group.

   For the avoidance of doubt, the proceeds from any such sale of vessel from the EAR Group to the 

BBR Group will be booked by the relevant entity within the EAR Group as revenue.

  (ii)  Sale and/or lease back of newly built vessels

   The EAR Group has in the past entered into sale and lease back of vessels arrangements with the 

BBR Group. This sale and lease back arrangement serves a two-pronged purpose. Firstly, it allows 

us to improve our cash fl ow, while expanding the fl eet size that we are currently operating since we 

will continue to have the full commercial and operational control of our vessels. In this way, we are 

able to deploy capital more effi ciently towards developing our existing businesses and acquiring new 

related businesses. Secondly, by adopting the sale and/or lease back strategy, the EAR Group is able 

to operate on Indonesian-fl agged vessels and avail itself of the cost benefi ts (such as reduced tax and 

duties) accorded to such vessels. We believe that it is benefi cial to the EAR Group to embark on such 

a strategy.

   In addition, the EAR Group would also be able to benefi t from the sale of its newly built vessels to 

the BBR Group for reasons similar to those set out in paragraph 5.2(c)(i) above. For the avoidance 

of doubt, the proceeds from any such sale of vessel from the EAR Group to the BBR Group will be 

booked by the relevant entity within the EAR Group as revenue.

  (iii)  Provision of corporate guarantees

   It is in the interest of the EAR Group to provide corporate guarantees to the BBR Group when 

necessary, as this facilitates the EAR Group’s sale and/or lease back transactions with the BBR 

Group, in certain circumstances when the lending bank/ banks require the EAR Group to provide 

corporate guarantees pursuant to the sale and/or lease back arrangements described above.

6. Guidelines and Review Procedures under the IPT General Mandate 

6.1 Review Procedures

 We have implemented the following procedures to supplement existing internal control procedures to ensure that 

Interested Person Transactions are undertaken on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and are 

not prejudicial to the interests of our Company and our minority Shareholders and are consistent with our usual 

business practice and policies, which are generally no more favourable to the Interested Persons than those 

extended to unrelated third parties (and where applicable, vice versa, such that the terms extended by the Interested 

Persons to, and accepted by, the EAR Group are no less favorable than those extended to unrelated third parties):

 (a)  When selling items (other than vessels) or supplying services to an Interested Person, the price and terms 

of other successful sales of a similar nature to third party non-interested person will be used in comparison 

to ensure that the interests of our Company and minority Shareholders are not disadvantaged. The sale 

or fee for the supply of services shall not be lower than the lowest sale or fee of the latest two successful 

transactions with third party non-interested persons. In the case of the provision of ship repair and 

maintenance services, the required amount of repairs shall be guided by an independent class surveyor.



APPENDIX

MARCO POLO MARINE LTD |
ANNUAL REPORT 2014

141

 (b)  Save for the engagement of the BBR Group in relation to acting on the EAR Group’s behalf in transhipment 

contracts and providing ship agency services, in which case compliance with the Agency Agreement dated 

13 September 2007 shall be observed, and the renewal of the Agency Agreement shall be subject to the 

review of the Audit Committee, when purchasing items from or engaging the services of an Interested 

Person, two other quotations from third party non-interested persons will be obtained (where available 

or feasible) for comparison to ensure that the interest of Company and minority Shareholders are not 

disadvantaged. The purchase price or fee for services shall not be higher than the most competitive price or 

fee of the other two quotations from third party non-interested persons. In determining the most competitive 

price or fee, all pertinent factors, including but not limited to quality, delivery time, standard of services, 

specifi cation compliance, track record, experience and expertise, and where applicable, preferential rates, 

rebates or discounts accorded for bulk purchase will be taken into consideration.

 (c)  When chartering vessels to an Interested Person (including without limitation the provision of ship chartering 

services by the BBR Group (as an entity of the EAR Group) to BRJ (as an Interested Person)), our Financial 

Controller shall take appropriate steps, or procure that appropriate steps are taken, to ensure that the charter 

rates will commensurate with the prevailing market rates, including adopting measures such as making 

relevant enquiries with owners of similar vessels. The charter rates payable shall be based on the most 

competitive market rental rate of similar vessel in terms of capacity and size, based on the results of the 

relevant enquiries.

 (d)  When selling vessels to an Interested Person (pursuant to (i) the sale of existing vessels or (ii) the sale and/

or lease back of new vessels), the price of the vessels shall be based on the valuation report provided by 

an independent third party to ensure that the interests of our Company and minority Shareholders are not 

disadvantaged. When leasing back vessels, our Financial Controller shall take appropriate steps to ensure 

that the charter rate will be commensurate with the prevailing market rates, including adopting measures 

such as making relevant enquiries with owners of similar vessels. The charter rates payable shall be based 

on the most competitive market rental rate of similar vessel in terms of capacity and size, based on the 

results of the relevant enquiries.

 (e)  For the provision of corporate guarantees to an Interested Person, our Financial Controller shall ensure that 

the corporate guarantees are provided to such Interested Person solely to facilitate the Interested Person 

to purchase vessels from the EAR Group. At the inception of the corporate guarantee, an annual fee will 

be levied on and payable by the Interested Person to the entity in the EAR Group providing such corporate 

guarantee for the duration of the guarantee, and such fee shall be payable at the end of each year based on 

the outstanding guarantee amount. Such fee payable shall not be lower than the lowest of at least two of the 

prevailing banker’s guarantees rates which the EAR Group obtains from its banks.

 (f)  In cases where it is not possible to obtain comparables from other unrelated third parties, our Audit 

Committee will consider whether the pricing of the transaction is in accordance with usual business practices 

and pricing policies and consistent with the usual margins to be obtained for the same or substantially 

similar types of transactions to determine whether the relevant transaction is undertaken on an arm’s length 

basis and on normal commercial terms. The Audit Committee will also weigh the benefi ts of, and rationale 

for, transacting with the Interested Person to determine whether the price and terms offered are fair and 

reasonable.

6.2 Threshold Limits

 In addition, to supplement our internal procedures to ensure that all Interested Person Transactions covered by 

the IPT General Mandate will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests 

of the EAR Group and the minority Shareholders, the following limits for all Interested Person Transactions will be 

applied:

 In respect of any Interested Person Transaction:

 (a)  Where an individual transaction, in connection with the provision of ship repair and maintenance services or 

the sale and/or lease back of vessels (both newly build and refl agged and refl agged vessels) (the “Big Ticket 
Transaction”), is below 1.5% of the EAR Group’s latest audited NTA or in connection with any individual 

transaction other than a Big Ticket Transaction is below S$200,000, such a transaction shall be reviewed by 

our Audit Committee within one month from the end of the month in which the transaction was entered into. 
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However, prior to entering into such a transaction, the Financial Controller, being the person designated to 

monitor all Interested Person Transactions, provided he/she is not to be an interested person or an associate 

of an interested person, will ensure that all relevant documents in connection with the transaction are in 

order. If the Financial Controller is an interested person or an associate of an interested person, the Finance 

Manager of the Company will monitor all Interested Person Transactions.

 (b)  Where an individual transaction, in connection with the Big Ticket Transaction, is equal to or exceeds 1.5% 

of the EAR Group’s latest audited NTA or in connection with any individual transaction other than a Big 

Ticket Transaction is S$200,000 or above, such a transaction will be subject to prior approval by our Audit 

Committee prior to such transaction being entered into.

 (c)  Where such Interested Person Transaction is in respect of the provision of corporate guarantees by the EAR 

Group for the purchase of vessels by Interested Persons, the guarantee amount shall be capped at 80% of 

the aggregate purchase price of the vessels to be purchased from the EAR Group.

 (d)  In the absence of comparable quotes from other unrelated third parties, the Audit Committee would review 

each transaction in connection with the Big Ticket Transaction that is below 1.5% of the EAR Group’s latest 

audited NTA or in connection with any individual transaction other than a Big Ticket Transaction that is below 

S$200,000 within one month from the end of the month in which the transaction was entered into. However, 

prior to entering into such a transaction, the Financial Controller, being the person designated to monitor 

all Interested Person Transactions, provided he/she is not to be an interested person or an associate of an 

interested person, will, in consultation with the Audit Committee, ensure that the pricing of the transaction is 

in accordance with the usual business practices and pricing policies and consistent with the usual margins 

to be obtained for the same or substantially similar types of transactions. If the Financial Controller is an 

interested person or an associate of an interested person, the Finance Manager of the Company will monitor 

all Interested Person Transactions. In the absence of comparable quotes from other unrelated third parties for 

an individual transaction in connection with a Big Ticket Transaction, with value equals to or exceeds 1.5% of 

the EAR Group’s latest audited NTA, or in connection with any individual transaction other than a Big Ticket 

Transaction with value equals to S$200,000 or more, such a transaction will be subject to prior approval by 

our Audit Committee prior to such transaction being entered into.

6.3 In the event that a member of the Audit Committee is interested in any Interested Person Transaction, he will declare 

his interest and abstain from any review, deliberation or decision making in respect of that particular transaction.

6.4 Designated persons of the respective companies are required to submit details of all Interested Person Transactions 

entered into immediately to the Financial Controller, including the value of the transactions. As a minimum, a report is 

to be submitted every quarter. A “Nil” return is expected if there is no interested person transaction. For monitoring 

purposes, the Financial Controller will maintain a register of Interested Person Transactions (the “IPT Register”). 
This IPT Register will be updated quarterly based on submissions by the designated persons. It will record all 

Interested Person Transactions which are entered into pursuant to the IPT General Mandate (including the basis on 

which they are entered into) and the approval or review by the Audit Committee.

6.5 The Audit Committee will review all Interested Person Transactions (including those Interested Person Transactions 

which have a value below S$100,000) recorded in the IPT Register at least quarterly to ensure that they are 

carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the procedures outlined above. All relevant non-

quantitative factors will also be taken into account. Such review includes the examination of the transaction and its 

supporting documents or such other information deemed necessary by our Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee 

may request for any additional information pertaining to the transaction under review from independent sources, 

advisers or valuers as they deem fi t.

6.6 Further, our Audit Committee will review the threshold limits (be it in absolute dollar amount or as a percentage of 

the latest prevailing audited consolidated NTA of the Group) annually to assure that they are not prejudicial to the 

interests of the Group and the minority Shareholders. Our Audit Committee will also review the reports submitted 

by the Financial Controller on a quarterly basis to ascertain that the guidelines and procedures established to 

monitor Interested Person Transactions have been complied with and the relevant approvals obtained. In addition, 

our Audit Committee shall also review from time to time such guidelines and procedures to determine if they are 

adequate and/or commercially practicable in ensuring that transactions between the EAR Group and the Interested 

Persons are conducted on normal commercial terms. Pursuant to Rule 920(1) (b)(iv) and (vii) of the Listing Manual, 

if during its periodic reviews, the Audit Committee believes that the guidelines and procedures as stated above are 
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inappropriate or not suffi cient to ensure that Interested Person Transactions will be carried out on an arm’s length 

basis and on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of our Company and our minority 

Shareholders, we will seek a fresh mandate from our Shareholders based on new guidelines and procedures. During 

the period prior to obtaining a fresh mandate from our Shareholders, all transactions with Interested Persons will be 

subject to prior review and approval by our Audit Committee.

6.7 Our Audit Committee is of the view that the above guidelines and procedures are suffi cient to ensure that these 

Interested Person Transactions will be on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and will not be 

prejudicial to the interests of our Company and our minority Shareholders.

7. Guidelines and Review Procedures for future Interested Person Transactions other than those 
covered in the IPT General Mandate 

7.1 To ensure that interested person transactions not covered by the IPT General Mandate are undertaken on an arm’s 

length’s basis, on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to our Company and minority Shareholders, 

our Audit Committee will adopt the following procedures when reviewing such interested person transactions:

 (a)  When selling items or supplying services to an interested person, the price and terms of other successful 

sales of a similar nature to third party non-interested persons will be used in comparison to ensure that the 

interests of our Company and minority Shareholders are not disadvantaged. The sale or fee for the supply 

of services shall not be lower than the lowest sale or fee of the latest two successful transactions with third 

party non-interested persons.

 (b)  When purchasing items from or engaging the services of an interested person, two other quotations from 

third party non-interested persons will be obtained (where available or feasible) for comparison to ensure 

that the interest of our Company and minority Shareholders are not disadvantaged. The purchase price or 

fee for services shall not be higher than the most competitive price or fee of the other two quotations from 

third party non-interested persons. In determining the most competitive price or fee, all pertinent factors, 

including but not limited to quality, delivery time, standard of services, specifi cation compliance, track record, 

experience and expertise, and where applicable, preferential rates, rebates or discounts accorded for bulk 

purchase will be taken into consideration.

7.2 In the event that it is not possible for such quotations to be obtained, our Audit Committee will determine whether 

the prices and terms offered by or to the interested persons are fair and reasonable and the terms of supply from 

or to the interested persons are made on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of our 

Company and our minority Shareholders.

7.3 In addition, any interested person transaction of a value equal to or exceeding 3% of the EAR Group’s latest audited 

NTA must be approved by our Audit Committee prior to its entry and any interested person transaction of a value 

equal to or exceeding 5% of the EAR Group’s latest audited NTA is subject to the approval of Shareholders at 

general meetings prior to its entry.

7.4 The designated persons of the respective companies, who are required to submit details of all interested person 

transactions to the Financial Controller, are to submit similar details to the Financial Controller in respect of all 

interested person transactions not covered under the IPT General Mandate. The Financial Controller will similarly 

maintain a register similar to the IPT Register in respect of all interested person transactions other than those 

covered under the IPT General Mandate.

7.5 Our Audit Committee will review all such interested person transactions, if any, on a quarterly basis through reporting 

by the Financial Controller to ensure that they are carried out at arm’s length and in accordance with the procedures 

outlined above. It will take into account all relevant non-quantitative factors. In the event that a member of the Audit 

Committee is interested in any such interested person transaction, he will abstain from reviewing that particular 

transaction. Furthermore, if during these periodic reviews, the Audit Committee believes that the guidelines and 

procedures as stated above are not suffi cient to ensure that interests of our Company and minority Shareholders are 

not prejudiced, we will adopt new guidelines and procedures.



APPENDIX

  | MARCO POLO MARINE LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2014

144

 In addition, our Audit Committee will include the review of such interested person transactions as part of its standard 

procedures while examining the adequacy of our internal controls. Our Board will also ensure that all disclosure, 

approval and other requirements on interested person transactions, including those required by prevailing legislation, 

the Listing Manual and accounting standards, are complied with. In addition, such transactions will also be subject 

to Shareholders’ approval if deemed necessary by the Listing Manual.

8. Validity Period of the IPT General Mandate 

 The IPT General Mandate will take effect from the passing of the ordinary resolution relating thereto, and will 

(unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) continue in force until the date on which the next 

annual general meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to be held. Approval from Shareholders will 

be sought for the renewal of the IPT General Mandate at the next annual general meeting and at each subsequent 

annual general meeting subject to satisfactory review by the Audit Committee of its continued application to the 

transactions with Interested Persons.

9. Disclosure of Interested Person Transactions pursuant to the IPT General Mandate

 The Company will announce the aggregate value of transactions conducted with Interested Persons pursuant to the 

IPT General Mandate for the quarterly fi nancial periods which the Company is required to report on pursuant to the 

Listing Manual and within the time required for the announcement of such report.

 The Company is required, in accordance with the requirement of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, to disclose in 

our annual report the aggregate value of transactions conducted pursuant to the IPT General Mandate during 

the fi nancial year, as well as in the annual reports for the subsequent fi nancial years during which the IPT General 

Mandate is in force.
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ANNEX B 

The MPM ESOS

1. Eligibility of Participants

 Subject to the absolute discretion of the Committee, the following persons shall be eligible to participate in the MPM 

ESOS:

 (a)  Group Employees; and

 (b)  Group Non-Executive Directors,

 provided that, as of the Offer Date, they have attained the age of 21 years, have not entered into any compositions 

with their respective creditors and are not undischarged bankrupts, and who hold such position as may be 

designated by the Company from time to time.

 Subject to the absolute discretion of the Committee, the Controlling Shareholders and their Associates who meet 

the criteria as set out above are eligible to participate in the MPM ESOS, provided that the participation of each 

Controlling Shareholder or his Associate and each grant of an Option to any of them may only be effected with the 

specifi c prior approval of independent Shareholders in general meeting by a separate resolution.

2. Entitlement of Participants

 Options are personal to the Participant to whom they are given and shall not be transferred (other than to a 

Participant’s personal representative on the death of the former), charged, assigned, pledged or otherwise disposed 

of, in whole or in part, unless with the prior approval of the Committee.

3. Size and Duration of the MPM ESOS

 Pursuant to Rule 845 of the Listing Manual, the aggregate number of Shares over which Options may be granted 

under the MPM ESOS, when added to the number of Shares issued and/or issuable in respect of:

 (a)  all Options granted thereunder;

 (b)  all Awards granted under the MPM Restricted Share Scheme;

 (c)  all Awards granted under the MPM Performance Share Scheme; and

 (d)  all Awards/Options granted under any other schemes implemented by the Company (if any), 

 shall not exceed 15% of the total issued share capital of the Company (excluding Treasury Shares) on the day 

preceding the relevant Date of Grant.

 Rule 845 of the Listing Manual further stipulates that the aggregate number of Shares over which Options may be 

granted under the MPM ESOS to Controlling Shareholders and their Associates shall not exceed 25% of the Shares 

available under the MPM ESOS, and the number of Shares over which an Option may be granted under the MPM 

ESOS to each Controlling Shareholder or his Associate shall not exceed 10% of the Shares available under the 

MPM ESOS.

 The MPM ESOS shall continue in force at the discretion of the Committee, subject to a maximum period of 10 

years commencing on the date on which the MPM ESOS is adopted by Shareholders in general meeting. The 

MPM ESOS may continue beyond the aforesaid period of time with the approval of Shareholders by resolution of 

the Shareholders in general meeting, or may be terminated at any time by the Committee, subject to all relevant 

approvals and of any relevant authorities, which may then be required.
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4. Exercise Price of Options and Grant of Options at a Discounted Price

 Subject to adjustments under the rules of the MPM ESOS, the Exercise Price for the Shares in respect of which an 

Option is exercisable shall be fi xed by the Committee in its absolute discretion at:

 (a)  the Market Price; or

 (b)  a price which is set at a discount to the Market Price, the quantum of such discount to be determined by the 

Committee in its absolute discretion, provided that the maximum discount which may be given in respect of 

any option shall not exceed 20% of the Market Price and is approved by Shareholders in general meeting in 

a separate resolution in respect of that Option.

 Options granted with the Exercise Price set at Market Price may be exercised during the period commencing after 

the fi rst anniversary of the Date of Grant and expiring on the 10th anniversary of such Date of Grant for Options 

granted to Group Employees and on the fi fth anniversary of such Date of Grant for Options granted to Group Non-

Executive Directors, failing which the unexercised Option shall immediately lapse and become null and void.

 Options granted at a discount to the Market Price may be exercised during the period commencing after the second 

anniversary of the Date of Grant and expiring on the 10th anniversary of such Date of Grant for Options granted to 

Group Employees and on the fi fth anniversary of such Date of Grant for Options granted to Group Non-Executive 

Directors, failing which the unexercised Option shall immediately lapse and become null and void.

 The ability to offer Options at a discount to the Market Price of the Shares will allow fl exibility in structuring the 

Options. Being able to offer Options at a discount is important in situations where it is more meaningful for the 

Company to acknowledge a Participant’s achievement through offering Options at a discount to the Market Price 

rather than paying a cash bonus, as these Options operate as a form of cashless reward from the Company 

with a greater potential for capital appreciation than Options granted at Market Price, or in situations where more 

compelling motivation is required in order to attract new talent into the Group and/or retain talented individuals.

 Further, because Options granted with a discount under the MPM ESOS are subject to a longer vesting period 

of two years, as compared to a vesting period of one year for those granted at the Market Price, holders of such 

Options are encouraged to be more long-sighted, thereby promoting staff and executive retention and reinforcing 

their commitment to the Group. The Company also believes that the maximum discount of 20% to the Market Price 

of the Shares is suffi cient to allow for fl exibility in the MPM ESOS, and would also minimise the potential dilutive 

effect to the Shareholders arising from the MPM ESOS.

5  Details of a Grant of an Option under the MPM ESOS

 In relation to each Option to be granted to a Participant under the MPM ESOS, the Committee shall decide:

 (a)  the date on which the Options are to be granted;

 (b)  the number of Options to be granted; and

 (c)  the discount, if any, to the Market Price of Shares in determining the Exercise Price of the Options to be 

granted.

 The selection of a Participant and the number of Options to be granted to a Participant in accordance with the MPM 

ESOS shall be determined at the sole and absolute discretion of the Committee.
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6  Operation of the MPM ESOS

 Subject to the prevailing legislation and the rules of the Listing Manual, the Company will have the fl exibility to deliver 

Shares to Participants upon exercise of their Options by way of:

 (a)  an issue of new Shares; and/or

 (b)  subject to applicable laws, the purchase of existing Shares.

 The MPM ESOS will be administered by the Committee. A Participant who is a member of the Committee shall 

abstain from deliberation in respect of an Option to be made to that Participant.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Ninth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Emerald Suite - Level 

II, Orchid Country Club, 1 Orchid Club Road, Singapore 769162 on Thursday, 29 January 2015 at 10:30 a.m. to transact 

the following business:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial year ended 30 September 2014 together 

with the reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$240,000 for the fi nancial year ending 30 September 2015. (2014: 

S$240,000) (Resolution 2)

3 To re-elect the following directors who are retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 103 of the Articles of Association of 

the Company:

 (i) Mdm Sally @Lai Qin Zhi,  (Resolution 3)

 (ii) Mr Peter Sim Swee Yam.  (Resolution 4)
  

4.  To re-appoint Mazars LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration.  

  (Resolution 5)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider, and if thought fi t, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution (with or without amendments):-  

 

5.       Authority to issue shares (Resolution 6)

 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and in accordance with Rule 806 of the Listing 

Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to 

issue:-

 (i) shares in the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) or;

 (ii) convertible securities; or

 (iii) additional convertible securities arising from adjustments made to the number of convertible securities 

previously issued in the event of rights, bonus or capitalisation issues; or 

 (iv) shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities,

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute 

discretion deem fi t provided that:-

 (i) the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities that may be issued shall not be more than 50% of 

the issued shares in the capital of the Company or such other limit as may be prescribed by the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) as at the date the general mandate is passed;

  

 (ii) the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to 

existing shareholders shall not be more than 20% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company or such 

other limit as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST as at the date the general mandate is passed;

 (iii) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraphs (i) 

and (ii) above, the percentage of issued shares shall be calculated based on the issued shares in the capital 

of the Company as at the date the general mandate is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from 

the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or employee stock options in issue as at the date the 

general mandate is passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s shares; and
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 (iv) unless earlier revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority shall continue in force 

until the next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting is required by 

law to be held, whichever is earlier. 

6. Authority to issue shares under the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Restricted Share Scheme and Performance Share 

Scheme (Resolution 7)

 That the Directors of the Company be hereby authorised to offer and grant awards (“Awards”) in accordance with 

the provisions of the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Restricted Share Scheme and Performance Share Scheme (collectively, 

the “ESAS Schemes”) and to allot and issue or deliver from time to time such number of fully-paid shares as may 

be required to be issued or delivered pursuant to the vesting of the Awards under the ESAS Schemes, provided 

that:-

 (a) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the ESAS Schemes shall not exceed three point-

fi ve per cent (3.5%) of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 30 September 2014; and

 (b) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the ESAS Schemes, when added to the number 

of shares issued and/or issuable under other share-based incentive schemes of the Company, shall not 

exceed fi fteen per cent (15%) of the total number of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the 

capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the 

Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of 

the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be 

held, whichever is earlier.

7. Authority to issue shares under the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option Scheme (Resolution 8)

 That the Directors of the Company be hereby authorised and empowered to offer and grant options in accordance 

with the rules of the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option Scheme (the “ESOS Scheme”) and to issue 

from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to 

the exercise of options granted by the Company under the ESOS Scheme, whether granted during the subsistence 

of this authority or otherwise, provided always that the aggregate number of additional ordinary shares to be issued 

pursuant to the ESOS Scheme, when added to the number of shares issued and/or issuable under other share-

based incentive schemes of the Company, shall not exceed fi fteen per centum (15%) of the total number of issued 

shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority shall, 

unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next 

Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 

required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

8. Proposed Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate (Resolution 9)

 That:

 (a) for the purposes of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-
ST”), the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to exercise all the powers of the Company 

to purchase or otherwise acquire the issued ordinary shares fully paid in the capital of the Company (the 

“Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereafter defi ned) during the Relevant 

Period, at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the 

Maximum Price (as hereafter defi ned), whether by way of:

  (i) on-market purchases (“Market Purchase”), transacted on the SGX-ST through the SGX-ST’s Central 

Limit Order Book (CLOB) trading system or, as the case may be, any other stock exchange on 

which the Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted, through one or more duly licensed 

stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; and/or

  (ii) off-market purchases (“Off-Market Purchase”) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in 

accordance with an equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as 

they may consider fi t, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies 

Act (Cap. 50) of Singapore and the Listing Manual; 
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 (b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of the 

Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time and from 

time to time during the period commencing from the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

  (i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which such Annual 

General Meeting is required by law to be held;

  (ii) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share 

Buyback Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

  (iii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or revoked by 

ordinary resolution of the Company in general meeting;

 (c) in this Resolution:

  “Prescribed Limit” means that number of issued Shares representing 10% of the issued ordinary share 

capital of the Company as at the date of passing of this Resolution unless the Company has effected a 

reduction of its share capital in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, at any 

time during the Relevant Period or within any one fi nancial year of the Company, whichever is the earlier, in 

which event the issued ordinary share capital of the Company shall be taken to be the amount of the issued 

ordinary share capital of the Company as altered;

  “Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the Annual General Meeting at 

which this Resolution is passed is held and expiring on the date the next Annual General Meeting is held or 

is required by law or the Articles of Association of the Company to be held, whichever is the earlier, after the 

date of this Resolution; and

  “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage, stamp 

duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:–

  (i) in the case of a Market Purchase: 105% of the Average Closing Price;

  (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase: 120% of the Highest Last Dealt Price, where:

  “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last fi ve 

market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, 

and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant fi ve-day period;

  “Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the market day 

on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the day of the making of the offer pursuant 

to the Off-Market Purchase;

  “day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to make 

an offer for the purchase of Shares from shareholders of the Company stating the purchase price (which 

shall not be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant 

terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

 (d) any of the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts 

and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or 

necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.
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9. Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate (Resolution 10)

 That:

 

 (a) approval be and is hereby given for the renewal of the mandate for the purpose of Chapter 9 of the 

Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”), for the Company, its 

subsidiaries and its associated companies, or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions falling within 

the types of Interested Person Transactions, as set out in Annex A to the Appendix dated 13 January 2015 

to the Annual Report (the “Appendix”), with any party who falls within the classes of Interested Persons 

as described in the Annex A to the Appendix and that such approval shall, unless revoked or varied by the 

Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 

Company;

 (b) the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such action as it deems proper 

in respect of procedures and to implement such procedures as may be necessary to take into consideration 

any amendment to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual which may be prescribed by the SGX-ST from time to 

time;

 (c) any of the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and 

things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or 

necessary or in the best interest of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this 

Resolution; and

 (d) such approval shall, unless earlier revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue to be 

in force until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to be held, 

whichever is earlier. 

10. Proposed Grant of Options to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng pursuant to the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share 

Option Scheme (Resolution 11)

 That:-

 (a) approval be and is hereby given for the Options under the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option 

Scheme to be granted to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng on the terms set out in Paragraph 4.3.2 of the Appendix 

dated 13 January 2015 to the Annual Report; and

 (b) any of the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and 

things (including executing all such documents as may be required, signing, fi ling and/or submitting any 

notices, forms and documents with or to the relevant authorities) as they/he may consider expedient or 

necessary or in the best interest of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this 

Resolution.

11. Proposed Grant of Options to Ms. Liely Lee pursuant to the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option 

Scheme (Resolution 12)

 That:-

 (a) approval be and is hereby given for the Options under the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option 

Scheme to be granted to Ms. Liely Lee on the terms set out in Paragraph 4.4.2 of the Appendix dated 13 

January 2015 to the Annual Report; and

 (b) any of the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and 

things (including executing all such documents as may be required, signing, fi ling and/or submitting any 

notices, forms and documents with or to the relevant authorities) as they/he may consider expedient or 

necessary or in the best interest of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this 

Resolution.
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By Order of the Board

Lawrence Kwan

Secretary

Singapore, 13 January 2015

Explanatory notes on Ordinary Business to be transacted:

Resolution  2. The proposed Directors’ fee is payable to the Independent Directors of the Company. 

Resolution 3. Mdm Sally @Lai Qin Zhi will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, continue to serve as Members of the Audit, 

Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Mdm Sally @Lai Qin Zhi is considered independent for the purposes of Rule 

704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

 

Resolution 4. Mr Peter Sim Swee Yam will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, continue to serve as Independent Director, 

Chairman of the Nominating Committee, and Member of Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee. Mr Peter Sim 

Swee Yam is considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

Resolution 5. This resolution is to re-appoint Mazars LLP as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing fi nancial year and to authorise the 

Directors to fi x their remuneration.

Explanatory notes on Special Business to be transacted:

Resolution  6. Is to empower the Directors of the Company to issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount 

not exceeding in aggregate 50% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company of which the total 

number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed 

20% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at the time that Resolution 6 is passed, for 

such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. Rule 806(3) of the Listing Manual of Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited currently provides that the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the 

Company for this purpose shall be the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) at the time this resolution is passed 

(after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion of convertible securities or share options on issue at the time 

this resolution is passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s shares). This authority will, 

unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Resolution 7. If passed, is to authorise the Directors to offer and grant Awards under the ESAS Schemes and to allot and issue shares 

pursuant to the vesting of Awards under the ESAS Schemes, provided that the number of shares issued and issuable in 

respect of such Awards:-

 a. shall not exceed three point-fi ve per cent (3.5%) of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 30 

September 2014; and 

 b. the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the ESAS Schemes, when added to the number of shares 

issued and/or issuable under other share-based incentive schemes of the Company, shall not exceed fi fteen per 

cent (15%) of the issued shares of the Company from time to time.

 Based on the issued share capital of the Company as at 30 September 2014, the total number of shares, which may be 

issued or issuable in respect of such Awards,is 11,926,250 shares.

Resolution 8. If passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 

of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held 

or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares in 

the Company pursuant to the exercise of options granted or to be granted under the ESOS Scheme up to a number not 

exceeding in aggregate, when added to the number of shares issued and/or issuable under other share-based incentive 

schemes of the Company, fi fteen per centum (15%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the 

capital of the Company from time to time.

Resolution 10. If passed, renews the General Mandate authorising the Directors of the Company to enter into certain interested person 

transactions with persons who are considered “interested persons” (as defi ned in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited).
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Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to 

attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifi es the proportion of his 

shareholding to be represented by each proxy.

3. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body, such person 

as it thinks fi t to act as its representative at the meeting.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 66 Kallang Pudding Road #05-01 

Singapore 349324 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Annual General Meeting.
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MARCO POLO MARINE LTD.          
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Company Registration No. 200610073Z         

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PROXY FORM

I/We  (Name) 

of  (Address)

being a member/ members of MARCO POLO MARINE LTD. hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)             

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Ninth Annual General Meeting of the 

Company to be held at Emerald Suite - Level II, Orchid Country Club, 1 Orchid Club Road, Singapore 769162 on Thursday, 

29 January 2015 at 10:30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the 

resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specifi c direction as to voting is given, the proxy/ proxies 

will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Meeting.

Resolution
No. Ordinary Business

To be used on a                                                                                                                              
show of hands

To be used in the                                                                                                                            
event of a poll

For* Against* For**   Against**

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial year 

ended 30 September 2014 together with the reports of the Directors and the 

Auditors thereon.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of S$240,000 for the fi nancial year 

ending 30 September 2015. (2014: S$240,000) 

3. To re-elect Mdm Sally @Lai Qin Zhi, a Director retiring by rotation pursuant to 

Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company. 

4. To re-elect Mr Peter Sim Swee Yam a Director retiring by rotation pursuant to 

Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

5. To re-appoint Mazars LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fi x their 

remuneration.

Special Business
6. To authorise Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies 

Act, Cap. 50. and in accordance with Rule 806 of the Listing Manual.

7. Authority to issue shares under the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Restricted Share 

Option Scheme and Performance Share Scheme.

8. Authority to issue shares under the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share 

Option Scheme.

9. To approve the Proposed Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate.

10. To approve the Proposed Renewal of the IPT General Mandate.

11. To approve the Proposed Grant of Options to Mr. Sean Lee Yun Feng pursuant 

to the Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option Scheme.

12. To approve the Proposed Grant of Options to Ms. Liely Lee pursuant to the 

Marco Polo Marine Ltd. Employee Share Option Scheme.

* Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a “√“within the box provided.

** If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick (√) within the box provided.

 Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.

Dated this  day of  2015

   

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES FOR PROXY FORM

Total Number of Shares
Number of 

Shares
(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

IMPORTANT:

1. This Annual Report is also forwarded to investors who have used their 

CPF monies to buy shares in the Company at the request of their CPF 

Approved Nominees, and is sent solely for their information only.

2. The Proxy Form is, therefore, not valid for use by CPF Investors and 

shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to 

be used by them.





Notes

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defi ned 

in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered 

in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the 

Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares 

entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If the number of shares is 

not inserted, this proxy form will be deemed to relate to the entire number of ordinary shares in the Company registered in your name(s).

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote on his 

behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding or the number of shares to be 

represented by each proxy. If no such proportion or number is specifi ed, the fi rst-named proxy may be treated as representing 100 per 

cent of the shareholding and any second-named proxy as alternate to the fi rst-named.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy, together with the power of attorney (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certifi ed or offi ce copy 

thereof, shall be deposited at the Registered Offi ce at 66 Kallang Pudding Road #05-01 Singapore 349324, not less than 48 hours before 

the time appointed for the Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing; or if such 

appointor is a corporation under its common seal, if any, and, if none, then under the hand of some offi cer duly authorised in that behalf. 

An instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a meeting shall be deemed to include the power to demand or concur in demanding a poll on 

behalf of the appointor.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi t to act as 

its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

7. Please indicate with a “√” in the appropriate space how you wish your proxy to vote. If this proxy form is returned without any indication as 

to how your proxy shall vote, he will vote or abstain from voting as he thinks fi t.

General

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or when 

the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instruments of the appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy 

or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or 

proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 

hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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